
 
UAB „Ernst & Young Baltic“ 
Aukštaičių g. 7 
LT-11341 Vilnius 
Lietuva 
Tel.: (8 5) 274 2200 
Faks.: (8 5) 274 2333 
Vilnius@lt.ey.com 
www.ey.com 
 
Juridinio asmens kodas 110878442 
PVM mokėtojo kodas LT108784411 
Juridinių asmenų registras 

Ernst & Young Baltic UAB 
Aukštaičių St. 7 
LT-11341 Vilnius 
Lithuania 
Tel.: +370 5 274 2200 
Fax: +370 5 274 2333 
Vilnius@lt.ey.com 
www.ey.com 
 
Code of legal entity 110878442 
VAT payer code LT108784411 
Register of Legal Entities 

 



A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited 

 
 

 

 



A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited 

 
 

 

 



A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited 

 
 

 

 



A member firm of Ernst & Young Global Limited 

 
 

 





abinterraolietuva-2021-12-31-en/abinterraolietuva.com/xbrl/2021/abinterraolietuva-2021-12-31.xsd

 
   
   
   
   
   
     
       
       
       
       
       
       
       
         99 - Groups all anchored elements
         link:definitionLink
         link:labelLink
      
       
         01 - Notes And Mandatory Items
         link:definitionLink
         link:presentationLink
         link:labelLink
      
       
         02 - Statement of financial position
         link:calculationLink
         link:definitionLink
         link:presentationLink
         link:labelLink
      
       
         03 - Profit or loss
         link:calculationLink
         link:definitionLink
         link:presentationLink
         link:labelLink
      
       
         04 - Statement of changes in equity
         link:definitionLink
         link:presentationLink
         link:labelLink
      
       
         05 - Statement of cash flows
         link:calculationLink
         link:definitionLink
         link:presentationLink
         link:labelLink
      
    
  
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   







abinterraolietuva-2021-12-31-en/abinterraolietuva.com/xbrl/2021/abinterraolietuva-2021-12-31_cal.xml

 
   
   
   
   
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
  
   
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
  
   
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
  







abinterraolietuva-2021-12-31-en/abinterraolietuva.com/xbrl/2021/abinterraolietuva-2021-12-31_def.xml

 
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
   
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
  
   
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
  
   
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
  
   
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
  
   
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
  
   
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
  







abinterraolietuva-2021-12-31-en/abinterraolietuva.com/xbrl/2021/abinterraolietuva-2021-12-31_lab-en.xml

 
   
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     Statement of financial position [table]
     Statement of financial position [line items]
     Buildings and structures
     Office premises
     Profit or loss [table]
     Profit or loss [line items]
     Income from other activities
     Equity
     Profit (loss)
     Other comprehensive income
     Comprehensive income
     Transfer to reserves
     Dividends declared
     Statement of cash flows [table]
     Statement of cash flows [line items]
     Impairment of assets
     Interest (paid)
     Interest paid for lease
     Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
     Cash and cash equivalents
  







abinterraolietuva-2021-12-31-en/abinterraolietuva.com/xbrl/2021/abinterraolietuva-2021-12-31_pre.xml

 
   
   
   
   
   
   
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
  
   
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
  
   
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
  
   
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
  
   
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
     
  







abinterraolietuva-2021-12-31-en/META-INF/catalog.xml

 
   







abinterraolietuva-2021-12-31-en/META-INF/taxonomyPackage.xml

 
   http://abinterraolietuva.com/xbrl/2021/20211231
   2020-12-31_ABINTERRAOLietuva_report
   XBRL Taxonomy prepared for the European Standard Electronic Format
   2021-12-31
   AB INTER RAO Lietuva
   http://abinterraolietuva.com/xbrl/2020
   LT
   2022-02-08
   
     
       AB INTER RAO Lietuva XBRL Taxonomy for 2021-12-31
       AB INTER RAO Lietuva XBRL report for 2021-12-31
       
       
       
       
         en
      
    
  







abinterraolietuva-2021-12-31-en/reports/abinterraolietuva-2021-12-31-en.xhtml

259400XGMBNWYWK1YR732021-01-012021-12-31259400XGMBNWYWK1YR732021-12-31iso4217:EUR259400XGMBNWYWK1YR732020-12-31259400XGMBNWYWK1YR732021-12-31ifrs-full:SeparateMember259400XGMBNWYWK1YR732020-12-31ifrs-full:SeparateMember259400XGMBNWYWK1YR732020-01-012020-12-31259400XGMBNWYWK1YR732021-01-012021-12-31ifrs-full:SeparateMember259400XGMBNWYWK1YR732020-01-012020-12-31ifrs-full:SeparateMemberiso4217:EURxbrli:shares259400XGMBNWYWK1YR732019-12-31ifrs-full:IssuedCapitalMember259400XGMBNWYWK1YR732019-12-31ifrs-full:StatutoryReserveMember259400XGMBNWYWK1YR732019-12-31ifrs-full:ReserveOfCashFlowHedgesMember259400XGMBNWYWK1YR732019-12-31ifrs-full:ReserveOfExchangeDifferencesOnTranslationMember259400XGMBNWYWK1YR732019-12-31ifrs-full:RetainedEarningsMember259400XGMBNWYWK1YR732019-12-31259400XGMBNWYWK1YR732020-01-012020-12-31ifrs-full:IssuedCapitalMember259400XGMBNWYWK1YR732020-01-012020-12-31ifrs-full:StatutoryReserveMember259400XGMBNWYWK1YR732020-01-012020-12-31ifrs-full:ReserveOfCashFlowHedgesMember259400XGMBNWYWK1YR732020-01-012020-12-31ifrs-full:ReserveOfExchangeDifferencesOnTranslationMember259400XGMBNWYWK1YR732020-01-012020-12-31ifrs-full:RetainedEarningsMember259400XGMBNWYWK1YR732020-12-31ifrs-full:IssuedCapitalMember259400XGMBNWYWK1YR732020-12-31ifrs-full:StatutoryReserveMember259400XGMBNWYWK1YR732020-12-31ifrs-full:ReserveOfCashFlowHedgesMember259400XGMBNWYWK1YR732020-12-31ifrs-full:ReserveOfExchangeDifferencesOnTranslationMember259400XGMBNWYWK1YR732020-12-31ifrs-full:RetainedEarningsMember259400XGMBNWYWK1YR732021-01-012021-12-31ifrs-full:IssuedCapitalMember259400XGMBNWYWK1YR732021-01-012021-12-31ifrs-full:StatutoryReserveMember259400XGMBNWYWK1YR732021-01-012021-12-31ifrs-full:ReserveOfCashFlowHedgesMember259400XGMBNWYWK1YR732021-01-012021-12-31ifrs-full:ReserveOfExchangeDifferencesOnTranslationMember259400XGMBNWYWK1YR732021-01-012021-12-31ifrs-full:RetainedEarningsMember259400XGMBNWYWK1YR732021-12-31ifrs-full:IssuedCapitalMember259400XGMBNWYWK1YR732021-12-31ifrs-full:StatutoryReserveMember259400XGMBNWYWK1YR732021-12-31ifrs-full:ReserveOfCashFlowHedgesMember259400XGMBNWYWK1YR732021-12-31ifrs-full:ReserveOfExchangeDifferencesOnTranslationMember259400XGMBNWYWK1YR732021-12-31ifrs-full:RetainedEarningsMember259400XGMBNWYWK1YR732019-12-31ifrs-full:IssuedCapitalMemberifrs-full:SeparateMember259400XGMBNWYWK1YR732019-12-31ifrs-full:SeparateMemberifrs-full:StatutoryReserveMember259400XGMBNWYWK1YR732019-12-31ifrs-full:ReserveOfCashFlowHedgesMemberifrs-full:SeparateMember259400XGMBNWYWK1YR732019-12-31ifrs-full:RetainedEarningsMemberifrs-full:SeparateMember259400XGMBNWYWK1YR732019-12-31ifrs-full:SeparateMember259400XGMBNWYWK1YR732020-01-012020-12-31ifrs-full:IssuedCapitalMemberifrs-full:SeparateMember259400XGMBNWYWK1YR732020-01-012020-12-31ifrs-full:SeparateMemberifrs-full:StatutoryReserveMember259400XGMBNWYWK1YR732020-01-012020-12-31ifrs-full:ReserveOfCashFlowHedgesMemberifrs-full:SeparateMember259400XGMBNWYWK1YR732020-01-012020-12-31ifrs-full:RetainedEarningsMemberifrs-full:SeparateMember259400XGMBNWYWK1YR732020-12-31ifrs-full:IssuedCapitalMemberifrs-full:SeparateMember259400XGMBNWYWK1YR732020-12-31ifrs-full:SeparateMemberifrs-full:StatutoryReserveMember259400XGMBNWYWK1YR732020-12-31ifrs-full:ReserveOfCashFlowHedgesMemberifrs-full:SeparateMember259400XGMBNWYWK1YR732020-12-31ifrs-full:RetainedEarningsMemberifrs-full:SeparateMember259400XGMBNWYWK1YR732021-01-012021-12-31ifrs-full:IssuedCapitalMemberifrs-full:SeparateMember259400XGMBNWYWK1YR732021-01-012021-12-31ifrs-full:SeparateMemberifrs-full:StatutoryReserveMember259400XGMBNWYWK1YR732021-01-012021-12-31ifrs-full:ReserveOfCashFlowHedgesMemberifrs-full:SeparateMember259400XGMBNWYWK1YR732021-01-012021-12-31ifrs-full:RetainedEarningsMemberifrs-full:SeparateMember259400XGMBNWYWK1YR732021-12-31ifrs-full:IssuedCapitalMemberifrs-full:SeparateMember259400XGMBNWYWK1YR732021-12-31ifrs-full:SeparateMemberifrs-full:StatutoryReserveMember259400XGMBNWYWK1YR732021-12-31ifrs-full:ReserveOfCashFlowHedgesMemberifrs-full:SeparateMember259400XGMBNWYWK1YR732021-12-31ifrs-full:RetainedEarningsMemberifrs-full:SeparateMember














 
 
 
 

AB INTER RAO LIETUVA 
 
CONSOLIDATED AND COMPANY’S FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 
DECEMBER 2021, PREPARED IN ACCORDANCE 
WITH INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING 
STANDARDS AS ADOPTED BY THE EUROPEAN 
UNION PRESENTED TOGETHER WITH 
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 






[image: ]_ﬁ INTERRAO ( ..,
LIETUVA









 
AB INTER RAO Lietuva, company code 126119913, A.Tumėno str. 4, Vilnius, Lithuania 
CONSOLIDATED AND COMPANY’S FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 December 2021 
(all amounts are in EUR thousand unless otherwise stated) 
 

 

 
2 
 
Statements of financial position 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Group 

 

Company 

 

Notes 

 

As at 31 
December 
2021 

As at 31 
December 
2020 

 

As at 31 
December 
2021 

As at 31 
December 
2020 

ASSETS 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Non-current assets 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Intangible assets 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Goodwill 

 

 

- 

- 

 

- 

- 

Operating license 

 

 

- 

- 

 

- 

- 

Other intangible assets 

 

 

3 

8 

 

- 

- 

Total intangible assets 

4 

 

3 

8 

 

- 

- 

Property, plant and equipment 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Buildings and structures 

 

 

1,883 

2,033 

 

- 

- 

Office premises 

 

 

396 

471 

 

396 

471 

Machinery and equipment 

 

 

10,656 

11,498 

 

- 

- 

Other property, plant and equipment 

 

 

34 

32 

 

21 

15 

Total property, plant and equipment 

5 

 

12,969 

14,034 

 

417 

486 

Right-of-use assets 

5 

 

1,051 

1,101 

 

448 

427 

Investment property 

2.7 

 

687 

323 

 

687 

323 

Interest in subsidiaries 

1 

 

- 

- 

 

10,927 

10,927 

Other non-current financial assets 

6 

 

251 

223 

 

6 

41 

Derivative financial instruments 

10 

 

- 

118 

 

- 

118 

Total non-current assets 

 

 

14,961 

15,807 

 

12,485 

12,322 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Current assets 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Prepayments  

 

 

1,412 

1,838 

 

95 

168 

Accounts receivable 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Trade receivables 

7,22 

 

18,048 

8,169 

 

12,352 

5,469 

Other receivables from subsidiaries  

22 

 

- 

- 

 

2,805 

1,929 

Contract assets 

 

 

- 

316 

 

- 

- 

Total accounts receivable  

 

 

18,048 

8,485 

 

15,157 

7,398 

Prepaid income tax 

 

 

1,335 

15 

 

974 

- 

Other current financial assets 

6 

 

2,387 

258 

 

2,293 

195 

Derivative financial instruments 

10 

 

11,232 

1,599 

 

8,995 

1,312 

Cash and cash equivalents 

 

 

21,246 

22,250 

 

10,182 

10,485 

Total current assets 

 

 

55,660 

34,445 

 

37,696 

19,558 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

TOTAL ASSETS
 

 

 

70,621 

50,252 

 

50,181 

31,880 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

(cont’d on the next page) 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.   
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AB INTER RAO Lietuva, company code 126119913, A.Tumėno str. 4, Vilnius, Lithuania 
CONSOLIDATED AND COMPANY’S FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 December 2021 
(all amounts are in EUR thousand unless otherwise stated) 
 

 

 
3 
Statements of financial position (cont’d) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Group 

 

Company 

 

Notes 

 

As at 31 
December 
2021 

As at 31 
December 
2020 

 

As at 31 
December 
2021 

As at 31 
December 
2020 

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Equity  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Share capital 

1 

 

5,800 

5,800 

 

5,800 

5,800 

Legal reserves 

8 

 

1,183 

1,115 

 

579 

579 

Cash flow hedge reserve 

8, 10 

 

(1,522) 

(1,308) 

 

(1,522) 

(1,308) 

Currency translation reserve 

2.2 

 

(298) 

(288) 

 

- 

- 

Retained earnings 

 

 

22,924 

19,647 

 

7,451 

11,012 

Total equity 

 

 

28,087 

24,966 

 

12,308 

16,083 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Liabilities 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Non-current liabilities  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Lease liabilities 

9 

 

840 

910 

 

284 

271 

Deferred income tax liability 

17 

 

3,346 

992 

 

139 

104 

Total non-current liabilities 

 

 

4,186 

1,902 

 

423 

375 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Current liabilities 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Current portion of lease liabilities  

9 

 

273 

234 

 

159 

123 

Derivative financial instruments 

10 

 

10,409 

2,597 

 

10,409 

2,597 

Trade payables 

11, 22 

 

24,345 

17,782 

 

20,136 

9,449 

Income tax payable 

 

 

- 

935 

 

- 

461 

Advances received 

 

 

12 

12 

 

12 

10 

Other current liabilities 

12 

 

3,309 

1,824 

 

6,734 

2,782 

Total current liabilities 

 

 

38,348 

23,384 

 

37,450 

15,422 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 
 

 

 

70,621 

50,252 

 

50,181 

31,880 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
 
   

General Manager 

 

Giedrius Balčiūnas 

 

 

 

8 February 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Chief Accountant 

 

Edita Vagonienė 

 

 

 

8 February 2022 
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AB INTER RAO Lietuva, company code 126119913, A.Tumėno str. 4, Vilnius, Lithuania 
CONSOLIDATED AND COMPANY’S FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 December 2021 
(all amounts are in EUR thousand unless otherwise stated) 
 

 

 
4 
Statements of comprehensive income 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Group 

 

Company 

 

Notes 

2021 

2020 

 

2021 

2020 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Revenue from contracts with 
customers 

2.18, 
3,13 

334,339 

163,371 

 

120,391 

133,511 

Cost of sales 

14 

(291,673) 

(140,131) 

 

(114,540) 

(116,263) 

Gross profit 

 

42,666 

23,240 

 

5,851 

17,248 

General and administrative expenses 

15 

               
(9,479) 

               
(11,247) 

 

(7,120) 

(6,269) 

Profit (loss) from operations 

 

33,187 

11,993 

 

(1,269) 

10,979 

Income from other activities 

2.7 

386 

2 

 

401 

14 

Finance income 

16 

1,895 

2,850 

 

9,020 

1,872 

Finance expenses 

16 

(17,955) 

(185) 

 

(194) 

(90) 

Profit before tax 

 

17,513 
 

14,660 

 

7,958 

12,775 

Income tax 

17 

(3,168) 

(2,451) 

 

(519) 

(1,962) 

Net profit 

 

14,345 

12,209 

 

7,439 

10,813 

 
Other comprehensive income to 
be reclassified to profit or loss in 
subsequent periods 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Net result on cash flow hedges 

10 

(251) 

(2,617) 

 

(251) 

(2,489) 

Income tax effect 

10 

37 

393 

 

                     37 

               373 

Effect of currency exchange 

2.2 

(10) 

(240) 

 

- 

- 

Total other comprehensive 
income to be reclassified to 
profit or loss in subsequent 
periods, net of tax 

 

(224) 

(2,464) 

 

(214) 

(2,116) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Total comprehensive income for 
the year, net of tax 

 

14,121 

9,745 

 

7,225 

8,697 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Basic and diluted earnings per share 
(EUR) 

18 

0.72 

0.61 

 

- 

- 

 
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
 

General Manager 

 

Giedrius Balčiūnas 

 

 

 

8 February 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Chief Accountant 

 

Edita Vagonienė 

 

 

 

8 February 2022 
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AB INTER RAO Lietuva, company code 126119913, A.Tumėno str. 4, Vilnius, Lithuania 
CONSOLIDATED AND COMPANY’S FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 December 2021 
(all amounts are in EUR thousand unless otherwise stated) 
 

 
5 
Statements of changes in equity 
 

Company 

Notes 

 
Share 
capital 

Legal 
reserve 

 
Cash flow 
hedge reserve 

Retained 
 earnings 

Total 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Balance as at 31 December 2019 

 

5,800 

579 

808 

14,199 

21,386 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Net profit for the year 

 

- 

- 

- 

10,813 

10,813 

Other comprehensive income, net of tax 

10 

- 

- 

(2,116) 

- 

(2,116) 

Total comprehensive income 

 

- 

- 

(2,116) 

10,813 

8,697 

Dividends declared 

22 

- 

- 

- 

(14,000) 

(14,000) 

Balance as at 31 December 2020 

 

5,800 

579 

(1,308) 

11,012 

16,083 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Net profit for the year 

 

- 

- 

- 

7,439 

7,439 

Other comprehensive income, net of tax 

10 

- 

- 

(214) 

- 

(214) 

Total comprehensive income 

 

- 

- 

(214) 

7,439 

7,225 

Dividends declared 

22 

- 

- 

- 

(11,000) 

(11,000) 

Balance as at 31 December 2021 

 

5,800 

579 

(1,522) 

7,451 

12,308 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
 

General Manager 

 

Giedrius Balčiūnas 

 

 

 

8 February 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Chief Accountant 

 

Edita Vagonienė 

 

 

 

8 February 2022 

Group 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent 

 

Notes 

 
Share 
capital 

Legal 
reserve 

Cash flow 
hedge reserve 

Currency 
translation 
reserve 

Retained 
earnings 

Total 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Balance as at 31 December 
2019 

 

5,800 

1,011 

916 

(48) 

21,542 

29,221 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Net profit for the year 

 

- 

- 

- 

- 

12,209 

12,209 

Other comprehensive income, net 
of tax 

2.2, 10 

- 

- 

(2,224) 

(240) 

- 

(2,464) 

Total comprehensive income 

 

- 

- 

(2,224) 

(240) 

12,209 

9,745 

Transfer to reserves 

8 

- 

104 

- 

- 

(104) 

- 

Dividends declared 

22 

- 

- 

- 

- 

(14,000) 

(14,000) 

Balance as at 31 December 
2020 

 

5,800 

1,115 

(1,308) 

(288) 

19,647 

24,966 

Net profit for the year 

 

- 

- 

- 

- 

14,345 

14,345 

Other comprehensive income, net 
of tax 

2.2, 10 

- 

- 

(214) 

(10) 

- 

(224) 

Total comprehensive income 

 

- 

- 

(214) 

(10) 

14,345 

14,121 

Transfer to reserves 

8 

- 

68 

- 

- 

(68) 

- 

Dividends declared 

22 

- 

- 

- 

- 

(11,000) 

(11,000) 

Balance as at 31 December 
2021 

 

5,800 

1,183 

(1,522) 

(298) 

22,924 

28,087 
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6 
Statements of cash flows 
 

 

 

Group 

 

Company 

 

Notes 

2021 

2020 

 

2021 

2020 

Cash  flows  from  (to)  operating 
activities 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Net profit  

 

14,345 

12,209 

 

7,439 

10,813 

Adjustments for non-cash items: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Income tax expenses 

17 

3,168 

2,451 

 

519 

1,962 

Depreciation and amortisation 

4, 5 

1,093 

2,386 

 

87 

86 

Depreciation of right-of-use assets 

5 

298 

301 

 

192 

185 

 
Impairment of assets 

4,5 

- 

2,047 

 

- 

- 

Dividend (income) 

16 

(2) 

(3) 

 

(2,107) 

(807) 

Interest (income) expenses 

16 

55 

131 

 

35 

47 

Change  in  fair  value  of  derivatives  not 
designated as hedging instruments 

10 

(1,837) 

(63) 

 

128 

(473) 

Fair value change of investment property 

2.7 

(364) 

- 

 

(364) 

- 

Other non-cash items 

 

                 
37 

(215) 

 

(6) 

(193) 

 

 

16,793 

19,244 

 

5,923 

11,620 

Changes in working capital: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Decrease  (increase)  in prepayments  and 
other receivables from subsidiaries  

 

426 

(587) 

 

(795) 

1,227 

(Increase)  decrease  in  accounts 
receivable and other current assets 

 

(11,714) 

6,202 

 

(9,018) 

4,747 

(Decrease) increase in trade payables 

 

6,453 

(8,569) 

 

10,687 

(16,717) 

Income tax (paid) 

 

(3,033) 

(2,361) 

 

(1,922) 

(1,477) 

(Decrease)  increase  in  other  current 
liabilities 

 

1,395 

(54) 

 

3,864 

1,932 

(Increase) decrease in other non-current 
assets 

 

(28) 

(279) 

 

- 

- 

Net  cash  flows  from  operating 
activities  

 

10,292 

13,596 

 

8,739 

1,332 

 

Cash  flows  from  (to)  investing 
activities 

 

 

 

 

 

 

(Acquisition) of non-current assets 

 

(18) 

(95) 

 

(18) 

(9) 

Proceeds from sale of non-current assets 

 

61 

- 

 

61 

- 

Dividends received 

 

2 

3 

 

2,107 

807 

Sale of non-current financial assets 

 

35 

- 

 

35 

- 

Other investing activities 

 

11 

- 

 

11 

- 

Net  cash  flows  from  (to)  investing 
activities 

 

91 

(92) 

 

2,196 

798 

 
 
(cont’d on the next page) 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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7 
Statements of cash flows (cont‘d) 
 

 

 

Group 

 

Company 

 

Notes 

2021 

2020 

 

2021 

2020 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Cash  flows  from  (to)  financing 
activities 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Dividends (paid) 

22 

(11,000) 

(14,000) 

 

(11,000) 

(14,000) 

Loans repaid 

 

- 

(3,850) 

 

- 

- 

Interest (paid) 

 

(23) 

(86) 

 

(23) 

(42) 

Interest paid for lease 

9 

(46) 

(43) 

 

(12) 

                
(6)     

Lease (payments) 

9 

(318) 

(297) 

 

(203) 

(181) 

Net  cash  flows  (to)  financing 
activities 

 

(11,387) 

(18,276) 

 

(11,238) 

(14,229) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Net increase (decrease) in cash and 
cash equivalents 

 

(1,004) 

(4,772) 

 

(303) 

(12,099) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Cash  and  cash  equivalents  at  the 
beginning of the year 

 

22,250 

27,022 

 

10,485 

22,584 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end 
of the year 

 

21,246 

22,250 

 

10,182 

10,485 

 
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
   

General Manager 

 

Giedrius Balčiūnas 

 

 

 

8 February 2022 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Chief Accountant 

 

Edita Vagonienė 

 

 

 

8 February 2022 
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8 
Notes to the financial statements 
 
1  General information 
 
AB INTER RAO Lietuva (hereinafter, “the Company”) is a public limited liability company registered in the Republic of  
Lithuania. Its registered office is located at:  
 
A.Tumėno str. 4, Vilnius 
Lithuania 
 
The Company was registered on 21 December 2002. On 22 October 2012 the Company changed its legal status from private 
limited liability company to public limited liability due to the listing on the Warsaw stock exchange. Since 18 December 2012 
the Company’s shares are traded on the Warsaw Stock Exchange on the Main trade list. 
 
The Company’s core line of business is supply of electricity. The Company holds the following licenses and permissions:  
1)  A license No. L1-NET-14 of an independent electricity supplier entitling to supply electricity in Lithuania; 
2)  Unlimited-term permission No. LE-0020 for electricity export to Russia and Belarus; 
3)  Unlimited-term permission No. LI-0030 for electricity import from Russia and Belarus to Lithuania. From 06-11-2020 the 
permit was changed so that the Company has  right to import electricity only from Russian Federation. 
 
The subsidiary SIA INTER RAO Latvia is included in electricity trading registry in the Republic of Latvia. The subsidiary OU 
INTER RAO Eesti holds a termless license No. 7.2-3/12-042 of an independent electricity supplier in Estonia. The subsidiary 
Vydmantai wind park, UAB holds a termless permit to produce electricity No. LG - 0238. The subsidiary Sp z o.o. IRL Polska 
holds the license for electricity trading which is effective starting 9 January 2014 and valid until 9 January 2024. 
 
As at 31 December 2021 and 2020 the shareholders of the Company were as follows:  
 

 

 

31 December 2021 

 

31 December 2020 

   

 

Number of 
shares held 

Interest 
held 

 

Number of 
shares held 

Interest 
held 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

RAO  Nordic  Oy,  company  code  1784937-7, 
Tammasaarenkatu 1, Helsinki, Finland 

 

10,200,000 

51% 

 

10,200,000 

51% 

UAB  Scaent  Baltic,  company  code  300661378, 
Jogailos str. 9, Vilnius, Lithuania  

 

5,822,856 

29,11% 

 

5,822,856 

29,11% 

Other shareholders 

 

3,977,144 

19,89% 

 

3,977,144 

19,89% 

Total 

 

20,000,000 

100% 

 

20,000,000 

100% 

 
As of 31 December 2021 the number of employees of the Group and the Company was 39 and 25, respectively (as of 31 
December 2020 – 38 and 24, respectively). 
The ultimate parent company is PJSC Inter RAO, company code 2320109650, address Bolshaya Pirogovskaya st. 27, building 
2, Moscow 119435, Russian Federation. 
  
As at 31 December 2021 and 2020 the Company's share capital was comprised of 20,000,000 ordinary shares with the par 
value of EUR 0.29 each. The share capital was fully paid as at 31 December 2021 and 2020 The Company did not hold its 
own shares in 2021 and 2020. As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the subsidiaries did not hold any shares of the Company. 
 
The  management  of  the  Company  approved  these  financial  statements  on  8  February  2022.  The  shareholders  of  the 
Company have a statutory right to either approve these financial statements or not approve them and require a new set of 
financial statements to be prepared. 
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9 
1  General information (cont’d) 
 
As at 31 December 2021 the Group consisted of the Company and the following directly controlled subsidiaries  
 

Company 

Company 
code 

Directly 
and 
indirectly 
held 
effective 
attributabl
e interest 

Investmen
t value 
(cost less 
impairmen
t) 

Profit 
(loss) 
for 
2021 

Equity As 
at 31 
Decembe
r 2021 

Registration 
address 

Activity 

OU  INTER  RAO  Eesti  - 
subsidiary 

11879805 

100 % 

32 

22 

66 

Peterburi  tee 
47,  Tallinn, 
Estonia 

Trade  of 
electricity  

SIA INTER RAO Latvia - 
subsidiary 

40103268639 

100 % 

3 

7,865 

7,968 

Gustava 
Zemgala gatve 
76,  Riga, 
Latvia 

Trade  of 
electricity 

Sp.  z  o.o.  IRL  Polska  - 
subsidiary 

0000436992 

100 % 

2,392 

2,570 

4,728 

Twarda 18 00-
105,  Warsaw, 
Poland 

Trade  of 
electricity 

Vydmantai  wind  park, 
UAB - subsidiary 

302666616 

100 % 

8,500 

520 

15,926 

А.Tumėno 
Str. 4,  Vilnius, 
Lithuania 

Generation 
of electricity 

 
As at 31 December 2020 the Group consisted of the Company and the following directly controlled subsidiaries  
 

Company 

Company 
code 

Directly 
and 
indirectly 
held 
effective 
attributabl
e interest 

Investmen
t value 
(cost less 
impairmen
t) 

Profit 
(loss) 
for 
2020 

Equity As 
at 31 
Decembe
r 2020 

Registration 
address 

Activity 

OU  INTER  RAO  Eesti  - 
subsidiary 

11879805 

100 % 

32 

5 

44 

Peterburi  tee 
47,  Tallinn, 
Estonia 

Trade  of 
electricity  

SIA INTER RAO Latvia - 
subsidiary 

40103268639 

100 % 

3 

507 

103 

Gustava 
Zemgala gatve 
76,  Riga, 
Latvia 

Trade  of 
electricity 

Sp.  z  o.o.  IRL  Polska  - 
subsidiary 

0000436992 

100 % 

2,392 

440 

3,273 

Twarda 18 00-
105,  Warsaw, 
Poland 

Trade  of 
electricity 

Vydmantai  wind  park, 
UAB - subsidiary 

302666616 

100 % 

8,500 

1,371 

16,405 

А.Tumėno 
Str. 4,  Vilnius, 
Lithuania 

Generation 
of electricity 
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10 
2  Accounting policies 
 
The principal accounting policies adopted in preparing the Group’s and the Company’s financial statements for the year 2021 
are as follows: 
 
2.1. Basis of preparation 
 
These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), as 
adopted by the European Union (hereinafter the EU). 
 
These financial statements are prepared based on a historical cost basis except for derivative financial instruments and 
investment property, which are measured at fair value. 
 
Adoption  of  new  and/or  changed  IFRS  and  International  Financial  Reporting  Interpretations  Committee 
(IFRIC) interpretations 
Changes in accounting policy and disclosures 
The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year except for the following amended 
IFRSs which have been adopted by the Group/Company as of 1 January 2021: 
•  Interest Rate Benchmark Reform – Phase 2 – IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16  (Amendments) 
In August 2020, the IASB published Interest Rate Benchmark Reform – Phase 2, Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, 
IFRS 4 and IFRS 16, completing its work in response to IBOR reform. The amendments provide temporary reliefs which 
address the financial reporting effects when an interbank offered rate (IBOR) is replaced with an alternative nearly risk-free 
interest rate (RFR). In particular, the amendments provide for a practical expedient when accounting for changes in the 
basis for determining the contractual cash flows of financial assets and liabilities, to require the effective interest rate to be 
adjusted, equivalent to a movement in a market rate of interest. Also, the amendments introduce reliefs from discontinuing 
hedge relationships including a temporary relief from having to meet the separately identifiable requirement when an RFR 
instrument is designated as a hedge of a risk component. There are also amendments to IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: 
Disclosures to enable users of financial statements to understand the effect of interest rate benchmark reform on an entity’s 
financial instruments and risk management strategy. While application is retrospective, an entity is not required to restate 
prior periods. The amendments had no impact on the financial statements of the Group/Company. 
 
•  IFRS 16 Leases-Cοvid 19 Related Rent Concessions (Amendment) 
The amendment applies, retrospectively, to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 June 2020. Earlier application 
is permitted, including in financial statements not yet authorized for issue at 28 May 2020. IASB amended the standard to 
provide relief to lessees from applying IFRS 16 guidance on lease modification accounting for rent concessions arising as a 
direct consequence of the covid-19 pandemic. The amendment provides a practical expedient for the lessee to account for 
any change in lease payments resulting from the covid-19 related rent concession the same way it would account for the 
change under IFRS 16, if the change was not a lease modification, only if all of the following conditions are met: 
➢  The change in lease payments results in revised consideration for the lease that is substantially the same as, or less than, 
the consideration for the lease immediately preceding the change. 
➢  Any reduction in lease payments affects only payments originally due on or before 30 June 2021. 
➢  There is no substantive change to other terms and conditions of the lease. 
The amendment had no impact on the financial statements of the Group/Company. 
 
B) Standards issued but not yet effective and not early adopted  
 
•  Amendment in IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements and IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint 
Ventures: Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture 
The amendments address an acknowledged inconsistency between the requirements in IFRS 10 and those in IAS 28, in 
dealing with the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture. The main consequence 
of the amendments is that a full gain or loss is recognized when a transaction involves a business (whether it is housed in 
a subsidiary or not). A partial gain or loss is recognized when a transaction involves assets that do not constitute a business, 
even if these assets are housed in a subsidiary. In December 2015 the IASB postponed the effective date of this amendment 
indefinitely pending the outcome of its research project on the equity method of accounting. The amendments have not yet 
been endorsed by the EU. The implementation of this amendment will have no impact to the Group/Company.   
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11 
2  Accounting policies (cont’d) 
 
•  IAS  1  Presentation  of  Financial  Statements:  Classification  of  Liabilities  as  Current  or  Non-current 
(Amendments) 
The amendments were initially effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2022 with earlier 
application permitted. However, in response to the covid-19 pandemic, the Board has deferred the effective date by one 
year, i.e. 1 January 2023, to provide companies with more time to implement any classification changes resulting from the 
amendments. The amendments aim to promote consistency in applying the requirements by helping companies determine 
whether, in the statement of financial position, debt and other liabilities with an uncertain settlement date should be classified 
as current or non-current. The amendments affect the presentation of liabilities in the statement of financial position and do 
not change existing requirements around measurement or timing of recognition of any asset, liability, income or expenses, 
nor the information that entities disclose about those items. Also, the amendments clarify the classification requirements for 
debt which may be settled by the company issuing own equity instruments.  
 
In November 2021, the Board issued an exposure draft (ED), which clarifies how to treat liabilities that are subject to 
covenants to be complied with, at a date subsequent to the reporting period. In particular, the Board proposes narrow scope 
amendments to IAS 1 which effectively reverse the 2020 amendments requiring entities to classify as current, liabilities 
subject to covenants that must only be complied with within the next twelve months after the reporting period, if those 
covenants are not met at the end of the reporting period. Instead, the proposals would require entities to present separately 
all non-current liabilities subject to covenants to be complied with only within twelve months after the reporting period. 
Furthermore, if entities do not comply with such future covenants at the end of the reporting period, additional disclosures 
will be required. The proposals will become effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024 and 
will need be applied retrospectively in accordance with IAS 8, while early adoption is permitted. The Board has also proposed 
to delay the effective date of the 2020 amendments accordingly, such that entities will not be required to change current 
practice before the proposed amendments come into effect. These Amendments, including ED proposals, have not yet been 
endorsed by the EU. The Group/Company has not yet evaluated the impact of the implementation of this amendment. 
 
•  IFRS  3  Business  Combinations;  IAS  16  Property,  Plant  and  Equipment;  IAS  37  Provisions,  Contingent 
Liabilities and Contingent Assets as well as Annual Improvements 2018-2020 (Amendments) 
The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022 with earlier application permitted. 
The IASB has issued narrow-scope amendments to the IFRS Standards as follows: 
➢  IFRS 3 Business Combinations (Amendments) update a reference in IFRS 3 to the Conceptual Framework for Financial 
Reporting without changing the accounting requirements for business combinations. 
➢  IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment (Amendments) prohibit a company from deducting from the cost of property, 
plant and equipment amounts received from selling items produced while the company is preparing the asset for its intended 
use. Instead, a company will recognise such sales proceeds and related cost in profit or loss. 
➢  IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets (Amendments) specify which costs a company 
includes in determining the cost of fulfilling a contract for the purpose of assessing whether a contract is onerous. 
➢  Annual Improvements 2018-2020 make minor amendments to IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International Financial 
Reporting Standards, IFRS 9 Financial Instruments, IAS 41 Agriculture and the Illustrative Examples accompanying IFRS 16 
Leases 
 
The Group/Company has not yet evaluated the impact of the implementation of these amendments. 
 
•  IFRS 16 Leases-Cοvid 19 Related Rent Concessions beyond 30 June 2021 (Amendment) 
The Amendment applies to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 April 2021, with earlier application permitted, 
including in financial statements not yet authorized for issue at the date the amendment is issued. In March 2021, the Board 
amended the conditions of the practical expedient in IFRS 16 that provides relief to lessees from applying the IFRS 16 
guidance on lease modifications to rent concessions arising as a direct consequence of the covid-19 pandemic. Following 
the amendment, the practical expedient now applies to rent concessions for which any reduction in lease payments affects 
only payments originally due on or before 30 June 2022, provided the other conditions for applying the practical expedient 
are met. The implementation of this amendment will have no material impact to the Group/Company. 
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12 
2  Accounting policies (cont’d) 
 
•  IAS  1  Presentation  of  Financial  Statements  and  IFRS  Practice  Statement  2:  Disclosure  of  Accounting  policies 
(Amendments) 
The  Amendments  are  effective  for  annual  periods  beginning  on  or  after  January  1,  2023  with  earlier  application  permitted.  The 
amendments  provide  guidance  on  the  application  of  materiality  judgements  to  accounting  policy  disclosures.  In  particular,  the 
amendments  to  IAS  1  replace  the  requirement  to  disclose  ‘significant’  accounting policies  with  a  requirement  to  disclose  ‘material’ 
accounting policies. Also, guidance and illustrative examples are added in the Practice Statement  to assist in the application of the 
materiality concept when making judgements about accounting policy disclosures. The Amendments have not yet been endorsed by the 
EU. The Group/Company has not yet evaluated the impact of the implementation of this amendment. 
 
•  IAS  8  Accounting  policies,  Changes  in  Accounting  Estimates  and  Errors:  Definition  of  Accounting  Estimates 
(Amendments) 
The amendments become effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2023 with earlier application permitted 
and apply to changes in accounting policies and changes in accounting estimates that occur on or after the start of that period. The 
amendments introduce a new definition of accounting estimates, defined as monetary amounts in financial statements that are subject 
to measurement uncertainty. Also, the amendments clarify what changes in accounting estimates are and how these differ from changes 
in accounting policies and corrections of errors. The Amendments have not yet been endorsed by the EU. The Group/Company has not 
yet evaluated the impact of the implementation of this amendment. 
 
•  IAS 12 Income taxes: Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction (Amendments) 
The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2023 with earlier application permitted. In May 2021, 
the Board issued amendments to IAS 12, which narrow the scope of the initial recognition exception under IAS 12 and specify how 
companies should account for deferred tax on transactions such as leases and decommissioning obligations. Under the amendments, the 
initial recognition exception does not apply to transactions that, on initial recognition, give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary 
differences. It only applies if the recognition of a lease asset and lease liability (or decommissioning liability and decommissioning asset 
component) give rise to taxable and deductible temporary differences that are not equal. The Amendments have not yet been endorsed 
by the EU. The Group/Company has not yet evaluated the impact of the implementation of this amendment. 
 
The Group/Company plans to adopt the above-mentioned standards and interpretations on their effectiveness date provided they are 
endorsed by the EU. 
 
2.2. Measurement and presentation currency 
 
The amounts shown in these financial statements (including comparatives) are presented in the local currency of the Republic of Lithuania, 
Euro  (EUR),  rounded  to  EUR  thousand,  unless  otherwise  stated.  Due  to  rounding  to  EUR  thousand,  the  numbers  in  the  financial 
statements’ disclosures may not reconcile by immaterial amounts. 
 
The functional currency of the Company and its subsidiaries operating in Lithuania is Euro. The functional currency of subsidiaries in 
Latvia and Estonia is Euro. The functional currency of the subsidiary in Poland is Zloty. Items included in the financial statements of this 
subsidiary are translated into the financial statements presentation currency as described below. 
 
Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded in the functional currency as at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and 
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the functional currency rate of exchange as at the date of the statement 
of financial position. 
 
The assets and liabilities of foreign subsidiary are translated into Euro at the reporting date using the rate of exchange as at the reporting 
date, and its statement of comprehensive income is translated at the weighted average exchange rates for the year. The exchange 
differences arising on this translation are recognised in other comprehensive income. On disposal of a foreign subsidiary, the deferred 
cumulative amount recognised in other comprehensive income relating to that foreign operation is recognised in profit (loss).  
 
Non-current receivables from andloans granted to foreign subsidiaries that are neither planned nor likely to be settled in the future are 
considered to be a part of the Company’s net investment in the foreign operation. In the Group’s consolidated financial statements the 
exchange differences recognized in the individual financial statements of the subsidiary in relation to these monetary items are reclassified 
to other comprehensive income. On disposal of a foreign subsidiary, the deferred cumulative amount recognised in other comprehensive 
income relating to that foreign operation is recognised in profit (loss). 
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2  Accounting policies (cont’d) 
 
2.3. Principles of consolidation 
 
The  consolidated  financial  statements  of  the  Group  include  UAB  INTER  RAO  Lietuva  and  its  subsidiaries.  The  financial 
statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting year, using consistent accounting policies. 
 
Control is achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and 
has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee. Specifically, the Group controls an investee if, and 
only if, the Group has: 
-  Power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee); 
-  Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee;   
-  The ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns  
 
Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights result in control.  
 
Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date from which control is transferred to the Group and cease to be consolidated from 
the date on which control is transferred out of the Group. All intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains and 
losses on transactions among the Group companies have been eliminated. The equity and net income attributable to non-
controlling interests, if any, are shown separately in the statement of financial position and the statement of comprehensive 
income. 
 
Total comprehensive income of a subsidiary is attributed to the non-controlling interest even if that results in a deficit balance.  
 
Acquisitions and disposals of non-controlling interest by the Group are accounted as equity transaction: the difference between 
the carrying value of the net assets acquired from/disposed to the non-controlling interests in the Group’s financial statements 
and the acquisition price/proceeds from disposal is accounted directly in equity.  
 
Business combinations 
 
Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of an acquisition is measured as the aggregate 
of the consideration transferred, measured at acquisition date fair value and the amount of any non-controlling interest in the 
acquiree. For each business combination, the acquirer measures the non-controlling interest in the acquiree either at fair value 
or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. Acquisition costs incurred are expensed and included in 
administrative expenses. 
  
If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest 
in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition date through profit or loss. Any contingent consideration to be 
transferred by the acquirer is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Subsequent changes to the fair value of the 
contingent consideration which is deemed to be an asset or liability, is recognised in accordance with IFRS 9 either in profit 
or loss or as a change to other comprehensive income. If the contingent consideration is classified as equity, it is not be 
remeasured until it is finally settled within equity.  
 
Goodwill is initially measured at cost being the excess of the aggregate of the consideration transferred and the amount 
recognised for non-controlling interest over the net identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If this consideration is 
lower than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is recognised in profit or loss. 
 
After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill impairment is assessed 
annually. Once recognized, impairment losses are not reversed. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a 
business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units that are expected 
to benefit from the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the acquiree are assigned to those units.   
 
Where goodwill forms part of a cash-generating unit and part of the operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill 
associated with the operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the operation when determining the gain or 
loss on disposal of the operation. Goodwill disposed of in this circumstance is measured based on the relative values of the 
operation disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit retained.  
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2  Accounting policies (cont’d) 
 
2.4.  Investments (in the Company’s separate accounts) 
 
Interests in subsidiaries 
 
Investments in subsidiaries are measured at cost less impairment in  the statement of financial position of the Company. 
Accordingly, the investment is initially recognised at cost, being the fair value of the consideration given subsequently adjusted 
for  any  impairment  losses.  The  carrying  value  of  the  investment  is  tested  for  impairment  when  events  or  changes  in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may exceed the recoverable amount (higher of the two: fair value less costs to 
sell  and  value in  use)  of the  investment.  If  such  indications  exist, the  Company  makes  an estimate  of  the  investment’s 
recoverable amount. Where the carrying amount of an investment exceeds its estimated recoverable amount, the investment 
is written down to its recoverable amount. Impairment loss is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income as general 
and administrative expense for the period. 
 
2.5.  Intangible assets other than goodwill 
 
Intangible assets acquired separately  are  measured initially at  cost. The cost  of  intangible assets  acquired in a business 
combination is fair value as at the date of acquisition. Intangible assets are recognised if it is probable that future economic 
benefits that are attributable to the asset will flow to the enterprise and the cost of asset can be measured reliably.  
 
The useful lives of all intangible assets are assessed to be finite. 
 
After  initial  recognition,  intangible  assets  with  finite  lives  are  measured  at  cost  less  accumulated  amortisation  and  any 
accumulated  impairment  losses. Intangible  assets are  amortised  on  a  straight-line  basis over  their expected  useful  lives 
(years). The wind farm operating license validity term is indefinite, although as per management estimate its useful life is 
associated with the favourable fixed feed-in tariff expired in 2020. 
 
Intangible assets are assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired.  
The useful lives, residual values and amortisation method are reviewed annually to ensure that they are consistent with the 
expected pattern of economic benefits from items in intangible assets other than goodwill. 
 
2.6. Property, plant and equipment 
 
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.  
 
The  initial  cost  of  property,  plant  and  equipment  and  investment  property  comprises  its  purchase  price,  including  non-
refundable purchase taxes and any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and location for its 
intended use. Expenditures incurred after the property, plant and equipment is ready for its intended use, such as repair and 
maintenance costs, are normally charged to the statement of comprehensive income in the period the costs are incurred. 
 
 
Depreciation is computed on a straight-line basis over the following estimated useful lives (years): 
 
Office premises      15 
Buildings and structures      8 – 20 
Machinery and equipment (wind power plants)       20 
Vehicles      5 – 10 
Other fittings, fixtures, tools and equipment       3 – 6 
 
The useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed annually to ensure that they are consistent with the 
expected pattern of economic benefits from items in property, plant and equipment. 
 
An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected 
from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net 
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in the statement of comprehensive income in the year 
the asset is derecognised.   
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2  Accounting policies (cont’d) 
 
2.7. Investment property 
 
Investment  properties  are  measured  initially  at  cost,  including  transaction  costs.  Subsequent  to  initial  recognition,  investment 
properties are stated at fair value, which reflects market conditions at the balance sheet date. Gains or losses arising from changes 
in  the  fair  values  of  investment  properties  are  included in  profit  and  loss  in  the  period  in  which  they  arise  under  general and 
administrative expenses. Investment properties are derecognised when either they have been disposed of or when the investment 
property is permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is expected from its disposal. Any gains or losses on the 
retirement or disposal of an investment property are recognised in profit and loss in the year of retirement or disposal. 
 
Transfers are made to investment property when, and only when, there is a change in use, evidenced by the end of owner occupation 
or commencement of an operating lease to another party. Transfers are made from investment property when, and only when, there 
is a change in use, evidenced by commencement of owner occupation or commencement of development with a view to sell. 
 
For a transfer from investment property to owner occupied property or inventories, the deemed cost of property for subsequent 
accounting is its fair value at the date of change in use. If the property occupied by the Group/Company as an owner occupied 
property becomes an investment property, the Group/Company accounts for such property in accordance with the policy adopted for 
property, plant and equipment up to the date of change in use. For a transfer from property, plant and equipment to investment 
property, any differences between fair value of the property at that date and its previous carrying amount are recognized in  the 
revaluation reserve. 
 
As of 31 December 2021 and 2020 the management assessed the fair value of the investment property (apartments) based on 
publicly available information about real estate market changes and market price level in relevant geographic area (level 3 in the fair 
value hierarchy). The change in the fair value is reported in income from other activities amounting to EUR 355 thousand in 2021 (no 
change in the fair value in 2020). 
 
2.8. Financial instruments 
 
A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or equity instrument of 
another entity. 
 
i)  Financial assets  
 
Initial recognition and measurement  
 
Financial  assets  are  classified,  at  initial  recognition,  as  subsequently  measured  at  amortised  cost,  fair  value  through  other 
comprehensive income (OCI), and fair value through profit or loss.   
 
The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics and the 
Group’s/Company’s business model for managing them. With the exception of trade receivables and contract assets that do not 
contain a significant financing component, the Group/Company initially measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of 
a financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables and contract assets that do not contain 
a significant financing component are measured at the transaction price determined under IFRS 15.  
 
In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at amortised cost or fair value through OCI, it needs to give rise to cash 
flows that are ‘solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI)’ on the principal amount outstanding. This assessment is referred to 
as the SPPI test and is performed at an instrument level.  
 
The Group’s/Company’s business model for managing financial assets refers to how the Group/Company manages its financial assets 
in order to generate cash flows. The business model determines whether cash flows will result from collecting contractual cash flows, 
selling the financial assets, or both.  
 
A regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade date, i.e., the date that the Group/Company commits 
to purchase or sell the asset. 
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2  Accounting policies (cont’d) 
 
2.8. Financial instruments (cont’d) 
 
Subsequent measurement  
 
After initial recognition, the Group/Company measures a financial asset at:  
a)  Amortised cost (debt instruments); 
b)  Fair value through OCI with recycling of cumulative gains and losses upon derecognition (debt instruments). 
The Group/Company did not have such items as at 31 December 2021 and 2020; 
c)  Fair  value  through  OCI  with  no  recycling  of  cumulative  gains  and  losses  upon  derecognition  (equity 
instruments). The Group/Company did not have such items as at 31 December 2021 and 2020; 
d)  Fair value through profit or loss (Note 2.13). 
 
Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)  
 
The Group/Company measures financial assets at amortised cost if both of the following conditions are met:  
i) The financial asset is held within a business model with the objective to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual 
cash flows; and  
ii)  The  contractual  terms  of  the  financial  asset  give  rise  on  specified  dates  to  cash  flows  that  are  solely 
payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 
 
Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest (EIR) method and are subject to 
impairment. Gains  and  losses  are  recognised  in  the statement  of  comprehensive income  when  the  asset  is  derecognised, 
modified or impaired.  
 
The Group’s/Company’s  financial  assets at amortised cost  includes trade, other  current and non-current  receivables, loans 
granted and contract assets (if any). 
 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss  
 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include financial assets held for trading, financial assets designated upon 
initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss, or financial assets mandatorily required to be measured at fair value. 
Financial assets are classified as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near term. 
Derivatives, including separated embedded derivatives, are also classified as held for trading unless they are designated as 
effective hedging instruments (as defined by IFRS 9). Financial assets with cash flows that are not solely payments of principal 
and interest are classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss, irrespective of the business model. Notwithstanding 
the criteria for  debt  instruments  to be classified at amortised cost or at fair value through  OCI,  as  described above, debt 
instruments may be designated at fair value through profit or loss on initial recognition if doing so eliminates, or significantly 
reduces, an accounting mismatch.  Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the statement of financial 
position at fair value with net changes in fair value recognised in the statement of comprehensive income (Note 2.13).   
 
Impairment of financial assets  
 
Following IFRS 9, in common case scenario, the Group/Company recognises an allowance for expected credit losses (ECLs) for 
all debt instruments not held at fair value through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the contractual cash 
flows  due  in  accordance  with the  contract  and  all  the cash  flows  that  the  Company expects to  receive,  discounted at an 
approximation of the original effective interest rate. ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which there 
has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from 
default events that are possible within the next 12-months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has 
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses expected over the 
remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).  
 
For trade receivables and contract assets, the Group/Company applies a simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Therefore, the 
Group/Company does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each 
reporting date. For that purpose the Group/Company has established a provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss 
experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic environment. The Group/Company 
considers a financial asset in default when contractual payments are 90 days past due or when indications exist that the debtors 
or a group of debtors are experiencing significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal payments, 
the probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation and where observable data indicate that there 
is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate 
with defaults. A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.  
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2  Accounting policies (cont’d) 
 
2.8. Financial instruments (cont’d) 
 
i)  Financial liabilities 
 
Initial recognition and measurement  
 
Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans and 
borrowings and payables. All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the case of loans and borrowings 
and payables, net of directly attributable transaction costs. The Group’s/Company’s financial liabilities include trade and 
other payables, loans and borrowings including bank overdrafts and finance lease liabilities, as well as derivative financials 
instruments. 
 
Subsequent measurement  
 
The measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification, as described below. 
 
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss  
 
Financial liabilities  at  fair  value through  profit  or  loss  include  financial  liabilities  held  for  trading  and  financial liabilities 
designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss.  Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading 
if  they  are  incurred  for  the  purpose  of  repurchasing  in  the  near  term.  This  category also  includes  derivative  financial 
instruments entered into by the Group/Company that are not designated as hedging instruments in hedge relationships as 
defined by IFRS 9. Separated embedded derivatives are also classified as held for trading unless they are designated as 
effective hedging instruments. Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are recognised in the statement of comprehensive 
income (Note 2.13).  
 
Loans, borrowings and other payables 
 
After initial recognition, loans, borrowings and other payables are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the EIR 
method. Gains and losses are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income, when the liabilities are derecognised 
as well as through the EIR amortisation process.  Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium 
on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortisation is included as finance costs in the 
statement of comprehensive income.   
 
Offsetting of financial instruments  
 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the statement of financial position if 
there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, 
i.e. to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously. 
 
2.9. Derecognition of financial instruments 
 
Financial assets 
 
A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily 
derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s/Company’s statement of financial position) when:  
i)  The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired or  
ii)  The Group/Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an 
obligation to pay the received cash flows in full without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass-through’ arrangement; 
and  either  (a)  the  Group/Company  has  transferred  substantially  all  the  risks  and  rewards  of  the  asset,  or  (b)  the 
Group/Company has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred 
control of the asset. 
 
When the Group/Company has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through 
arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risks and rewards of ownership. When it has neither 
transferred nor retained substantially all of the risks and rewards of the asset, nor transferred control of the asset, the 
Group/Company continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of its continuing involvement. In that case, the 
Group/Company also recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are measured on a 
basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Group/Company has retained.  
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2  Accounting policies (cont’d) 
 
Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original 
carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Group/Company could be required to 
repay (amount of the guarantee).  
 
Financial liabilities 
 
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expired. When an 
existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an 
existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original 
liability and the recognition of a new liability, and the difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the 
statement of comprehensive income. 
 
2.10. Fair value measurement 
 
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between 
market participants at the measurement date. The Group and the Company uses valuation techniques that are appropriate 
in the circumstances and for  which  sufficient data are  available to measure  fair  value,  maximising the use  of relevant 
observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs. 
 
All  assets  and  liabilities  for  which  fair  value  is  measured  or  disclosed  in  the  financial  statements  are  categorised 
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement as a whole: 
 
Level 1 — Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 
Level 2 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement is directly 
or indirectly observable; 
Level  3  —  Valuation  techniques  for  which  the  lowest  level  input  that  is  significant  to  the  fair  value  measurement  is 
unobservable. 
 
For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group and the Company 
determines whether transfers have occurred between Levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorisation (based on the 
lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period. 
 
2.11.   Inventories 
 
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or net realisable value, after impairment evaluation for obsolete and slow moving 
items. Net realisable value is the selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the costs of completion, marketing and 
distribution. Cost of inventory is determined by the first-in, first-out (FIFO) method. Unrealisable inventory is fully written-
off. 
 
2.12.  Cash and cash equivalents 
 
Cash includes cash on hand and cash with banks. Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily 
convertible to known amounts of cash with original maturities of three months or less and that are subject to an insignificant 
risk of change in value. Bank accounts held for the purpose of automated tax payments and reimbursements are considered 
as cash equivalent as well. 
 
For the purposes of the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and in current bank accounts 
as well as deposits in bank with original term equal to or less than 3 months and tax bank accounts. 
 
2.13.  Derivative financial instruments 
 
The  Group  and  the  Company  engages  in  forward  contracts  for  electricity  price  risk  management  purposes.  Derivative 
financial instruments are initially recognized and subsequently carried in the statement of financial position at the fair value. 
Fair value is derived from quoted market prices (level 1 in fair value hierarchy), or using the most similar market data (level 
2 in fair value hierarchy). The estimated fair values of these contracts are reported on a gross basis as financial assets for 
contracts having a positive fair value, and financial liabilities for contracts with a negative fair value. 
 
Gain or loss from changes in the fair value of outstanding forward contracts, swaps and other derivative financial instruments, 
which are not classified as hedging instruments, are recognized as profit or loss in the statement of comprehensive income 
as they arise. 
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2  Accounting policies (cont’d) 
 
2.14.   Hedge accounting 
 
For the purposes of hedge accounting, hedges are classified into two categories: (a) fair value hedges which hedge the 
exposure to changes in the fair value of a recognized asset or liability; and (b) cash flow hedges which hedge exposure to 
variability in cash flows that is either attributable to a particular risk associated with a recognized asset or liability or a 
forecasted transaction. The Group and the Company use cash flow hedge.  
 
In relation to cash flow hedges, which meet the conditions for hedge accounting, the portion of the gain or loss on the 
hedging instrument that is determined to be an effective hedge is recognized initially in other comprehensive income and 
the ineffective portion is  recognized in  the statement of comprehensive income (profit or loss). The gains or  losses on 
effective cash flow hedges recognized initially in equity are either transferred to the statement of comprehensive income 
(profit or loss) in the period in which the hedged transaction impacts the statement of comprehensive income (revenue 
caption for the electricity forward contracts) or included in the initial measurement of the cost of the related asset or liability. 
 
For hedges, which do not qualify for hedge accounting, any gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of the 
hedging instrument are taken directly to the statement of comprehensive income (profit or loss) for the period. 
 
Hedge accounting is discontinued when the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised, or no longer 
qualifies for hedge accounting. Any cumulative gain or loss on the hedging instrument recognized in equity remains in equity 
until the forecasted transaction occurs. Where the hedged transaction is no longer expected to occur, the net cumulative 
gain or loss recognized in equity is transferred to the statement of comprehensive income (profit or loss). 
 
The Group had interest swap agreement with a purpose to hedge against a possible fluctuation/increase of EURIBOR on the 
loan taken from a bank, i. e. effectively switching the interest into a fixed rate until 2020.  In 2021 and 2020 the Group and 
the Company have entered into electricity swap contracts with a purpose to hedge against a possible fluctuation of electricity 
prices (Note 10). These hedged items are subject to a single risk component, thus the Company hedged an item in its 
entirety, not splitting into different components. 
 
There is an economic relationship between the hedged item and the hedging instrument as the terms of electricity swaps 
matches the terms of the highly probable forecast electricity purchase (i.e., notional amount, maturity). The Group/Company 
has established a hedge ratio for the hedging relationships as the underlying risks are closely related to the hedged risk 
component. To test the hedge effectiveness, the Group/Company uses the hypothetical derivative method and compares 
the changes in the fair value of the hedging instrument against the changes in fair value of the hedged item attributable to 
the hedged risk.  
 
The hedge ineffectiveness can arise from:  
• Differences in timing of cash flows of the hedged item and hedging instrument; 
• The counterparties’ credit risk differently impacting the fair value movements of the hedging instrument and hedged item; 
• Changes to the forecasted amount of cash flows of hedged items and hedging instruments. 
 
 
2.15.  Borrowings 
 
Borrowing  costs directly attributable  to  the  acquisition,  construction or  production  of  an asset  that necessarily  takes  a 
substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale are capitalised as part of the cost of the respective assets. 
All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period they occur. The Group and the Company capitalises borrowing costs 
for all qualifying assets, however, there were no borrowing costs matching the capitalisation criteria in 2021 and 2020. 
 
Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value of proceeds received, less the costs of transaction. They are subsequently 
carried at amortised cost, the difference between net proceeds and redemption value being recognised in the net profit or 
loss over the period of the borrowings (except for the capitalized part) using the effective interest method.  
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2  Accounting policies (cont’d) 
 
 
2.16.  Lease – Group/Company as a lessee   
 
The Group and the Company assess at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. That is, if the contract 
conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.  
  
The Group and the Company apply a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases, except for short-term 
leases and leases of low-value assets. The Group and the Company recognize lease liabilities to make lease payments and 
right-of-use assets representing the right to use the underlying assets.   
 
Right-of-use assets   
 
The Group and the  Company recognize  right-of-use assets  at  the  commencement date of the lease (i.e., the date the 
underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and 
impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the 
amount of lease liabilities recognized, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the commencement 
date less any lease incentives received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the 
lease term and the estimated useful lives of the assets, as follows:   
 
Land              20 
Office premises            15   
Motor vehicles             5-10  
  
If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group and the Company at the end of the lease term or the cost reflects 
the exercise of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the estimated useful life of the asset.   
 
The right-of-use assets are also subject to impairment (Note 2.19). 
 
Lease liabilities    
At the commencement date of the lease, the Group and the Company recognize lease liabilities measured at the present 
value of lease payments to be made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments (including in-substance 
fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts 
expected to be paid under residual value guarantees. The lease payments also include the exercise price of a purchase 
option reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and the Company and payments of penalties for terminating the 
lease, if the lease term reflects the Group and the Company exercising the option to terminate. Variable lease payments that 
do not depend on an index or a rate are recognized as expenses (unless they are incurred to produce inventories) in the 
period in which the event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.    
In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group and the Company use its incremental borrowing rate at the 
lease commencement date if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After the commencement 
date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments made. 
In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the lease term, a 
change in the  lease payments (e.g.,  changes  to  future payments resulting from a change  in  an index or rate  used to 
determine such lease payments) or a change in the assessment of an option to purchase the underlying asset.   
Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets 
 
The Group and the Company apply the short-term lease recognition exemption to its short-term leases (i.e., those leases 
that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase option) and also 
apply the lease of low-value assets recognition exemption to leases of office equipment that are considered to be low value. 
Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value assets are recognized as expense on a straight-line basis over 
the lease term.   
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2  Accounting policies (cont’d) 
 
2.17.  Income tax 
 
The Group companies are taxed individually, irrespective of the overall results of the Group. Income tax charge is based on 
profit for the year and considers deferred taxation. The charge for taxation included in these financial statements is based 
on the calculation made by the management in accordance with tax legislation of the Republic of Lithuania, the Republic of 
Latvia, the Republic of Estonia and the Republic of Poland. 
 
The standard income tax rate in Lithuania is 15%, in the Republic of Poland – 19%, in the Republic of Latvia – 0% and in 
the Republic of Estonia – 0% (though dividends for Latvia and Estonia paid are taxed as explained further). 
 
Starting from 1 January 2014 the tax loss carry-forward that is deductible cannot exceed 70% of the current financial year 
taxable profit in Lithuania. Tax losses can be carried forward for indefinite period, except for the losses incurred as a result 
of disposal of securities and/or derivative financial instruments. Such carrying forward is disrupted if the company changes 
its activities due to which these losses were incurred except when the company does not continue its activities due to reasons 
which do not depend on the company itself. The losses from disposal of securities and/or derivative financial instruments 
can be carried forward for 5 consecutive years and only be used to reduce the taxable income earned from the transactions 
of the same nature. 
 
Tax losses in the Republic of Poland may be carried forward to the following five tax years to offset profits from all sources 
that are derived in those years. Up to 50% of the original loss may offset profits in any of the five tax years. Losses may 
not be carried back. 
 
As the object of taxation in Estonia and Latvia is dividends, not profit, there are no differences between the carrying amounts 
and tax bases of assets and liabilities which could give rise to deferred tax assets or liabilities at subsidiary level. The income 
tax payable on dividends is recognised as the income tax expense of the period in which the dividends are declared. The 
tax rate in Estonia for 2021 and 2020  and in Latvia for 2021 and 2020 was 20/80 of the amount distributed as the net 
dividend. Deferred tax liability was recognized in the consolidated financial statements in respect of undistributed earnings 
of these subsidiaries (Note 17). 
 
Deferred taxes are calculated using the liability method. Deferred taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences 
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax 
purposes. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using the tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the 
years  in  which  those  temporary  differences  are  expected  to  be  recovered  or  settled  based  on  tax  rates  enacted  or 
substantially enacted at the date of the statement of financial position.  
 
Deferred tax assets have been recognised in the statement of financial position to the extent the management believes it 
will be realised in the foreseeable future, based on taxable profit forecasts. If it is believed that part of the deferred tax is 
not going to be realised, this part of the deferred tax asset is not recognised in the financial statements. 
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2  Accounting policies (cont’d) 
 
2.18.  Revenue recognition 
 
Revenue from contracts with customers 
 
Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control of the services or goods are transferred to the customer 
at an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group/Company expects to be entitled in exchange for those 
services or goods. The Group/Company has concluded that it is the principal in its revenue arrangements (except for agent 
activity described below), because: 
- The entity controls the goods or services before transferring them to the customer; 
- The entity is primarily responsible for electricity supply and bears risk of non-performance; 
- The entity has latitude in establishing price either directly or indirectly. 
 
Management made the judgement that for the quantity of electricity sold by the Company in power exchange and acquired 
by the subsidiaries in Latvia and Estonia from power exchange, the Company in substance has customer contracts with 
subsidiaries as defined by IFRS 15. 
 
Sale of electricity is recognised at the time of delivery, based on the value of the volume supplied. Physical electricity sales 
and purchase contracts are accounted for on accrual basis as they are contracted with the Group’s/Company’s expected 
purchase, sale or usage requirements. 
 
Accrued income representing electricity supplied until the last day of the month, for which invoice is issued next month is 
presented as  trade account receivable. 
 
Physical electricity sales and purchases are done through the power exchange.  
 
Equivalent trades on power exchange are presented net, i.e. the sales and purchases are netted on the Company and the 
Group level on an hourly basis and posted either as revenue or cost, according to whether the Company and the Group is a 
net seller or a net buyer during any particular hour.  
 
Electricity grid services related revenue are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income in net amount by applying 
the agent accounting principle as: 
- The entity has not the primary responsibility for electricity grid services; 
- The entity has no latitude in establishing prices, either directly or indirectly. 
 
Revenue from sales of produced electricity is recognised based on actually transmitted volume of electricity produced.  
 
Revenue from other services is recognised when services are rendered, although such transactions are rear and not material. 
 
Due to the Group’s/ Company’s business nature, apart from what is described in this note, the management did not make 
any other significant accounting judgments, estimates and assumptions relating to recognition of revenue from contracts 
with customers, as there are no complex/multi-elemental services or goods, no variable consideration, financing component, 
contract cost or amounts payable to the customers, except for the judgement disclosed in Note 2.20. 
 
Other income: 
 
Dividend income is recognised when the dividends are declared. 
 
Interest income or expense are recorded using the effective interest rate (EIR), which is the rate that exactly discounts the 
estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument to the net carrying amount 
of the financial asset or liability. It is included in finance income or expenses in the statement of comprehensive income. 
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2  Accounting policies (cont’d) 
 
2.19.  Impairment of non-financial assets 
 
Other assets (excluding goodwill) 
 
Other assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that carrying amount of 
an asset may not be recoverable. Whenever the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount, an impairment 
loss is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income. Reversal of impairment losses recognised in prior years is 
recorded when there is an indication that the impairment losses recognised for the asset no longer exist or have decreased. 
The reversal is accounted for in the same caption of the statement of comprehensive income as the impairment loss. 
 
2.20.  Use of judgments and estimates in the preparation of financial statements 
 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with International Financial Reporting Standards requires management 
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses 
and disclosure of contingencies.  
 
Significant areas of judgement  
 
Significant  area  of  judgement  used  in  the  preparation  of  the  accompanying  financial  statements  relates  to  accounting 
treatment of electricity forward contracts concluded in Commodity Forward Instruments Market (CFIM) in Poland. Although, 
CFIM rules state that the contracts require physical delivery of electricity, in practice, the Group settles most of its contracts 
net cash by entering into offsetting contracts within a short period for the purpose of generating a profit from short-term 
price fluctuations  or  dealer’s margin.  The management concluded that despite the formal statement that contracts are 
settled by physical delivery of electricity, in substance, these forward contracts to sell and purchase electricity are derivative 
contracts and, therefore, only net result from such electricity forward contracts is disclosed in the profit and loss.   
  
Significant judgement is applied by the management for selecting the most comparable market for the fair value assessment 
of part of the derivative financial instruments, because of limited trade in primary market in 2021 for given instruments. The 
management have performed comparative analysis of the similar markets trading given instruments, applying professional 
expertise assessed if markets are comparable in other means, i.e. liquidity and concluded that Helsinki market is the most 
comparable area for the valuation of derivative financial instruments. 
 
Significant areas of estimation 
 
Significant areas of estimation used in the preparation of the accompanying financial statements relate to depreciation and 
amortisation (Notes 2.5, 2.6, 2.16, 4 and 5), fair value of the investment property (Note 2.7), hedge effectiveness estimation 
(Note 2.14), impairment evaluation of  property plant and equipment and right of use assets  (Notes 5 and 4), impairment 
evaluation of investments to subsidiaries  (Note 2.4), the land lease classification and measurement (Note 5 and 2.16) and 
revenue recognition (Note 2.18). The management also made a estimate regarding the provision for the wind power plants 
dismantling, which was considered not material taking into account the passage of time and expected value of the cost to 
dismantle. Future events may occur which will cause the assumptions used in arriving at the estimates to change. The effect 
of any changes in estimates will be recorded in the financial statements, when determinable. 
 
At the date of the preparation of these financial statements, the underlying assumptions and estimates were not subject to 
a significant risk that the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities will have to be adjusted significantly as a result of changes 
in estimates in the subsequent financial year. 
 
2.21.  Contingencies 
 
Contingent liabilities are not recognised in the financial statements, except for contingent liabilities associated with business 
combinations. They are disclosed unless the possibility of an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is remote.  
 
A contingent asset is not recognised in the financial statements but disclosed when an inflow or economic benefits are 
probable. 
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2  Accounting policies (cont’d) 
 
The  tax  authorities  may  at  any  time  during  the  consecutive  3  subsequent  tax  years  in  Latvia,  Lithuania  for  regular 
transactions and 5 years for transactions with related parties in Latvia and Lithuania and  3 subsequent tax years  for all 
type of transactions  in    Estonia can  examine the books and accounting records  and calculate  the  additional taxes  and 
penalties. The Group’s/Company’s management does not know any circumstances, which could result in potential significant 
liability in this regard. 
 
2.22.  Subsequent events 
 
Subsequent  events  that  provide  additional  information  about  the  Group’s  and  the  Company’s  position  at  the  date  of 
statement of financial position (adjusting events) are reflected in the financial statements. Subsequent events that are not 
adjusting events are disclosed in the notes when material.   
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3  Segment information 
 
For management purposes, the Group is organized into business units based on type of activities and has two reportable 
segments: 
 
•  Purchase and sales of electricity; 
•  Production and sales of electricity. 
 
The segment of purchase and sales of electricity includes operations of UAB INTER RAO Lietuva, SIA INTER RAO Latvia, OU 
INTER RAO Eesti and Sp. z o.o. IRL Polska. The Group and the Company have entered into contracts for the purpose of the 
receipt  and  delivery  of  electricity  in  accordance  with  the  entity’s  expected  purchase,  sale  or  usage  requirements. 
Furthermore, the Group and the Company also perform trading sales of electricity on the power exchange. 
 
The segment of production and sales of electricity includes operations of Vydmantai wind park, UAB. Electricity is produced 
by company is purchased by Elektrum Lietuva. UAB. 
 
For management purposes, the Company is organized into a single business unit - purchase and sales of electricity, therefore 
this note does not include any disclosures on operating segments on the Company’s level as they are the same as information 
provided by the Company in these financial statements. 
 
No operating segments have been aggregated to form the above reportable operating segments. 
 
Segment performance is evaluated based on operating profit or loss and is measured consistently with profit from operations 
in the consolidated financial statements. 
 
Finance income and expenses are allocated to individual segments as the underlying instruments are managed for each 
separate segment separately. 
 
Transfer prices between operating segments are based on the prices set by the management, which management considers 
being similar to transactions with third parties.
 
 
Operating Segments 
 
The following tables present revenue, expenses, profit and certain asset and liability information regarding the reportable 
operating segments: 
 

Group 
Year  ended  31  December 
2021 

 

Electricity 
purchases and 
sales 

Electricity 
production 
and sales 

Total 
Segments 

Unallocated 
items 

Consolidated 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Revenue 

 

 

 

 

 

 

External customers 

 

332,183 

2,156 

334,339 

- 

334,339 

Total revenue 

 

332,183 

2,156 

334,339 

- 

334,339 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Results 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Depreciation  and  amortisation 
(including rights-of-use assets) 

 

349 

1,042 

1,391 

- 

1,391 

Interest expenses 

 

39 

28 

67 

- 

67 

Income tax expenses 

 

3,058 

72 

3,130 

- 

3,130 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Segment  operating 
profit/profit  from 
operations 

 

32,567 

620 

33,187 

- 

33,187 

Segment assets 

 

60,385 

8,901 

69,286 

1,335 

70,621 

Segment liabilities 

 

37,713 

1,475 

39,188 

3,346 

42,534 

 
Segment assets and liabilities are presented after elimination of intercompany assets and liabilities within the segment, which 
are eliminated on consolidation.  
 

Other disclosures 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Capital expenditure 

 

18 

- 

18 

- 

18 

 
Capital expenditure consists of additions of property, plant and equipment, intangible assets and investment properties. 
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3  Segment information (cont’d) 
 

Group 
Year  ended  31  December 
2020 

 

Electricity 
purchases and 
sales 

Electricity 
production 
and sales 

Total 
Segments 

Unallocated 
items 

Consolidated 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Revenue 

 

 

 

 

 

 

External customers 

 

156,958 

6,413 

163,371 

- 

163,371 

Total revenue 

 

156,958 

6,413 

163,371 

- 

163,371 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Results 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Depreciation  and  amortisation 
(including rights-of-use assets) 

 

390 

2,297 

2,687 

- 

2,687 

Impairment of assets 

 

- 

2,047 

2,047 

- 

2,047 

Interest expenses 

 

54 

77 

131 

- 

131 

Income tax expenses 

 

1,744 

707 

2,451 

- 

2,451 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Segment  operating 
profit/profit  from 
operations 

 

10,456 

1,537 

11,993 

- 

11,993 

Segment assets 

 

31,746 

18,491 

50,237 

15 

50,252 

Segment liabilities 

 

21,274 

2,085 

23,359 

1,927 

25,286 

 
Segment assets and liabilities are presented after elimination of intercompany assets and liabilities within the segment, which 
are eliminated on consolidation.  
 

Other disclosures 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Capital expenditure 

 

9 

86 

95 

- 

95 

 
Capital expenditure consists of additions of property, plant and equipment, intangible assets and investment properties 
 
 
 

Reconciliation of liabilities 

 

 

31 December 
2021 

31 December 
2020 

 

 

 

 

 

Segment operating liabilities 

 

 

39,188 

23,359 

Deferred tax liabilities 

 

 

3,346 

992 

Current tax payable 

 

 

- 

935 

Group total liabilities 

 

 

42,534 

25,286 

 

Reconciliation of assets 

 

 

31 December 
2021 

31 December 
2020 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Segment operating assets 

 

 

69,286 

50,237 

Prepaid income tax 

 

 

1,335 

15 

Group total assets 

 

 

70,621 

50,252 
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3  Segment information (cont’d) 
 
Geographical information 
 
The following table presents the Group’s and the Company’s geographical information on revenue based on the location of 
the customers: 

 

 

Group 

 

Company 

 

 

2021 

2020 

 

2021 

2020 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Lithuania* 

 

116,003 

134,267 

 

113,849 

127,854 

Latvia 

 

193,470 

15,737 

 

- 

- 

Estonia 

 

24,280 

10,549 

 

5,956 

5,262 

Other countries 

 

586 

2,818 

 

586 

395 

Total revenue 

 

334,339 

163,371 

 

120,391 

133,511 

*Excluding equivalent trades on power exchange  
 
Revenue from a single customer exceeding 10% of the Group’s and the Company’s revenue amounted to EUR 274 million  
and  85 million  in 2021 (in 2020 amounts to EUR 85 million respectively). 
 
The major part of the Group’s and Company’s non-current assets is located in Lithuania. Non-current assets consist of 
property, plant and equipment, investment property, right-of-use assets, intangible assets, non-current financial and other 
assets. 
 
 
 
4  Intangible assets  

Group 

Goodwill 

Operating 
license 

Other 
intangible 
assets 

Total 

Cost 

 

 

 

 

Balance as at 31 December 2019 

2,875 

11,397 

113 

14,385 

Balance as at 31 December 2020 

2,875 

11,397 

113 

14,385 

Balance as at 31 December 2021 

2,875 

11,397 

113 

14,385 

 

 

 

 

 

Accumulated amortization and impairment 

 

 

 

 

Balance as at 31 December 2019 

2,159 

10,190 

104 

12,453 

Amortization for the period 

- 

1,207 

1 

1,208 

Impairment 

716 

- 

- 

716 

Balance as at 31 December 2020 

2,875 

11,397 

105 

14,377 

Amortization for the period 

- 

- 

5 

5 

Balance as at 31 December 2021 

2,875 

11,397 

110 

14,382 

 

 

 

 

 

Net book value as at 31 December 2019 

716 

1,207 

9 

1,932 

Net book value as at 31 December 2020 

- 

- 

8 

8 

Net book value as at 31 December 2021 

- 

- 

3 

3 

   
The above intangible assets were identified during the purchase price allocation as a result of the business combination in 
2011, when the Company acquired wind power plant business operating under the entity Vydmantai wind park UAB. 
 
Operating license is a license to produce wind generated electricity with an embedded favourable fixed feed-in tariff applied 
until the end of 2020 (the license itself has no validity term although the benefit associated is temporal).  
 
Amortization  expenses  and  impairment expenses  of  intangible  assets  are  included  into  the  general  and  administrative 
expenses caption (Note 15) in the statement of comprehensive income. 
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4  Intangible assets (cont’d) 
 
Goodwill (in 2020), property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets impairment 
 
For the purpose of the impairment test, goodwill, property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets as at 31 December  
2020  were  allocated  to  the  following  cash  generating  unit  (CGU)  –  electricity  production  and  sales  business  unit  – 
Vydmantai wind park, UAB and the remaining goodwill amount was fully impaired as of 31 December 2020 as described 
below.  For  the  purpose  of  the  impairment  test,  the  property,  plant  and  equipment  and  right-of-use  assets  as  at  31 
December 2021 were allocated to the following cash generating unit (CGU) – electricity production and sales business unit 
– Vydmantai wind park, UAB.  
 
Assessment as at 31 December 2021 
 
The recoverable amount of the cash generating unit was determined based on the value in use calculation using discounted 
cash flow projections based on the 15 years financial forecasts prepared by the management. The pre-tax discount rate 
of 10,7 % (post tax – 9.1%) was applied. Defined forecast period represents the estimated remaining useful life of the 
wind power plants. The following significant assumptions were used in the assessment of the value in use in 2021 and 
2020:  
 
1)  the quantity of electricity produced, which further depends on (i) the availability of wind turbines (it is expected that 
availability will not  fluctuate significantly over the first half of  the forecasted  period  and in  the  remaining  period  will 
decrease due to  a normal wear  and  tear of  the  equipment, regular maintenance of  which  is  performed) and (ii) the 
efficiency of wind turbines, depending on the wind speed (efficiency level in a long run is forecasted at the slightly lower 
than historical level due to a rather high level of unpredictability). 
2)  the electricity sales price - feeded-in tariff ended in 2020 and the company signed new sales contract, based on which 
electricity price is fixed till 2023, inclusive. In the following years, electricity will be sold at market price, which is expected 
to increase over the period by 3% growth rate annually. Such forecasts are based on the Group’s management estimate, 
since the Group is one of the most experienced players in this market and there is no reliable long-term external prognosis. 
3)  The company has maintenance agreement with the wind power maintenance service provider, therefore believes, that 
in case of breakdown timely and professional service will be received. Forecast of maintenance costs is based on actual 
maintenance costs of 2021 and is expected to increase by 3% growth rate annually until 2036. Management of the Group 
expects that after the end of the term of current maintenance agreement, the maintenance costs will remain at similar 
level (considering annual growth as mentioned before), as the maintenance costs level is considered to be sufficient for 
wind power plants to operate. 
4)  discount  rate  was  estimated  considering  the  objective  market,  industry  and  specific  for  CGU  circumstances  (also 
considering a risk premium in respect of uncertainties associated with the electricity price fluctuations). 
 
 As a result of the analysis above, no impairment was recognised or reversal of previously recognized property, plant and 
equipment impairment in2021. 
 
The management believes that in the long run (considering historical trends) the availability and efficiency levels of turbines 
will impact the quantities of the generated electricity in the way that the quantities will be stable in the first half of the 
forecasted period and will gradually decrease in the remaining period due to natural ageing of equipment without other 
significant changes. Therefore, sensitivity analysis for this element was not performed.  
 
The discount rate is calculated from weighted average cost of capital (post tax) – WACC (9.1% as at 31 December 2021). 
Considering decreased level of interest rates in world markets, it is not expected to change materially upwards in the near 
future, therefore sensitivity analysis was not performed. As well there is no expected downwards change in discount rate, 
although this would result in positive impact.  
 
Electricity price forecast is related to significant assumption and if more conservative assumption would be applied, i.e. 
after the year 2024 electricity price would be decreased by 2 % (comparing to the current price assumption used by 
management in the estimation) and all other assumptions remained constant, the carrying value of property plant and 
equipment would be additionally impaired by EUR 160 thousand. If electricity price from 2024 would be increased by 2 % 
(comparing  to  the  current  price  assumption  used  by  the  management  in  the  estimation)  and  all  other  assumptions 
remained constant, impairment amount of property plant and equipment recognized in prior periods would decrease by 
EUR 353 thousand. 
 
If maintenance cost would be increased by 10 % in the forecasted period and all other assumptions remained constant, 
impairment amount of property plant and equipment would increase by EUR 245 thousand. If maintenance cost would be 
decreased by 10 % in the forecasted period and all other assumptions remained constant, the impairment amount of 
property plant and equipment recognized in prior periods would decrease by EUR 244 thousand. 
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4  Intangible assets (cont’d) 
 
Assessment as at 31 December 2020 
 
The recoverable amount of the cash generating unit  was determined based on the value in use calculation using 
discounted cash flow projections based on the 16 years financial forecasts prepared by the management. The pre-tax 
discount rate of 9.5 % (post tax – 8.1%) was applied. Defined forecast period represents the estimated remaining 
useful life of the wind power plants. The following significant assumptions were used in the assessment of the value 
in use in 2020:  
 
1)  the quantity of electricity produced, which further depends on (i) the availability of wind turbines (it is expected that 
availability will not fluctuate significantly over the first half of the forecasted period and in the remaining period will 
decrease due to a normal wear and tear of the equipment, regular maintenance of which is performed) and (ii) the 
efficiency of wind turbines, depending on the wind speed (efficiency level in a long run is forecasted at the slightly 
lower than historical level due to a rather high level of unpredictability). 
2)  the electricity sales price - faded-in tariff ended in 2020 and the company signed new sales contract, based on which 
electricity price is fixed till 2023, inclusive. In the following years, electricity will be sold at market price, which is 
expected to increase over the period by 3% growth rate annually. Such forecasts are based on the Group’s management 
estimate, since the Group is one of the most experienced players in this market and there is no reliable long-term 
external prognosis. 
3)  The company has maintenance agreement with the wind power producer, therefore believes, that in case of breakdown 
timely and professional service will be received. Forecast of maintenance costs is based on actual maintenance costs 
of 2020 and is expected to increase by 3% growth rate annually until 2031. Management of the Group expects that 
after  the  end  of  the  term  of  current  maintenance  agreement,  the  maintenance  costs  will  remain  at  similar  level 
(considering annual growth as mentioned before), as the maintenance costs level is considered to be sufficient for 
wind power plants to operate. 
4)  discount  rate  was  estimated  considering  the  objective  market,  industry  and  specific  for  CGU  circumstances  (also 
considering a risk premium in respect of uncertainties associated with the electricity price fluctuations). 
 
In 2020, as a result of the analysis above, an impairment for goodwill and property, plant and equipment was identified 
amounting to EUR 716 thousand and EUR 1,331 thousand, respectively (Note 4 and 5). 
 
The management believes that in the long run (considering historical trends) the availability and efficiency levels of 
turbines will impact the quantities of the generated electricity in the way that the quantities will be stable in the first 
half of the forecasted period and will gradually decrease in the remaining period due to natural ageing of equipment 
without other significant changes. Therefore, sensitivity analysis for this element was not performed.  
 
The discount rate is calculated from weighted average cost of capital (post tax) – WACC (8.1% as at 31 December 
2020). Considering decreased level of interest rates in world markets, it is not expected to change upwards in the near 
future, therefore sensitivity analysis was not performed. As well there is no expected downwards change in discount 
rate, although this would result in positive impact.  
 
Electricity price forecast is related to significant assumption and if more conservative assumption would be applied, i.e. 
after the year 2024 electricity price would be decreased by 2 % (comparing to the current price assumption used by 
management in the estimation) and all other assumptions remained constant, the carrying value of property plant and 
equipment  would  be  additionally  impaired  by  EUR  1,197  thousand  and  impairment  of  goodwill  would  remain 
unchanged. If electricity price from 2024 would be increased by 2 % (comparing to the current price assumption used 
by the management in the estimation) and all other assumptions remained constant, the carrying value of the property 
plant and equipment would not be impaired and impairment of goodwill would decrease to EUR 660 thousand. 
 
If maintenance cost would be increased by 10 % in the forecasted period and all other assumptions remained constant, 
impairment amount of property plant and equipment would increase by EUR 245 thousand and impairment of goodwill 
remain unchanged. If maintenance cost would be decreased by 10 % in the forecasted period and all other assumptions 
remained constant, the impairment amount of property plant and equipment would decrease by EUR 244 thousand 
and impairment of goodwill remain unchanged.   
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5  Property, plant and equipment and right of use of assets  
 
Movement of property, plant and equipment in 2021 and 2020 is presented below: 
 

Group 

 

Buildings 
and 
structures 

Office 
premises 

Machinery 
and 
equipment 

Other 
property 
plant 
and 
equipme
nt 

Total 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Cost 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Balance as at 31 December 2019 

 

3,850 

1,132 

21,424 

85 

26,491 

Additions 

 

- 

- 

86 

9 

95 

Write-offs and disposals 

 

- 

- 

- 

(4) 

(4) 

Balance as at 31 December 2020 

 

3,850 

1,132 

21,510 

90 

26,582 

Additions 

 

- 

- 

- 

23 

23 

Write-offs and disposals 

 

- 

- 

- 

(11) 

(11) 

Balance as at 31 December 2021 

 

3,850 

1,132 

21,510 

102 

26,594 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Accumulated depreciation 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Balance as at 31 December 2019 

 

1,452 

585 

7,963 

40 

10,040 

Impairment 

 

200 

- 

1,131 

- 

1,331 

Depreciation for the period 

 

165 

76 

918 

           
22 

                 1,181 

Write-offs and disposals 

 

- 

- 

- 

(4) 

(4) 

Balance as at 31 December 2020 

 

1,817 

661 

10,012 

58 

12,548 

Depreciation for the period 

 

150 

75 

842 

                                     
21 

                  1,088 

Write-offs and disposals 

 

 

 

 

(11) 

(11) 

Balance as at 31 December 2021 

 

1,967 

736 

10,854 

68 

13,625 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Net  book  value  as  at  31 
December 2019 

 

2,398 

547 

13,461 

45 

16,451 

Net  book  value  as  at  31 
December 2020 

 

2,033 

471 

   11,498              

32 

14,034 

Net  book  value  as  at  31 
December 2021 

 

1,883 

396 

       10,656         34 

 

12,969 
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5  Property, plant and equipment and right of use of assets (cont’d) 
 

Company 
 

Office premises 

Other property plant 
and equipment 

Total 

Cost 

 

 

 

Balance as at 31 December 2019 

1,132 

21 

1,153 

Additions 

- 

9 

9 

Write-offs and disposals 

- 

(4) 

(4) 

Balance as at 31 December 2020 

1,132 

26 

1,158 

Additions 

- 

18 

18 

Write-offs and disposals 

- 

(11) 

(11) 

Balance as at 31 December 2021 

1,132 

33 

1,165 

 

 

 

 

Accumulated depreciation 

 

 

 

Balance as at 31 December 2019 

585 

5 

590 

Depreciation for the period 

76 

10 

86 

Write-offs and disposals 

- 

(4) 

(4) 

Balance as at 31 December 2020 

661 

11 

672 

Depreciation for the period 

75 

12 

87 

Write-offs and disposals 

- 

(11) 

(11) 

Balance as at 31 December 2021 

736 

12 

748 

 

 

 

 

Net book value as at 31 December 2019 

547 

16 

563 

Net book value as at 31 December 2020 

471 

15 

486 

Net book value as at 31 December 2021 

396 

21 

417 

 
The depreciation charge of the Group’s and the Company’s property, plant and equipment for the year 2021 amounts 
to  EUR  1,088  thousand  and  EUR  87  thousand,  respectively  (2020  amounts  to  EUR  1,181  thousand  and 
EUR 86 thousand, respectively). These  amounts  are  included  into  the  general  and  administrative  expenses  in  the 
statement of comprehensive income except for the amount of EUR 1,028 thousand in 2021 (EUR 1,083 thousand in 
2020), which is included in the cost of sales in the Group’s statement of comprehensive income. 
 
Impairment  of  the  Group’s  property,  plant  and  equipment  for  the  year  2020  is  included  into  the  general  and 
administrative expenses  caption  (Note 15)  in  the  Group’s statement  of  comprehensive  income.  The  methods  and 
assumptions used in the management’s estimation of impairment of the property, plant and equipment are disclosed 
in Note 4. No additional impairment or impairment reversal was identified as at 31 December 2021. 
 
There were no material fully depreciated but still in use property, plant and equipment in the Group and the Company 
as at 31 December 2021 and 2020. 
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5  Property, plant and equipment and right of use of assets (cont’d) 
 
Right-of-use assets 
 
Group 

 

Office 
premises 

Motor 
vehicles 

 
Land 

 
Total 

As at 31 December 2019 

69 

493 

540 

1,102 

 

Additions  

100 

200 

- 

300 

Depreciation expense 

(53) 

(212) 

(36) 

(301) 

As at 31 December 2020 

116 

481 

504 

1,101 

 

 

 

 

 

Additions  

- 

287 

- 

287 

Depreciation expense 

(47) 

(215) 

(36) 

(298) 

Write-offs and disposals 

- 

(39) 

- 

(39) 

As at 31 December 2021 

69 

514 

468 

1,051 

 
The Group has leased plots of land on which it operates wind turbines. The initial cost of land leased is equal to the 
present value of future lease payments. For these purposes the applicable lease period was estimated at 20 years and 
the discount rate applied was 4.8%. Depreciation of leased land is calculated over the minimum lease period, because 
the lease period represents useful life of leased land. 
 
Company 

 

Motor vehicles 

Total 
 

As at 31 December 2019 

412 

412 

 

 

 

Additions  

200 

200 

Depreciation expense 

(185) 

(185) 

As at 31 December 2020 

427 

427 

 

 

 

Additions  

252 

252 

Depreciation expense 

(192) 

(192) 

Write-offs and disposals 

(39) 

(39) 

As at 31 December 2020 

448 

448 

 
 
The depreciation amounts in respect of Right-of-use assets are included into the general and administrative expenses 
in the statement of comprehensive income of the Group and the Company, except for the amount of EUR 36 thousand, 
which is included in the cost of sales in the Group’s statement of comprehensive income. 
 
6  Other non-current and current financial assets 
 
Other non-current financial assets: 

 

Group 

 

Company 

 

As at 31 
December 
2021 

As at 31 
December 
2020 

 

As at 31 
December 
2021 

As at 31 
December 
2020 

Non-current receivables 

4 

30 

 

- 

- 

Non-current guarantees (deposits) 

241 

152 

 

- 

- 

Other non-current financial assets 

6 

41 

 

6 

41 

 

251 

223 

 

6 

41 
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6  Other non-current and current financial assets (cont’d) 
 
As at 31 December 2021 and as at 31 December 2020 Group’s  non-current guarantees (deposits) consist mainly of 
guarantee deposits for clearing house and electricity market operator in Poland. 
 
Other current financial assets: 
 
As at 31 December 2021 under other current financial assets the Group and the Company accounted for security 
deposits paid, that will be received back in cash, in total amount of EUR 2,387 and EUR 2,293 thousand, respectively 
(EUR 258 thousand and EUR 195 thousand as at 31 December 2020). 
 
7  Trade receivables 
 
As at 31 December 2021 and 2020 the Group‘s and the Company’s trade receivables consisted of receivables for 
supplied electricity. 

 

Group 

 

Company 

 

As at 31 
December 
2021 

As at 31 
December 
2020 

 

As at 31 
December 
2021 

As at 31 
December 
2020 

Trade receivables, gross 

18,126 

8,300 

 

12,352 

5,469 

Less:  allowance  for  doubtful  trade 
receivables 

(78) 

(131) 

 

- 

- 

 

18,048 

8,169 

 

12,352 

5,469 

 
As at 31 December 2021 the Group had EUR 78 thousand of doubtful receivables. As at 31 December 2020 the Group 
had EUR 131 thousand of doubtful receivables. 
 

Group 

Trade receivables neither 
past due nor impaired 

Trade receivables past due but not 
impaired 

 

Less than 
30 days 

30 – 60 
days 

More than 
60 days 

Total 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2021 

17,819   

229 

- 

- 

18,048 

2020 

   8,151 

18 

- 

- 

8,169 

  

Company 

Trade receivables neither 
past due nor impaired 

Trade receivables past due but not 
impaired 

 

Less than 
30 days 

30 – 60 
days 

More than 
60 days 

Total 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2021 

12,123 

229 

- 

- 

12,352 

2020 

   5,451 

18 

- 

- 

5,469 

 
Trade receivables are non-interest bearing and are generally collectible on 2-30 days terms. 
 
8  Reserves 
Legal reserve 
 
Legal reserve is a compulsory reserve under the Lithuanian legislation. Annual transfers of not less than 5% of net 
profit are compulsory until the reserve reaches 10% of the share capital. 
 
As at 31 December 2021 and 2020 the Company’s legal reserve was fully formed.  
 
In  2021  the  Company’s  subsidiary  Vydmantai wind  park,  UAB  made  a  transfer  to  legal  reserve in  the  amount  of 
EUR 68 thousand, (EUR 104 thousand in 2020). 
 
Cash flow hedge reserve 
 
This reserve represents the effective part of the change in fair value of the derivative financial instruments (electricity 
swap contracts), used by the Group and the Company to secure the cash flows from electricity price change risk, at 
the reporting date. The reserve is accounted for according to the requirements of IFRS 9 (Note 10).  
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9   Lease liabilities 
 
The Company concluded several lease contracts for vehicles whereas the Group concluded several lease contracts for 
vehicles, office premises and land plots. The terms of lease do not include restrictions of the activities of the Group 
and the Company in connection with the dividends, additional borrowings or additional lease agreements.  
 
Set out below are the carrying amounts of lease liabilities and the movements during the period: 
 

 

Group 

 

Company 

 

2021 

2020 

 

2021 

2020 

 

 

 

 

 

 

At the beginning of the year 

1,144 

1,141 

 

394 

375 

Additions 

287 

300 

 

252 

200 

Write-offs and disposals 

- 

- 

 

- 

- 

Accretion of interest 

46 

43 

 

12 

6 

Payments 

(364) 

(340) 

 

(215) 

(187) 

At the end of the year 

1,113 

1,144 

 

443 

394 

Current 

273 

234 

 

159 

123 

Non-current 

840 

910 

 

284 

271 

 
The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in Note 20. 
 
The following are the amounts recognized in profit or loss: 

 

Group 

 

Company 

 

2021 

2020 

 

2021 

2020 

Depreciation expense of right-of-use assets 

298 

301 

 

192 

185 

Interest expense on lease liabilities 

46 

43 

 

12 

6 

Total amount recognized in profit or loss 

344 

344 

 

204 

191 

 
 
Future minimal lease payments under the above mentioned lease contracts as at 31 December 2021 and 2020 are as 
follows: 

 

 

Group 

 

Company 

 

 

As at 31 
December 
2021 

As at 31 
December 
2020 

 

As at 31 
December 
2021 

As at 31 
December 
2020 

Within one year 

313 

332 

 

170 

129 

From one to five years 

664 

679 

 

304 

279 

After five years 

319 

332 

 

- 

- 

Total lease obligations 

1,296 

1,343 

 

474 

408 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Interest 

(183) 

(199) 

 

(31) 

(14) 

Present value of lease obligations 

1,113 

1,144 

 

443 

394 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Lease obligations are accounted for as: 

 

 

 

 

 

   - current 

273 

234 

 

159 

123 

   - non-current 

840 

910 

 

284 

271 

 
Lease obligations are denominated in EUR mainly. 
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35 
10  Derivative financial instruments 

 

Group 

 

Company 

 

As at 31 
December 
2021 

As at 31 
December 
2020 

 

As at 31 
Decembe
r 2021 

As at 31 
December 
2020 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Derivative  financial  instruments,  non-current  part  –  assets 
(hedge) 

- 

118 

 

- 

118 

Derivative  financial  instruments,  non-current  part  –  assets 
(non-hedge) 

- 

- 

 

- 

- 

Derivative financial instruments, current part – assets (hedge) 

7,389 

807 

 

7,389 

807 

Derivative financial  instruments,  current  part  –  assets (non-
hedge) 

3,843 

792 

 

1,606 

505 

Accounts receivable for derivative financial instruments 

- 

- 

 

- 

- 

Derivative financial  instruments,  non-current  part  - liabilities 
(hedge) 

- 

- 

 

- 

- 

Derivative  financial  instruments,  current  part  -  liabilities 
(hedge) 

(9,180) 

(2,464) 

 

(9,180) 

(2,464) 

Derivative financial instruments, current part - liabilities (non-
hedge) 

(1,229) 

- 

 

(1,229) 

- 

Accounts payable for derivative financial instruments (Note 11) 

(7,745) 

(133) 

 

(7,745) 

(133) 

Total derivative financial instruments and payables for 
derivatives  

(6,922) 

(880) 

 

(9,159) 

(1,167) 

 
 
In 2021 and 2020, the Company and the Group entered into electricity swap contacts for the purposes of future cash 
flow  hedge  in  relation  to  electricity  sales  and  electricity  purchase  transactions  (322.5  mWh  (sales)  /  255,9  mWh 
(purchases)  and  602,518  mWh  (sales)/  /  231,600  mWh  (purchases),  were  hedged  with  derivative  contracts  with 
maturity within one year as of the year end 2021 and 2020, respectively).  
 
The fair value of derivative financial instruments is measured by management at each reporting date. The change in 
fair value of the effective part of electricity derivatives is recognised in other comprehensive income and the change in 
fair value of the non-effective part of electricity derivative contracts as well as change in fair value or hedging result of 
other derivative financial instruments not designated as hedge are recognised directly in finance income (costs) in the 
statement of comprehensive income.  
 
 
The fair values of electricity derivative contracts of the Group are presented below: 

 

 

As at 31  
December 2021 

 

As at 31  
December 2020 

 

 

Assets 

Liabilities 

 

Assets 

Liabilities 

Electricity derivative contracts  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Fair value of hedge contracts (level 1) 

 

146 

(2,169) 

 

925 

(2,464) 

Fair value of non-hedge contracts (level 1) 

 

3,843 

(1,229) 

 

792 

- 

Fair value of hedge contracts (level 2) 

 

7,243 

(7,011) 

 

- 

- 

Fair value of non-hedge contracts (level 2) 

 

- 

- 

 

- 

- 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
The fair values of electricity derivative contract of the Company are presented below: 
 

 

 

As at 31  
December 2021 

 

As at 31  
December 2020 

 

 

Assets 

Liabilities 

 

Assets 

Liabilities 

Electricity derivative contracts  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Fair value of hedge contracts (level 1) 

 

146 

(2,169) 

 

925 

(2,464) 

Fair value of non-hedge contracts (level 1) 

 

1,606 

(1,229) 

 

505 

- 

Fair value of hedge contracts (level 2) 

 

7,243 

(7,011) 

 

- 

- 

Fair value of non-hedge contracts (level 2) 

 

- 

- 

 

- 

- 
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10 Derivative financial instruments (cont’d) 
 
Market price input is related to significant judgement for the fair value calculations of derivative financial instruments 
where fair value is assessed by 2
nd
 fair value hierarchy level.  If market price would be decreased by 1 % (comparing 
to the market price used by management) and all other inputs remained constant, the derivative financial assets would 
decrease by EUR 281 thousand and liabilities would increase by EUR 244 thousand, increasing cash flow hedge reserve 
by the EUR 525 thousand of the Group and the Company. If market price would be increased by 1 % (comparing to 
the current market price used by management) and all other inputs remained constant, the derivative financial assets 
would increase by EUR 293 thousand and liabilities would decrease by EUR 231 thousand, decreasing cash flow hedge 
reserve by the EUR 525 thousand of the Group and the Company. 
 
The following table summarizes amounts recognised in other comprehensive income during the period and in the 
statement of comprehensive income: 
 

 

 

Group 

 

Company 

 

 

As at 31  
December 
2021 

As at 31 
December 
2020 

 

As at 31  
December 
2021 

As at 31 
December 
2020 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Recognised: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Derecognition of interest rate swap contact 

 

- 

(128) 

 

- 

- 

Gain  (loss)  on  electricity  derivative 
contracts 

 

(27,657) 

(277) 

 

(8,869) 

789 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Recognised  in  the  statement  of 
comprehensive income  
-  as revenue: 
Realized  part  of  electricity  swap  contracts 
designated  as  hedging  instruments  for  sales 
transactions 

(11,388) 

1,977 

 

(15,382) 

4,814 

 

-  as cost of sales 
Realized  part  of  electricity  swap  contracts 
designated  as  hedging  instruments  for  purchase 
transactions 

- 

(2,395) 

 

- 

(2,395) 

 

-  as  financial  income 
(expenses): 
Realized part of electricity derivative contracts not 
designated as hedging instruments 

(17,855) 

2,421 

 

6,892 

386 

 

Derecognition of interest rate swap contact 

- 

146 

 

- 

- 

 

Unrealized part of electricity derivative contracts not 
designated as hedging instruments 

1,837 

63 

 

(128) 

473 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Recognised in other comprehensive income: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Derecognition of interest rate swap contact 

- 

(128) 

 

- 

- 

 

Fair  value  of  outstanding  cash  flow  hedge 
instruments (electricity) 

(1,791) 

(1,539) 

 

(1,791) 

(1,539) 

 

Transfer  to  profit  (loss)  on  execution  of  hedged 
transactions (electricity) 

1,539 

(950) 

 

1,539 

(950) 

 

 
 
11  Trade payables 

 

Group 

 

Company 

 

As at 31 
December 
2021 

As at 31 
December 
2020 

 

As at 31 
December 
2021 

As at 31 
December 
2020 

Payables to electricity suppliers 

16,401 

17,598 

 

12,196 

9,305 

Payables to other suppliers  

7,944 

184 

 

7,940 

144 

 

24,345 

17,782 

 

20,136 

9,449 

 
Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 20-day terms. 
 






[image: ]:@ INTERRAO ( ..,
LIETUVA









 
AB INTER RAO Lietuva, company code 126119913, A.Tumėno str. 4, Vilnius, Lithuania 
CONSOLIDATED AND COMPANY’S FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 December 2021 
(all amounts are in EUR thousand unless otherwise stated) 
 

 
37 
 
 
12  Other current liabilities 
 

 

Group 

 

Company 

 

As at 31 
December 
2021 

As at 31 
December 
2020 

 

As at 31 
December 
2021 

As at 31 
December 
2020 

VAT payable 

2,269 

1,105 

 

1,515 

724 

Employment related liabilities 

169 

147 

 

134 

118 

Other current liabilities 

871 

572 

 

5,085 

1,940 

 

3,309 

1,824 

 

6,734 

2,782 

 
 
13  Revenue from contracts with customers 

 

 

Group 

 

Company 

 

 

2021 

2020 

 

2021 

2020 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Revenue from sales of electricity 

 

332,183 

156,958 

 

120,391 

133,511 

Revenue from produced electricity sales 

 

2,156 

6,413 

 

- 

- 

 

 

334,339 

163,371 

 

120,391 

133,511 

 
The total Group’s revenue increased due to the increase of volume and electricity market price, which caused the 
higher volumes and revenue amounts from electricity traded.  
The decrease in the Company‘s revenue compared to 2020 was due to  the decrease in the volume of electricity sold. 
 
Disaggregation of Revenue from contracts with customers  
 

 

 

Group 

 

Company 

 

 

2021 

2020 

 

2021 

2020 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Revenue from sales of electricity to end users 

 

66,190 

58,583 

 

48,381 

46,208 

Revenue from sales of electricity to power exchange 
(excluding equivalent trades on power change) 

 

268,149 

104,788 

 

72,010 

87,303 

 

 

334,339 

163,371 

 

120,391 

133,511 

 
14  Cost of sales 
 

 

 

Group 

 

Company 

 

 

2021 

2020 

 

2021 

2020 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Cost of purchase of electricity 

 

287,392 

136,012 

 

113,362 

113,914 

Transmission network service cost 

 

2,895 

2,560 

 

1,178 

2,349 

Depreciation on wind park 

 

1,028 

1,083 

 

- 

- 

Other expenses* 

 

322 

476 

 

- 

- 

 

 

291,673 

140,131 

 

114,540 

116,263 

 
* Other expenses mainly comprise maintenance of wind park and land right-of-use-assets (land) depreciation. 
 
Cost of purchase of electricity increased due to the increase of volume and electricity market. 
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15  General and administrative expenses  

 

 

Group 

 

Company 

 

 

2021 

2020 

 

2021 

2020 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Wages, salaries and social security 

 

4,689 

3,836 

 

4,165 

3,190 

Depreciation  and  amortization  of  property,  plant, 
equipment and intangible assets 

 

101 

1,267 

 

87 

86 

Depreciation of right–of-use asset 

 

262 

301 

 

192 

185 

Support (charity) 

 

1,181 

1,179 

 

1,149 

1,158 

Electricity selling expenses * 

 

1,199 

785 

 

159 

253 

Consulting services expenses 

 

341 

316 

 

183 

168 

Transport expenses 

 

179 

147 

 

157 

131 

Professional services expenses 

 

343 

513 

 

343 

513 

Business trips 

 

5 

20 

 

5 

20 

Repair and maintenance 

 

41 

56 

 

34 

38 

Tax expenses 

 

121 

99 

 

53 

36 

Bank services ** 

 

434 

43 

 

48 

32 

Rent 

 

12 

7 

 

- 

- 

Trainings and seminars 

 

37 

35 

 

37 

35 

Representation expenses 

 

42 

46 

 

42 

42 

Impairment  of  goodwill  and  property,  plant  and 
equipment (Note 4, 5) 

 

- 

2,047 

 

- 

- 

Other general and administrative expenses 

 

          492 

550 

 

466 

382 

 

 

9,479 

11,247 

 

7,120 

6,269 

 
*The increase is due to higher electricity sales volumes 
** The increase is expenses was due to changes in financial institutions used and their commissions. 
 
16  Finance income and expenses 

 

 

Group 

 

Company 

 

 

2021 

2020 

 

2021 

2020 

17  Finance income 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Fair value change of derivatives (non-hedge)  

 

1,837 

63 

 

- 

473 

Realised  gain  on  electricity  derivatives  (non-
hedge)* 

 

- 

2,421 

 

6,892 

386 

Derecognition of interest rate swap contact 

 

- 

146 

 

- 

- 

Dividend income 

 

2 

3 

 

2,107 

807 

Other  

 

56 

217 

 

21 

206 

 

 

1,895 

2,850 

 

9,020 

1,872 

Finance expenses 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Fair value change of derivatives (non-hedge) 

 

- 

- 

 

128 

- 

Realised loss on electricity derivatives (non-hedge)* 

 

17,855 

- 

 

- 

- 

Interest expenses 

 

22 

88 

 

22 

41 

Lease liability interest expenses 

 

45 

43 

 

12 

6 

Other 

 

33 

54 

 

32 

43 

 

 

17,955 

185 

 

194 

90 

 
*Net realized loss on electricity derivative non-hedge contracts of the Group comprise of gain amounting to EUR 12 million and loss 
EUR 30 million in 2021. Net realized gain on electricity non-hedge derivative contracts of the Company comprise of gain amounting 
to EUR 37 million and loss EUR 30 million in 2021. 
Increase in realised loss on electricity derivative contracts (non-hedge) of the Group in 2021 relates to significant increase in volume 
of trading transactions in electricity commodities instruments that are accounted for as derivative instruments for trading under IFRS 
9 and a sizeable change in fair value of contracts  
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17 Income tax 
 

 

 

Group 

 

Company 

 

 

2021 

2020 

 

2021 

2020 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Components  of  income  tax 
expenses 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Current year income tax expenses 

 

814 

2,567 

 

484 

2,033 

Deferred income tax expenses (benefit) 

 

2,354 

(116) 

 

35 

(71) 

Income  tax  expenses  charged  to 
statement of comprehensive income 

 

3,168 

2,451 

 

519 

1,962 

 
As at 31 December 2021 and 2020 the deferred income tax asset and liability was accounted for at 15 %-25% and 
consisted of: 

Group 

 

 

As at 31 
December 2021 

As at 31 
December 2020 

Deferred income tax asset 

 

 

 

 

Tax  deductible  goodwill  recognized  upon  merger 
including impairment                                          a) 

 

 

845 

973 

Less: valuation allowance 

 

 

- 

- 

Deferred income tax asset, net of valuation allowance 

 

 

845 

973 

 

 

 

 

 

Deferred income tax liability 

 

 

 

 

Electricity derivative contracts (non-hedge) 

 

 

(458) 

(130) 

Depreciation differences 

 

 

(1,684) 

(1,807) 

Fair value change of investment property 

 

 

(83) 

(28) 

Deferred  tax  arising  in  consolidated  accounts  from 
undistributed retained earnings of subsidiaries 

 

 

(1,966) 

- 

Deferred income tax liability 

 

 

(4,191) 

(1,965) 

 

 

 

 

 

Deferred income tax, net 

 

 

(3,346) 

(992) 

 

 

 

 

 

Presented in the statement of financial position as follows: 

 

 

 

 

Deferred income tax asset 

 

 

- 

- 

Deferred income tax liability 

 

 

(3,346) 

(992) 
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17 Income tax (cont’d) 
 

Company 

 

 

As at 31 
December 2021 

As at 31 
December 2020 

 

 

 

 

 

Deferred income tax asset 

 

 

- 

- 

 

 

 

 

 

Deferred income tax liability 

 

 

 

 

Fair  value  change  of  investment 
property 

 

 

(83) 

(28) 

Electricity  derivative  contracts 
(non-hedge) 

 

 

(56) 

(76) 

Deferred income tax liability 

 

 

(139) 

(104) 

 

 

 

 

 

Deferred income tax, net 

 

 

(139) 

(104) 

 

 

 

 

 

Presented in the statement of financial position as follows: 

 

 

 

 

Deferred income tax asset 

 

 

- 

- 

Deferred income tax liability 

 

 

139 

104 

 
a) As a result of the merger of Vydmantai wind park, UAB and UAB IRL Wind in 2013 in accordance with tax legislation 
the Group company Vydmantai wind park, UAB qualifies for recognition of tax deductible goodwill, which may be 
amortized per 15 years starting the merger date, the amount of such goodwill was estimated as EUR 12,477 thousand. 
Difference between the tax and financial goodwill created a deferred tax asset (which was assessed as recoverable) in 
the amount of EUR 1,614 thousand which was recognized in the statement of comprehensive income upon merger. 
The change represents amortisation of tax goodwill during the year. 
 
 
 
The changes of temporary differences before and after tax effect in the Group were as follows:  
 
 

Group 

Balance as at 
31 December 
2020 

Recognised in 
other 
comprehensive 
income 

Recognised in 
profit or loss 

Balance as at 
31 December 
2021 

 

 

 

 

 

Fair values change of investment property 

(188) 

- 

(364) 

(552) 

Electricity derivative contracts non-hedge 

(813) 

- 

  (1,393) 

(2,206) 

Tax deductible goodwill recognized upon merger 

6,488 

- 

(855) 

5,633 

Depreciation differences 

(12,095) 

- 

868 

(11,227) 

Retained earnings of subsidiaries* 

- 

- 

(7,864 

)             (7,864) 

Total temporary differences 

(6,608) 

- 

(9, 608) 

(16,216) 

 

 

 

 

 

Deferred income tax, net 

(992) 

- 

(2,354) 

(3,346) 

 
*this element is subject to 20/80 taxation   
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17   Income tax (cont’d) 
 

Group 

Balance as at 
31 December 
2019 

Recognised in 
other 
comprehensive 
income 

Recognised in 
profit or loss 

Balance as at 
31 December 
2020 

 

 

 

 

 

Fair values change of investment property 

(188) 

- 

- 

(188) 

Electricity derivative contracts  

(952) 

2,489 

 (2,350) 

(813) 

Intangible assets 

(1,206) 

- 

1,206 

- 

Tax deductible goodwill recognized upon merger* 

6,628 

- 

(140) 

6,488 

Depreciation differences* 

(14,157) 

- 

2,062 

             (12,095) 

Cash flow hedge 

(129) 

129 

- 

 - 

Total temporary differences 

(10,004) 

2,618 

778 

(6,608) 

 

 

 

 

 

Deferred income tax, net 

(1,501) 

393 

116 

(992) 

 
*including impairment 
 
The reported amount of income tax expenses attributable to the year can be reconciled to the amount of income tax 
expenses that would result from applying statutory income tax rate to pre-tax income as follows: 
 

 

 

Group 

 

Company 

 

 

2021 

2020 

 

2021 

2020 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Profit (loss) before tax 

 

17,513 

14,660 

 

7,958 

12,775 

Income tax expenses (15%) 

 

2,626 

2,199 

 

1,194 

1,916 

Different tax rates applicable to the earnings of subsidiaries 

 

731 

- 

 

- 

- 

Permanent differences 

 

(189) 

252 

 

(675) 

46 

Income  tax  expenses  charged  to  statement  of 
comprehensive income 

 

3,168 

2,451 

 

519 

1,962 

 
There is no deferred income tax asset not recognized in financial statements of the Group and the Company as at 31 
December 2021 and 2020 with no expiry date. 
 
 
18  Basic and diluted earnings per share (EUR) 
 
Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing the net profit attributable to the shareholders by the weighted 
average number of ordinary shares issued and paid during the year. The Group has no diluting instruments; therefore, 
basic and diluted earnings per share are equal.  
 
Calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share is presented below: 

Group 

 

 

2021 

2020 

 

 

 

 

 

Net profit attributable to the shareholders 

 

 

14,345,000 

12,209,000 

 

 

 

 

 

Number of shares, opening balance 

 

 

20,000,000 

20,000,000 

Number of shares, closing balance 

 

 

20,000,000 

20,000,000 

Weighted average number of shares 

 

 

20,000,000 

20,000,000 

Basic and diluted earnings per share (EUR) 

 

 

0.72 

0.61 
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19  Dividends per share (EUR) 

 

 

2021 

2020 

Company 
 

 

 

 

Approved dividends (EUR)*  

 

11,000,000 

14,000,000 

Number of shares (units)** 

 

20,000,000 

20,000,000 

 

 

 

 

Approved dividends per share (EUR) 

 

0.55 

0.7 

 
* The year when the dividends are approved. 
** At the date when dividends are approved.  
 
 
20  Financial assets and liabilities and risk management 
 
Credit risk 
 
The Group and the Company has a fairly significant concentration of trading counterparties. Trade receivables from the 
main three customers of the Group and the Company amounted to approximately 1/3 of the total Group’s and Company’s 
trade receivables as at 31 December 2021 and 2020. The Group’s and the Company’s procedures are in force to ensure 
on a permanent basis that sales are made to customers with an appropriate credit history, which mainly are the state 
owned and financially stable private entities, and the majority of transactions is carried out through the market intermediary 
- electricity exchange. Therefore, the Group’s and the Company’s management considers credit risk as immaterial. 
 
The maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying amount of each financial asset. Therefore, the Group’s 
and the Company’s management considers that its maximum exposure is reflected by the amount of trade receivables, 
contract assets and other financial assets less realisation allowance, recognised at the reporting date, if any. Cash is placed 
in financial institutions, which are considered to have minimal risk of default. 
 
Price risk 
 
The Group and the Company are exposed to the electricity price volatility in the market. The risk is mitigated using forward 
electricity purchase or sales contracts to hedge prices. Majority of derivative contracts of the Company do not result in 
physical delivery and are designated as cash flow hedges to offset the price changes (Note 10).   
 
In addition, the Group enters into electricity forward sales and purchase contracts for trading purposes. Limits for traders 
are set to control the risks associated with trading activity of the Group. 
 
Interest rate risk 
 
 
The major part of lease liabilities related to land lease (9 Note) is subject to fixed interest rate and interest rate of other 
leases relates to EURIBOR. The management considers that there is no material interest rate risk associated with these 
obligations. 
 
Liquidity risk 
 
The Group and the Company manages its business in such a way which allows avoiding significant increases in working 
capital  requirements.  This  is  achieved  primarily  through  the  thorough  management  of  payment  dates  for  electricity 
purchased from suppliers and sold to the clients. The Group and the Company aims to maintain the longest possible gap 
between the dates when it receives the payment for the electricity sold and is obliged to pay for the electricity purchased. 
In cases when the Group or the Company forecasts possible increase in the level of required working capital it has a 
possibility to take a credit line from the bank (overdraft agreement for EUR 10,000 thousand out of which  EUR 7,700 
thousand were available to the Group and the Company as at 31 December 2020 was valid until March 2021. The Group 
and the Company prolonged overdraft agreement. All the excessive cash is deposited in the bank accounts. As at 31 
December 2021 the Group and the Company hadn’t used a  mentioned credit line. Overdraft agreement for EUR 10,000 
thousand out of which  EUR 6,700 thousand were available to the Group and the Company as at 31 December 2021 is 
valid until April 2022. 
 
 
The Group’s liquidity (current assets / current liabilities) and quick ((current assets – inventory) / current liabilities) ratios 
as at 31 December 2021  and 2020 were 1.45 and 1.48, respectively. The Company’s liquidity (current assets / current 
liabilities) and quick ((current assets – inventory) / current liabilities) ratios as at 31 December 2021 and 2020 were 1.01 
and 1.27, respectively. The COVID-19 pandemic has no significant impact on neither the Company's and Group’s operations 
nor the liquidity situation. 
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20 Financial assets and liabilities and risk management (cont’d) 
 
The tables below summarise the maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at 31 December 2021 and 2020, 
based on contractual undiscounted payments:  
 

 

On 
demand 

Less than 
3 months 

3 to 12 
months 

1 to 5 
years 

More 
than 5 
years 

Total 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Lease obligations 

- 

92 

221 

664 

319 

1,296 

Derivative  financial  instruments 
(liabilities) 

- 

3,530 

6,879 

- 

- 

10,409 

Trade payables  

- 

24,345 

- 

- 

- 

24,345 

Other current liabilities 

- 

871 

- 

- 

- 

871 

Balance  as  at  31  December 
2021 

- 

28,838 

7,100 

664 

319 

36,921 

 
 

 

On 
demand 

Less than 
3 months 

3 to 12 
months 

1 to 5 
years 

More 
than 5 
years 

Total 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Lease obligation 

- 

91 

241 

679 

332 

1,343 

Derivative  financial  instruments 
(liabilities) 

- 

642 

1,955 

- 

- 

2,597 

Trade payables  

- 

17,782 

- 

- 

- 

17,782 

Other current liabilities 

- 

572 

- 

- 

- 

572 

Balance  as  at  31  December 
2020 

- 

19,087 

2,196 

679 

332 

22,294 

 
The tables below summarise the maturity profile of the Company’s financial liabilities as at 31 December 2021 and 
2020 based on contractual undiscounted payments:  
 

 

On 
demand 

Less than 
3 months 

3 to 12 
months 

1 to 5 
years 

More 
than 5 
years 

Total 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Lease obligations 

- 

35 

135 

304 

- 

474 

Trade payables  

- 

20,136 

- 

- 

- 

20,136 

Derivative  financial  instruments 
(liabilities) 

- 

3,530 

6,879 

- 

- 

10,409 

Other current liabilities 

- 

5,085 

- 

- 

- 

5,085 

Balance  as  at  31  December 
2021 

- 

28,786 

7,014 

304 

- 

36,104 

 
 

 

On 
demand 

Less than 
3 months 

3 to 12 
months 

1 to 5 
years 

More 
than 5 
years 

Total 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Lease obligations 

- 

38 

91 

279 

 

408 

Trade payables  

- 

9,449 

- 

- 

- 

9,449 

Derivative  financial  instruments 
(liabilities) 

- 

2,597 

- 

- 

- 

2,597 

Other current liabilities 

- 

1,940 

- 

- 

- 

1,940 

Balance  as  at  31  December 
2020 

- 

14,024 

91 

279 

- 

14,394 
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20 Financial assets and liabilities and risk management (cont’d) 
 
Change in financial liabilities arising from financial activities 
 

Group 

As at 31 
December 
2020 

Signed 
contracts 

Cash flow 

Change in fair 
value 

Interests 

As at 31 
December 
2021 

Lease 

1,144 

287 

(364) 

- 

46 

1,113 

Non-hedge  derivative 
liability/(asset) 

(792) 

- 

- 

(1,822) 

- 

(2,614) 

Total 

352 

287 

(364) 

(1,822) 

46 

(1,501) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Group 

As at 31 
December 
2019 

Signed 
contracts 

Cash flow 

Change in fair 
value 

Interests 

As at 31 
December 
2020 

Non-current 
borrowings 

3,850 

- 

(3,937) 

- 

87 

- 

Lease 

1,141 

300 

(340) 

- 

43 

1,144 

Non-hedge  derivative 
liability/(asset) 

(729) 

- 

- 

(63) 

-- 

(792) 

Total 

4,262 

300 

(4,277) 

(63) 

130 

352 

 
 

Company 

As at 31 
December 
2020 

Signed 
contracts 

Cash flow 

Change in fair 
value 

Interests 

As at 31 
December 
2021 

Lease 

394 

252 

(215) 

- 

12 

443 

Non-hedge  derivative 
liability/(asset) 

(505) 

    - 

- 

128 

- 

(377) 

Total 

(111) 

252 

(215) 

128 

12 

66 

 
 

Company 

As at 31 
December 
2019 

Signed 
contracts 

Cash flow 

Change in fair 
value 

Interests 

As at 31 
December 
2020 

Lease 

375 

200 

(187) 

- 

6 

394 

Non-hedge  derivative 
liability/(asset) 

(32) 

 

- 

(473) 

- 

(505) 

Total 

343 

200 

(187) 

(473) 

6 

(111) 

 
Foreign exchange risk 
 
The Group’s and the Company’s business transactions mainly are denominated in euro, therefore, the Group and the 
Company is not exposed to significant foreign exchange risk. 
 
Fair value of financial instruments 
 
The Group’s and the Company’s principal financial instruments not carried at fair value are trade and other receivables, 
contract assets, trade and other payables, non-current and current borrowings and lease. 
 
The following methods and assumptions are used to estimate the fair value of each class of financial instruments: 
      a) The carrying amount of current trade and other accounts receivable, contract assets, current accounts payable 
approximates fair value due to short coverage period (level 3);  
      b) The fair value is based on the quoted market price for the similar issues or on the current rates available for 
borrowings with the same maturity profile (level 2). The fair value of non-current borrowings with variable interest 
rates approximates their carrying amounts. 
 
Fair  value  of  the  electricity  derivative  instruments  in  the Group  and  the  Company  are  defined  as  level  1  for  the 
instruments that are traded  in  active market (identical instruments) and level 2  for derivatives which fair value is 
established based on the reference to similar  instruments traded in the most comparable market (Note10).In 2021 for 
part of electricity derivative instruments fair value level was changed from level 1 to level 2 as disclosed in Note10. 






[image: ]_ﬁ INTERRAO ( ..,
LIETUVA









 
AB INTER RAO Lietuva, company code 126119913, A.Tumėno str. 4, Vilnius, Lithuania 
CONSOLIDATED AND COMPANY’S FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 December 2021 
(all amounts are in EUR thousand unless otherwise stated) 
 

 
45 
21 Capital management 
 
The primary objectives  of  the Group‘s  and the  Company’s capital management are to  ensure  that  the  Group  and 
the Company comply with externally imposed capital requirements and that the Group and the Company maintain 
healthy capital ratios in order to support the business and to maximize shareholders’ value. The Group‘s and Company’s 
capital consists of share capital in the amount of EUR 5.8 million, retained earnings and legal reserve.  
   
The Group and the Company manage capital structure and makes adjustments to it in the light of changes in economic 
conditions and risk characteristics of  the activities. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group and the 
Company may issue new shares, adjust the dividend payment to shareholders and/or return capital to shareholders. 
No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes of capital management during the years ended 31 
December 2021 and 2020. 
 
In addition, companies registered in Lithuania are obliged to upkeep their equity at not less than 50 % of share capital, 
as imposed by the Law on Companies of the Republic of Lithuania. As at 31 December 2021 and 2020 the Company 
was in line with this regulation. There were no other externally imposed capital requirements on the Company and the 
Group. 
 
Group  companies  registered in  Latvia  are  obliged to  keep  its  equity more  than  zero,  as  imposed  by  the  Law  on 
Companies of the Republic of Latvia. As at 31 December 2021 the subsidiary is complying with the minimal equity 
requirement. 
 
22  Related party transactions 
 
Parties are considered related when one party has the possibility to control the other one or have significant influence 
over the other party in making financial and operating decisions. The related parties of the Group are as follows: 
PJSC Inter RAO (ultimate parent); 
RAO Nordic Oy (one of the shareholders); 
UAB Scaent Baltic (one of the shareholders); 
Other related parties include: 
UAB Scaent Baltic Group companies (the same shareholder); 
Other shareholders; 
Key Management. 
 
In addition, the related parties of the Company include the following: 
SIA INTER RAO Latvia (subsidiary); 
OU INTER RAO Eesti (subsidiary); 
Sp z o.o. IRL Polska (subsidiary); 
Vydmantai wind park, UAB (subsidiary); 

 
2021 
 
Group 

 

Purchases 

Sales 

 
Declared  
dividends 

Receivables 

Payables 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

PJSC Inter RAO 

a) 

247,177 

578 

- 

44 

15,988 

RAO Nordic Oy  

b) 

- 

- 

5,610 

- 

- 

UAB Scaent Baltic 

b) 

- 

- 

1,827 

- 

- 

Other related parties 

b) 

- 

- 

3,563 

- 

- 

 

 

247,177 

578 

11,000 

44 

15,988 

 
2020 
 
Group 

 

Purchases 

Sales 

 
Declared  
dividends 

Receivables 

Payables 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

PJSC Inter RAO 

a) 

120,508 

396 

- 

43 

16,444 

RAO Nordic Oy 

b) 

- 

- 

7,140 

- 

- 

UAB Scaent Baltic 

b) 

- 

- 

4,075 

- 

- 

Other related parties 

b) 

- 

- 

2,785 

- 

- 

 

 

120,508 

396 

14,000 

43 

16,444 
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22  Related party transactions (cont’d) 

 
 2021 
 

 

Purchases 

Sales  

Declared 
dividends 

Receivables  

Payables 

Company 

 

 

 

 

 

 

PJSC Inter RAO 

a) 

97,549 

578 

- 

44 

12,066 

RAO Nordic Oy 

 

- 

- 

5,610 

- 

- 

UAB Scaent Baltic 

 

 

- 

1,827 

- 

- 

SIA INTER RAO Latvia 

c) 

- 

26,768 

- 

- 

5,059 

OU INTER RAO Eesti 

c) 

- 

(3,994) 

- 

2,759 

- 

Sp z o.o. IRL Polska 

 

- 

- 

(1,105) 

- 

- 

Vydmantai wind park, UAB 

 

- 

17 

(1,000) 

2 

- 

Other related parties 

b) 

- 

- 

3,563 

- 

- 

 

 

97,549 

23,369 

8,895 

2,805 

17,125 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 2020 
 

 

Purchases 

Sales  

Declared 
dividends 

Receivables  

Payables 

Company 

 

 

 

 

 

 

PJSC Inter RAO 

a) 

109,424 

396 

- 

43 

9,122 

RAO Nordic Oy 

 

- 

- 

7,140 

- 

- 

UAB Scaent Baltic 

 

- 

- 

4,075 

- 

- 

SIA INTER RAO Latvia 

c) 

- 

1,916 

- 

- 

1,911 

OU INTER RAO Eesti 

c) 

- 

925 

- 

1,884 

- 

Sp z o.o. IRL Polska 

 

- 

- 

(604) 

- 

- 

Vydmantai wind park, UAB 

 

- 

19 

(200) 

2 

- 

Other related parties 

b) 

- 

- 

2,785 

- 

- 

 

 

109,424 

          
3,256 

                        
13,196 

                     
1,929 

         11,033 

 
a)  The Group and the Company performs electricity purchase and sales transactions with PJSC Inter RAO. 
b)  In 2021 and 2020 the Company paid dividends to other shareholders. 
c)  Transactions with subsidiaries mainly represents sales price adjustments for electricity sales to subsidiaries in Latvia 
and Estonia  made through  power  exchange  (see Note  2.18),  assistance in electricity  prices  hedging, and  trading 
through power exchange, as well as short term working capital support. 
 
The Company has an agreement with  PJSC Inter RAO, according to  which  the Company is obliged to buy certain 
minimum amount of electricity in 2022. 
 
Payables and receivables between related parties are non-interest bearing. Receivables and payables payment terms 
between the related parties are up to 15-30 days, except for the dividends and loans, which are repaid in accordance 
to the legal or contractual requirements, respectively. 
 
Outstanding balances at the year-end are unsecured and settlement occurs in cash, unless agreed otherwise. There 
have been no guarantees provided or received for any related party receivable or payable and no allowance has been 
made for the receivables from related parties by the Group and by the Company. The balances outstanding with related 
parties of the Group and the Company were not overdue as at 31 December 2021 and 2020. 
 
 
Management remuneration and other benefits 
 
The Group’s management includes each of the Group companies managing director, deputy director and director of 
commerce. Amounts of salaries and bonuses calculated during the years 2021 and 2020 for the management of the 
Group were EUR 1,792 thousand and EUR 1,330 thousand, respectively. 
 
 
No other guarantees were issued to the Group’s and Company’s management and no other amounts were paid or 
calculated and no assets were disposed of. 
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23 Subsequent events 
 
There were no subsequent events, which could materially influence the financial statements for the year ended as of 
31 December 2021. 
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I.  General Information 
 
Reporting period 
Year ended 31
st
 December 2021 
 
Company and its contact details 

Company name 

AB INTER RAO Lietuva (hereinafter – IRL or „the Company“) 

Company code 

126119913 

Legal form 

Public company (joint-stock company) 

Date of registration 

21
st
 December 2002 

Name of register of Legal Entities 

State Enterprise Centre of Registers 

Registered office 

A.Tumėno str. 4, block B, LT-01109 Vilnius 

Telephone number 

+370 5 242 11 21 

Fax number 

+370 5 242 11 22 

E-mail 

info@interrao.lt 

Internet address 

www.interrao.lt 

 
Main activities of the Group of INTER RAO Lietuva 
The Group of INTER RAO Lietuva (hereinafter – “the Group”) is an independent supplier of electricity and, as such, may 
engage in various forms of electricity trading. Moreover, the Group is also present in electricity generation operations, as 
it owns a wind farm in Western Lithuania.  
The Group is engaged in various forms of electricity trading: the purchase and sale of electricity under bilateral contracts 
with other electricity suppliers, as well as on the power exchange; supply of electricity to end-users; provision of balancing 
services for end-users and other wholesalers of electricity; sale and purchase of regulating and balancing electricity for the 
transmission system operators; cross-border electricity trading.  
The Group has permission to import and export electricity to and from Lithuania, it is engaged in the import of electricity 
from Russia as well  as  in export  to  this  country. The  Group is also active in cross-border electricity trading between 
Lithuania and other EU Member States, namely Latvia and Estonia. 
The Group sells all of the electricity it cross-border from the third countries to the Lithuanian internal market on the power 
exchange since, in accordance with respective regulations, all electricity cross-border delivered to the Lithuanian internal 
electricity market has to be sold on the power exchange. Then the Group buys the electricity on the power exchange in a 
volume corresponding to its contractual obligations with clients. Sale and purchase orders are submitted for the same 
prices and trades are executed at the market price. Some portion of electricity is also sold through Nord Pool AS in Lithuania 
to other market participants. Trades on the power exchange are executed at the market price.  
The price of electricity sold under bilateral contacts is the market price, adjusted for variances depending on the electricity 
trading or consumption pattern of the customer and contractual arrangements (e.g., fixed on annual or monthly basis or 
agreed in daily delivery schedules). 
Apart from importing electricity, the Group also purchases the electricity from other wholesalers of electricity in Lithuania 
and Latvia under bilateral contracts based on various pricing arrangements, as well as on Nord Pool AS in Lithuania, Latvia 
and Estonia. 
The Group is also present in the electricity trading market in Poland, where it started its operations in 2014 and is involved 
in buying and selling electricity on the Polish Power Exchange.  
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The Group structure 
As on 31
st
 December 2021, the Group consisted of the Company and the following directly controlled subsidiaries and joint 
venture (hereinafter - the Group): 

Company 

Company 
code 

Directly and 
indirectly 
held 
effective 
attributable 
interest 

Equity as 
at 31
st
 
Decembe
r 2021 

Registration 
address 

Activity 

 

 

 

 

 

 

INTER  RAO  Eesti  OÜ  - 
subsidiary 

11879805 

100% 

66 

Peterburi  tee  47, 
Tallinn, Estonia 

Trade of 
electricity 

SIA  INTER  RAO  Latvia  - 
subsidiary 

40103268639 

100% 

7,968 

76  Gustava  Zemgala 
Ave., Riga, Latvia 

Trade of 
electricity 

IRL  Polska  Sp.  z  o.o.  - 
subsidiary 

0000436992 

100% 

4,728 

Twarda  18,  00-105, 
Warsaw, Poland 

Trade of 
electricity 

Vydmantai  Wind  Park, 
UAB - subsidiary 

302666616 

100% 

15,926 

A.Tumėno  Str. 4, 
Vilnius, Lithuania 

Generation  of 
electricity 

 
The following chart sets out the Group’ subsidiaries and interest in those subsidiaries, as well as the structure of the Group: 
 
 
The Company and the Group does not have any branches or representative offices as of 31 December 2021. 

 

AB INTER RAO Lietuva 
Vydmantai wind 
park, UAB 
(100% directly-owned 
subsidiary) 
SIA INTER RAO 
Latvia 
(100% directly-owned 
subsidiary) 
INTER RAO Eesti 
OÜ 
(100% directly-owned 
subsidiary) 

IRL Polska  

Sp. z o.o. 
(100% directly-owned 
subsidiary) 
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The Group history and development 

2002  

The Company was incorporated as UAB Energijos realizacijos centras.  

2003  

The  Company  received  its  license  as  independent  electricity  supplier  with  permission  to  export 
electricity.  
The Company signed sale-purchase agreements with INTER RAO UES and Lietuvos energija AB.  
The Company began electricity trading activities by exporting electricity to Russia and Belarus.  

2004  

Permission to import electricity was granted to the Company.  

2005  

The Company began importing electricity to Lithuania.  
RAO Nordic OY, a wholly owned subsidiary of INTER RAO UES, acquired 18% of the Company’s 
share capital from UAB VB rizikos kapitalo valdymas.  

2006  

The  Company  acquired  a  49.99%  stake  in  UAB  Alproka,  a  company  engaged  in  real  estate 
development in the Lithuanian seaside resort of Palanga.  

2007  

UAB Scaent Baltic  acquired an 82% stake in the Company’s share capital from Scaent Holdings 
Cooperatie UA and Bengtsbädd Förvaltning AB.  

2008  

RAO Nordic OY  increased its shareholding in  the  Company by acquiring a 33% stake from UAB 
Scaent Baltic. The stake of RAO Nordic OY in the Company’s share capital reaches 51%, while the 
stake of UAB Scaent Baltic decreases to 49%.  

2009  

The Company signed electricity sale-purchase agreements with the Belarusian company, Belenergo 
and the Latvian company, Latvenergo.  
Cooperation regarding the sale of electricity with the largest electricity consumer in the Baltic States, 
Orlen Lietuva, was established. Delivery was initiated in 2010.  
The Company changed its name to UAB INTER RAO Lietuva.  

2010 

The Company established two wholly-owned subsidiaries, one in Latvia (SIA INTER RAO Latvia) and 
the second in Estonia (INTER RAO Eesti OU).  
SIA INTER RAO Latvia received its license for electricity trading in Latvia.  

2011 

SIA INTER RAO Latvia begins electricity trading operations.  
The Company begins trading activities in the Estonian area of NordPool Spot.  
The Company established a subsidiary UAB IRL Wind and in the same year UAB IRL Wind acquired 
the wind park in Vydmantai. 
The  Company  begins  operations  in  electricity  generation  from  renewable  energy  sources  by 
acquiring the wind park in Vydmantai.  
The Company signs an agreement with INTER RAO UES on potential export of electricity generated 
in Baltiiskaya NPP under construction in Kaliningrad Oblast.  
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2012 

Decision on public offering and listing of the Company’s shares on the Warsaw Stock Exchange was 
made.  
Business entity (IRL POLSKA sp. z o.o.) in Poland was established.  

2013 

AB INTER RAO Lietuva shareholders decided to distribute 27 million Litas as dividends. 
In July 2013, the Company has completed a merger of its two subsidiary companies UAB IRL Wind 
and Vydmantai wind park, UAB. Subsidiary companies were reorganised by merging UAB IRL Wind, 
which ceased its activities as a legal entity after the merger, into Vydmantai wind park, UAB which 
continued its activities after the merger. 
On 4
th
 December 2013, the statutory capital of subsidiary company of AB INTER RAO Lietuva in 
Poland IRL Polska Sp.z o.o. was increased from PLN 2,000 thousand to PLN 10,000 thousand. 

2014 

On  3
rd
  January  2014,  the  subsidiary  company  of  AB  INTER  RAO  Lietuva  in  Poland              
IRL Polska Sp.z o.o. was granted the license for trade in electricity in Poland. The term of the license 
is from 9th January 2014 till 9th January 2024. 
On 30
th
 of April 2014, the General Annual Meeting of shareholders has adopted the decision to pay 
dividends to the shareholders of the Company in the amount of 13 million Litas. 
On 22
nd
 of May 2014, IRL Polska Sp. z o.o. begins electricity trading operations. 

2015 

After Lithuania joined the euro zone, AB INTER RAO Lietuva shareholders fixed a nominal value of 
one share 0.29 EUR, share capital equal to 5.8 million EUR. 
AB INTER RAO Lietuva shareholders decided to distribute 11.2 million EUR as dividends. 

2016 

AB INTER RAO Lietuva shareholders decided to distribute 16.1 million EUR as dividends. 

2017 
 
 
 
2018 

On 30
th
 of March 2017 by decision of Supervisory Council The Board of the Company was re-elected 
for a new office term of four years. 
On 28
th
 of April 2017 new three members of the Supervisory Council, among them one independent 
member, were elected at the Annual General Meeting of Shareholders.  
AB INTER RAO Lietuva shareholders decided to distribute 10.2 million EUR as dividends. 
AB INTER RAO Lietuva shareholders decided to distribute 7.1 million EUR as dividends. 
On  6
th
  of  November  2018  the  decision  has  been  taken  to  liquidate  company’s  subsidiary  UAB 
„Alproka“ which has successfully completed a real estate project and all real estate owned by UAB 
„Alproka“ has  been  sold.  Therefore,  UAB „Alproka“  was  no  longer  carrying out  any  commercial 
activities. 

2019 

AB INTER RAO Lietuva shareholders decided to distribute 11.6 million EUR as dividends. 

2020 

UAB “Alproka” was liquidated. 
AB INTER RAO Lietuva shareholders decided to distribute 14 million EUR as dividends. 
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2021 

AB INTER RAO Lietuva shareholders decided to distribute 11 million EUR as dividends. 
On 29th April, 2021 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders approved the New Wording of Articles 
of according with the actual Wording of Republic of Lithuania Law on Companies. 

 
Agreements with intermediaries of public trading in securities 
Since 29
th
 October 2012 the Company and UAB FMĮ Orion Securities (code 122033915), A. Tumėno str. 4, LT-01109 
Vilnius, have an agreement on accounting of the Company’s securities and services related to the accounting of securities. 
 
Data about securities traded on regulated market 
The following securities of the Company are included into the Main List of Warsaw stock exchange (symbol: IRL): 

Types of shares 

Number of 
shares 

Nominal value  
(in EUR) 

Total nominal 
value (in EUR) 

Issue Code 

Ordinary registered shares 

20,000,000  

0.29 

5,800,000 

LT0000128621 

 
In December 2012, the initial public offering of the Company’s ordinary shares was completed on the Warsaw Stock 
Exchange. The total oversubscription for the Company’s ordinary shares exceeded 26%. Given the ordinary share offer 
price of PLN 24.17 the value of the offering exceeded PLN 96.7 million. The Company’s ordinary shares were included into 
the Main list of the Warsaw Stock Exchange. 
 
Securities of the Group‘s subsidiaries are not traded publicly. 
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II.  Financial Information 
 
The Company’s and the Group’s sales in 2021 reached EUR 120.4 million and EUR 334.3 million. Sales revenue decreased 
for the Company by 9.83 per cent and increased for the Group by 104.65 per cent respectively in comparison with the 
sales revenue in 2020. 
Total revenue for the Group increased mainly due to the increase of volume and electricity market price, which resulted in 
higher revenue amounts and higher volumes from electricity traded, especially in Latvia and Poland.  
Company’s sales revenue in 2021 decreased by 9.83 per cent, compared to 2020 due to decrease in volume of sales in 
Lithuanian market. 
Electricity price in NordPoolSpot exchange 
   
During the  period of  2021  the Company and  the  Group  delivered  electricity to all of  its clients and fulfilled all of its 
contractual obligations of electricity sales at prices, agreed upon in the contracts. The Company and the Group fulfilled all 
of  its  contractual  obligations  to  its  Clients  in  2021  without  any  delays  and  disturbances  and  remains  as  a  trusted 
counterparty and reliable electricity supplier.  
Due to the decrease of the volume of electricity traded the Company’s cost of sales decreased by 1.5%. The sharp increase 
in the volume of electricity traded in the regional markets coupled with the rise of electricity market price, resulted in 
increase of Cost of sales by 108.14% in the Group, comparing to the year 2020.  
The Company’s and the Group’s EBITDA for the year 2021 was EUR 8.4 million and EUR 36.9 million. Company’s EBITDA 
margin decreased and amounted to 7% in 2021 if compared to 9.84% in 2020 and the Group’s – decreased from 11.96% 
in 2020 to 11.02% in 2021. 
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During 2021 the Company and the Group fulfilled all of its contractual obligations to the Clients,  but due to the high 
volatility of electricity market prices Groups client’s base during the course of 2021 decreased: from 814 in 2020 to 676 in 
2021. The Company and the Group improved relationships with the largest electricity purchasing customers in the region. 
Wind park located in Vydmantai, owned by the Group over a year generated and sold 57 GWh, which was 23.20% less 
than in 2020. The decrease in electricity production was mainly caused by a worse wind conditions – the average wind 
speed in the area in 2021 was 6.13 m/s compared to 6.73 m/s during 2020. 
The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared according to the International Financial Reporting 
Standards as adopted by the European Union. 
Key figures of IRL Group 

Financial figures 

 

 

2021 

2020 

2019 

Sales [Revenues from contracts 
with customers] (EUR thousand) 

 

 

334,339 

163,371 

317,034 

Gross profit (EUR thousand) 

 

 

42,666 

23,240 

24,461 

Gross profit margin (%) 

 

 

12.76% 

14.23% 

7.72% 

Operating profit [profit from operations] 
(EUR thousand) 

 

 

33,187 

11,993 

15,163 

Operating profit margin (%) 

 

 

9.93% 

7.34% 

4.78% 

EBITDA (EUR thousand) 

 

 

36,859 

19,543 

22,432 

EBITDA profit margin (%) 

 

 

11.02% 

11.96% 

7.08% 

Net profit (EUR thousand) 

 

 

14,345 

12,209 

17,647 

Net profit margin (%) 

 

 

4.29% 

7.47% 

5.57% 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Number of shares (thousand) 

 

 

20,000 

20,000 

20,000 

Earnings per share (EUR) 

 

 

0.72 

0.61 

0.88 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Financial ratios 

 

 

2021 

2020 

2019 

Return on capital employed (%) 

 

 

110% 

55% 

63% 

Return on assets (%) 

 

 

20% 

24% 

27% 

Return on shareholders' equity (%) 

 

 

51% 

49% 

60% 

Gearing ratio 

 

 

0.04 

0.05 

0.17 

Net financial debt to equity 

 

 

-0.72 

-0.85 

-0.75 

Equity to assets ratio 

 

 

0.40 

0.5 

0.45 

Current ratio 

 

 

1.45 

1.47 

1.35 

Rate of turnover of assets (%) 

 

 

21% 

31% 

21% 

 
Gross profit margin – Gross profit / Sales 
Operating profit margin – Operating profit / Sales 
EBITDA profit margin – EBITDA / Sales 
Profit before taxes margin – Profit before taxes / Sales 
Net profit margin – Net profit / Sales 
Earnings per shares – Net profit / Number of shares 
Return on capital employed – EBIT / (Total assets – Current liabilities)  
Return on assets – Net profit / Total assets 
Return on equity – Net profit / Total shareholders’ equity 
Gearing ratio – Total debt / Total shareholders’ equity 
Net financial debt to equity – (Financial borrowings – Cash and cash equivalents) / Total equity 
Equity to assets ratio – Total equity / Total assets 
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Current ratio – Current assets / Current liabilities 
Rate of turnover of assets – Total assets / Sales 
EBITDA - Profit (loss) before income tax + Interest expenses + Depreciation and amortization + impairment + loss from realized 
derivative financial instruments 
These performance indicators are used to determine Group’s progress in achieving its strategic and operational goals, and 
also to compare Group’s finances and performance against other businesses within the industry. 
Revenue from contracts with customers/Sales 
The total consolidated Group's sales revenue in 2021 was equal to EUR 334.3 million, a 104.7% more than in 2020. Total 
revenue  increased due  to the increase of volume and electricity market price,  which  caused the higher volumes and 
revenue amounts from electricity traded.  

Sales revenues by operating segments, thous. EUR 

2021 

2020 

Electricity purchases and sales 

332,183 

156,958 

Electricity production and sales 

2,156 

6,413 

Total 

334,339 

163,371 

 
Group's revenue from sales of electricity in the 2021 amounted to EUR 332.2 million. Revenue from produced electricity 
sales accounted for EUR  2.2 million, which is a 66.4% decrease in sales if compared to a year ago. The decrease in 
electricity production was mainly caused by the worse wind conditions in the area and the lower electricity purchase price 
(in 2020 the wind park benefited from the fixed feed in tariff). 
The tables below present data on the electricity sale volumes of the Group for the 2021 and 2020 and the 4
th
 quarter of 
2021 and 2020, with a breakdown by each country for the periods indicated (S - sale). 

 

For 2021 

For 2020 

 

S 

S 

 

GWh 

GWh 

Lithuania* 

1,959 

3,231 

Poland 

2,398 

1,825 

Latvia 

2,926 

350 

Other countries 

367 

375 

Total* 

7,650 

5,781 

 

 

* Excluding equivalent trades on the power exchange 
 

 

  

For the 4
th
 quarter of 2021 

For the 4
th
 quarter of 2020 

 

S 

S 

 

GWh 

GWh 

Lithuania* 

696 

737 

Poland 

735 

489 

Latvia 

381 

314 

Other countries 

90 

111 

Total* 

1,902 

1,651 

 

 

* Excluding equivalent trades on the power exchange 

 

 
The average annual electricity price in 2021 in Lithuanian Nord Pool Spot zone was equal to 90,45 EUR/MWh compared to 
34,04 EUR/MWh in 2020, a 165.72% higher than in 2020.  
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Cost of sales 
The Company’s cost of purchase of electricity in 2021 stayed at almost the same level as a year ago and in the Group 
increased by 111.62% respectively if compared to 2020 and amounted to EUR 113.4 million and EUR  287.8 million. Cost 
of purchase of electricity increased due to the increase of volume and electricity market price and this item constituted 
98,97% and 98,68 % of total cost of sales for the Company and for the Group respectively in 2021. 
Transmission network service cost (
i.e.
, input fee) for the Company and for the Group shrank. It amounted to EUR 1.2 
million for the Company and EUR 2.5 million for the Group if compared to EUR 2.3 million a year ago and EUR 2.6 million 
for the Company and for the Group respectively. 
Gross profit in 2021 shrank compared to a year ago and amounted to EUR 5.9 million for the Company and for the Group 
increased by 83.59%, and amounted to EUR 42.7 million, if compared to EUR 23.2 million in 2020. Gross profit margin in 
2021 decreased to 4.86% for the Company and to 12.76% for the Group from 12.92% and 14.23% respectively in 2020. 
General and administrative expenses 
Total general and administrative expenses were higher of the Company and less for the Group in 2021 than total general 
and administrative expenses a year ago. In the Company it increased by 13.57% and amounted to EUR 7.1 million and in 
the Group it decreased by 15.72% and was equal to EUR 9.5 million. The most significant costs’ groups within the general 
and administrative expenses in the Company and the Group were wages, charity, electricity selling expenses, goodwill and 
property, plant and equipment impairment loss (in 2020). 
Support (charity) related expenses for the Company and the Group in 2021 stayed at the same level as a year ago and 
amounted to EUR 1.2 million and EUR 1.2 million respectively. The Group constantly supports various organizations and 
initiatives  as  a  part  of  its  business  mission.  Support,  provided  by  the  Group,  is  concentrated  on  three  main  areas: 
communities, education and culture/sports. 
Earnings 
Profit (loss) from operations for the Company and for the Group for year 2021 were equal to loss EUR (1.3) million and 
profit EUR 33.2 million, compared to the profit from operations of EUR 11 million and EUR 12 million in 2020. Operating 
profit margin for the Company and for the Group was equal to negative -(1.05%) and positive 9.93% compared to 8.22% 
and 7.34% a year ago. 
Net result from financial and investing activities for the Company in 2021 was higher than a year ago and amounted to 
EUR 8.8 million. In 2021 subsidiary Vydmantai wind park, UAB paid dividends (EUR 1 million, if compared – in 2020 EUR 
0.2 million). Net consolidated result from financial and investing activities for the Group decreased to negative EUR (16.1) 
million from EUR 2.7 million if compared to 2020. Overall result for the Group from financial activities was mainly caused 
by fair value change of derivatives not designated as hedging instruments.  
As a result, profit before tax for the Company in 2021 decreased and amounted to EUR 8 million and increased for the 
Group and amounted to EUR 17.5 million.  
The net profit of the Company and the Group in 2021 amounted to EUR 7.4 million and EUR 14.3 million respectively.   
The net profit margins for the Company and for  the Group in 2021 decreased and were equal to  4.29% and 6.18% 
(compared to 8.1% and 7.47% year ago). 
Investments 
During 2021 the Group has not made any significant investments.  
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Balance sheet and cash flow 
During January-December 2021 total assets of the Company increased by 57.41% and of the Group increased by 40.53%. 
The most significant influence to the assets was caused by increase in total accounts receivable and derivative financial 
instruments in the Company and in the Group. 
Total non-current assets of the Company stayed at almost the same level as a year ago (1.32 per cent increase) and of 
the Group decreased by 5.35%. Total non-current assets amounted to 25% of the total assets for the Company and to 
21% of total assets for the Group.  
During the year, shareholders’ equity of the Company decreased by 23.47% and of the Group increased by 12.5% and 
amounted to 25% of the total equity and liabilities of the Company and to 40% of the total equity and liabilities of the 
Group. Total dividends distributed in 2021 reached EUR 11 million.  
At the end of December 2021, total amount of borrowings, including financial liabilities related to finance lease, amounted 
to 1.1 million for the Group, if compared to previous year – a 2.7% decrease. The Company had EUR 0.4 million borrowings, 
the same as a year ago, including financial liabilities related to lease and bank financing. Cash, cash equivalents amounted 
to EUR 10.2 million for the Company and EUR 21.2 million for the Group. 
Net cash flow from operating activities for the Company in 2021 increased and amounted to EUR 8.7 million and for the 
Group decreased to EUR 10.3 million respectively (compared to EUR 1.3 million and EUR 13.6 million a year ago).  
During 2021 net cash flow from investing and financing activities amounted to negative EUR (9) million for the Company 
and negative EUR (11.3) million for the Group (compared to negative EUR (13.4) million for the Company and to negative 
EUR (18.4) million for the Group in 2020). Negative cash flow from financing activities is mainly related to the loans repaid 
and paid out dividends. 
Information about related party transactions 
Parties are considered related when one party has the possibility to control the other one or have significant influence over 
the other party in making financial and operating decisions. The related parties of the Group are as follows: 
•  PJSC Inter RAO (ultimate parent); 
•  RAO Nordic Oy (one of the shareholders); 
•  UAB Scaent Baltic (one of the shareholders); 
•  SIA INTER RAO Latvia (subsidiary); 
•  INTER RAO Eesti OÜ (subsidiary); 
•  IRL Polska Sp z o.o. (subsidiary); 
•  Vydmantai wind park, UAB (subsidiary); 
•  UAB Alproka (joint venture, liquidated in 2020); 
Other related parties include: 
•  UAB Scaent Baltic Group companies (the same shareholder); 
•  Other shareholders; 
•  Management. 
Detailed information about related party transactions is provided in Note 22 of INTER RAO Lietuva, AB Financial Statements 
for the year ended 31st December 2021. 
The management of the Company has created an appropriate controlling procedures in the Group that includes ethical 
behaviour guidelines, ensures competence in accordance with the duties of the staff, and a clear vision of powers and 
responsibilities; the requirements for reporting and verification intra-group procedures, their monitoring and supervision 
in order to respond in a proper and timely manner. 
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To support an effective internal control system, the Company's management is assisted by internal auditors of PJSC Inter 
RAO Group, periodically evaluating the effectiveness of this system. External auditor audits financial statements of the 
Company and the Group. 
Other material information 
No other material information needs to be disclosed. 
Recent events 
No material subsequent events occurred after the balance sheet date. 
Research and development activities 
There were no major research and development projects undertaken during 2021, except the on-going development and 
improvement of the Group provided services. 
Risk management 
The main risk factors associated with the activities of the Company are as follows: 
5  Changes in the regulatory environment. 
6  Changes in the price of electricity traded. 
7  Increase in price of imported electricity. 
8  Decrease in electricity demand. 
9  Failure to build or delay in building interconnections between electricity grids. 
10  Discontinuation or unfavourable changes in renewable energy support schemes. 
11  Decrease in volume of electricity generated by the wind park. 
12  Increased competition among independent electricity suppliers. 
13  Changes in currency exchange rates. 
As of 31
st
 December 2021 the total amount of borrowings of the Group amounted to EUR 1.11 million compared to EUR 
1.14 million as of 31
st
 December 2020. 
The Group and the Company has electricity derivative agreements for the purpose of future cash flow Hedge. For more 
details, please see Note 10 of the Financial statements.  
The Group’s and the Company’s activities expose it to the following financial risks: market risk (including foreign exchange 
risk, and cash flow and interest rate risk), credit risk, liquidity risk. The Group’s policy for treasury management focuses 
on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimize potential adverse effects of the financial performance 
of the Group. 
The Company’s financial risk management is carried out by the Company under policies approved by the Management 
Board.  This  unit  identifies  and  evaluates  financial  risks  in  close  co-operation  with  the  Group’s  operating  units.  The 
Management Board provides written principles for overall risk management, as well as written policies covering specific 
areas, such as foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, credit risk and investing excess liquidity. 
The Group’s electricity trading is partially executed based on orders submitted by a team of traders on a daily basis in 
response to market conditions, upon consideration of the Group’s contractual obligations and market demand. Electricity 
trading operations are executed using software provided by the electricity exchange (Nord Pool Spot AS) platform or 
platforms of  clients/suppliers. In  order  to mitigate  risks  associated  with  electricity  trading,  the  Group  has introduced 
respective policies to supervise its traders’ activity. Namely, each order for electricity purchase or sale is made by two 
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employees: one employee inputs trading parameters, whereas the other (usually the commercial director) reviews and 
confirms them.  
Apart from internal risk management procedures, trades made by the Group are checked by its counterparties, the power 
exchange and transmission system operators. Electricity trades made through Nord Pool Spot AS are checked by the power 
exchange itself for arithmetical accuracy and systematic errors, as well as for unusual activities. Furthermore, each day 
the Group is obliged to present to the transmission system operator its plan for deliveries of electricity for the following 
day. The transmission system operator checks whether the Group is able to deliver the planned volume of electricity and, 
if required, checks the availability of balancing services to be provided to the Group. Moreover, each day the Group is 
obliged to deliver to the Lithuanian transmission system operator plans for import and export of electricity from/to Russia.  
Regarding the management of credit risk, the Group is engaged in credit valuation and constant monitoring of its Clients. 
In such activities, the Group uses internally designed software which allows for the collection of information from Clients 
and prospective Clients, which is needed to evaluate Client’s credit risk. 
The Company implemented a process of internal controls. The process of the Company’s internal controls implies control 
of business processes related to provision of electricity purchase and sale, and revenue assurance (customers’ settlements 
and accounting, development and management of services, services provision), performance of IT systems (customer care 
and billing, infrastructure, network information, financial accounting, salary accounting, networks’ interconnection) and 
the process of preparation of financial reports. 
Plans and forecasts 
The Company does not provide any specific plans or forecasts. The Group is engaged in electricity trading and plans 
expansion into other countries. The Group operates a wind park located in Vydmantai and plans to further develop activities 
in the renewable energy sector. 
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III.  Information about Share Capital and Shareholders 
 
Share Capital 
In the end of 2021 the share capital of the Company amounts to EUR 5,800,000 and consisted of 20,000,000 ordinary 
registered shares with a nominal value EUR 0.29 each. On 20
th
 July 2012, the General Meeting adopted a resolution to 
increase the share capital from LTL 1,000,000 to LTL 20,000,000, and to divide the share capital into 20,000,000 ordinary 
registered shares with a nominal value of LTL 1 each. Such an increase in share capital was made by converting 1,000 
ordinary registered shares of the Company with a nominal value of LTL 1,000 into 1,000,000 ordinary registered shares 
with a nominal value of LTL 1 each, and by issuing 19,000,000 new ordinary registered shares of the Company from the 
retained  earnings  of  the  Company.  After  Lithuania  joined  the  euro  zone,  on  30
th
  April  2015  AB  INTER  RAO  Lietuva 
shareholders decided to fix a nominal value of one share 0.29 EUR and share capital equal to 5.8 million EUR. Ordinary 
registered shares of the Company (ISIN code LT0000128621) are  listed on  the Main List of Warsaw Stock Exchange 
(symbol: IRL). 
Shareholders 
As  of  31
st
  December  2021  the  Company  had  5  shareholders  whose  shares  were  accounted  in  Lithuanian  securities 
depository system. The shares of remaining shareholders were accounted in Polish securities depository system. Due to 
prevailing private information protection laws in Poland, Polish National Depository for Securities is not able to provide the 
Company with information about number  of Company’s shareholders  whose shares are accounted in Polish securities 
depository system. 
Shareholders, holding more than 5% of the share capital and votes, as of 31
st
 December 2021: 

Name of shareholder 

Number of ordinary 
registered shares 
owned by the 
shareholder 

Share of the 
share 
capital, % 

Share of votes given 
by the shares owned 
by the right of 
ownership, % 

RAO Nordic OY * 

10,200,000 

51.0 

51.0 

UAB Scaent Baltic * 

5,822,856 

29.11 

29.11 

Other shareholders 

3,977,144 

19.89 

19.89 

Total 

20,000,000 

100.00 

100.00 

 
*In addition, according to Art 26 Part 1 Item 2 of the Law on Securities of  the Republic of Lithuania (agreement on 
implementation of long term management policy of the issuer), UAB Scaent Baltic indirectly holds voting rights directly 
held of RAO Nordic Oy, code 1784937-7, address Tammasaarenkatu 1, FIN-00180, Helsinki, the Republic of Finland, and 
of  RAO  Nordic  Oy  indirectly  holds  votes  of UAB  Scaent  Baltic under  the  agreement  on  implementation of  long term 
management policy of the issuer between UAB Scaent Baltic and RAO Nordic Oy (hereinafter Shareholders’ agreement). 
As of 31
st
 December 2021, 51% of the outstanding share capital of INTER RAO Lietuva, AB is held directly by RAO Nordic 
OY, a company organized and existing under the laws of the Republic of Finland, registration number 1784937-7, with its 
registered office at Tammasaarenkatu 1, FIN-00180, Helsinki, the Republic of Finland. RAO Nordic OY is a wholly-owned 
subsidiary of PJSC Inter RAO, a company incorporated under Russian law, listed on MICEX–RTS under ticker ‘IRAO’. PJSC 
Inter RAO is a diversified energy holding managing assets in Russia, several countries of the CIS and the EU. Its operations 
comprise electric power and heat generation, international power trading and electric industry engineering.  
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As of 31
st
 December 2021, 29.11% of the outstanding share capital of the Company is held directly by UAB Scaent Baltic, 
a company organized and existing under the laws of the Republic of Lithuania, registration number 300661378, with its 
registered office at Jogailos str. 9, LT-01116, Vilnius, the Republic of Lithuania.  
As of 31
st
 December 2021, free float represents 19.89% of the outstanding share capital. 
As at 31
st
 December 2021 the Company and its subsidiaries did not hold parent company shares. 
Disclosure on acquisition of block of voting rights in the Company 
On 7th January 2014, the Company made Announcement of the acquisition of block of voting right in the Company.  As 
of 31st December 2021, the block of voting rights is held by: 

Specification of voting rights held by Jonas Garbaravičius as of 31
st
 December 2021 

 

Number of 
shares (units)  

Number of 
voting rights (units) 

Number of voting rights (%) 

 

Directly  

Directly 

Indirectly 

Directly 

Indirectly 

Ordinary registered shares 
of AB INTER RAO Lietuva 
(ISIN code 
LT0000128621) 

5,000 

5,000 

5,822,856 

0.025 

29.11 

 

Specification of voting rights indirectly held by Jonas Garbaravičius as of 31
st
 December 2021 

Name and other data about the person 

The number of shares and voting rights held as of 31
st
 
December 2021 
 

 

Number of 
shares (units) 

Number of 
voting rights 
(units) 

Number of 
voting rights 
(%) 

 

directly 

directly 

directly 

Voting rights held according to the Art 24 Part 1 Item 6 of the Law on Securities of the Republic of Lithuania (voting rights held by 
the company indirectly controlled by Garbaravicius family) 

UAB Scaent Baltic, code 300661378, address Jogailos str. 9, Vilnius, the 
Republic of Lithuania 

5,822,856 

5,822,856 

29.11 

 
 
In  addition,  according  to  Art  26  Part  1  Item  2  of  the  Law  on  Securities of  the Republic  of Lithuania (agreement  on 
implementation of long term management policy of the issuer), Jonas Garbaravičius indirectly holds voting rights directly 
held of RAO Nordic Oy, code 1784937-7, address Tammasaarenkatu 1, FIN-00180, Helsinki, the Republic of Finland, which 
concluded the Shareholders’ agreement. 
Treasury shares 
During the financial year of 2021, the Company has not purchased any treasury (own) stock. As of 31
st
 December 2021, 
the Company and its subsidiaries do not hold any treasury stocks of the Company. 
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Acquisition of treasury shares 
For an adoption of a resolution on the acquisition of its own  shares, a qualified ¾ majority of votes of shareholders 
participating at the General Meeting is required. Under Lithuanian law, the Company may acquire its own shares if all of 
the following conditions are met: (i) the acquisition of its own shares occurs within a specified period (no longer than 
eighteen months) after the adoption of a resolution by the General Meeting which specifies the conditions, purpose and 
terms for the acquisition of its own shares, including the maximum number of shares to be acquired, the manner in which 
these shares may be acquired and the price range within which the shares may be acquired; (ii) the total nominal value 
of the shares redeemed or taken as collateral does not exceed one-tenth of the share capital; and (iii) after the acquisition 
of its own shares, the Company’s equity does not fall below the sum of the paid share capital, mandatory reserve and the 
reserve for acquisition of own shares; (iv) consideration of redeemed shares are paid from the reserve for acquisition of 
its own shares which was formed by the Company; (v) acquired shares are fully paid; (vi) acquisition of its own shares by 
the Company ensures equal possibilities for all shareholders to sell their held shares to the Company. Shares that were 
acquired infringing the above listed requirements (i)-(iv) must be sold within twelve months from the acquisition of these 
shares. If the shares are not sold during this period, then the corresponding portion of the share capital of the Company 
must be annulled. Upon acquisition of its own shares, the Company has no right to exercise property and non-property 
rights conferred by such shares. 
Shareholders‘ rights 
None of the shareholders of the Company have any special controlling rights. Rights of all shareholders are equal. One 
ordinary registered share of the Company gives one vote in the General Meeting of Shareholders. 
Shareholders’ agreements 
In accordance with the Shareholders’ Agreement (the agreement between RAO Nordic OY and UAB Scaent Baltic), neither 
RAO Nordic OY, nor UAB Scaent Baltic had the right to sell or otherwise transfer its ordinary shares in the Company or any 
part thereof to any third party or create any other third party rights to the Shares or any part thereof, except upon receiving 
the prior written consent of RAO Nordic OY and UAB Scaent Baltic.  
Under the Shareholders’ Agreement, RAO Nordic OY and UAB Scaent Baltic have agreed to vote their shares in order to 
elect four candidates nominated by RAO Nordic OY and one candidate nominated by UAB Scaent Baltic to the supervisory 
Council . Under the Shareholders’ Agreement, the shareholders undertook to cause the members of the supervisory Council 
nominated  by  them  to  vote  in  order  to  elect  two  candidates  nominated  by  UAB  Scaent  Baltic  and  three  candidates 
nominated by RAO Nordic OY to the management board. Under the Shareholders’ Agreement, the shareholders undertook 
to cause their nominated management board members to vote to elect a candidate nominated by UAB Scaent Baltic for 
CEO. 
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Information about trading in the Company’s securities 
Information about trading in the Company’s shares on Warsaw stock exchange in 2012-2021: 

Year 

Currency 

Opening price 

Highest price 

Lowest 
price 

Last price 

Average 
price 

Turnover 

2012 

PLN 

25.75 

26.64 

25.75 

26.64 

26.23 

2,862,401 

2013 

PLN 

26.93 

31.30 

21.01 

23.92 

27.12 

43,529,719 

2014 

PLN 

23.97 

24.00 

14.50 

19.69 

19.32 

15,620,599 

2015 

PLN 

19.39 

19.85 

15.00 

18.60 

17.56 

8,650,069 

2016 

PLN 

18.79 

20.50 

12.80 

15.80 

16.60 

31,008,579 

2017 

PLN 

15.40 

15.50 

10.81 

11.99 

12.54 

14,889,302 

2018 

PLN 

12.40 

13.10 

5.24 

10.60 

10.18 

10,317,618 

2019 

PLN 

11.00 

15.00 

10.90 

14.95 

12.85 

11,550,113 

2020 

PLN 

15.05 

23.80 

13.90 

18.80 

16.39 

54,941,707 

2021 

PLN 

19.35 

21.8 

16.76 

17.26 

19.56 

70,060,184 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The Company has market making agreement with UAB FMĮ ORION Securities. On 28 December 2015, additional agreement 
between UAB FMĮ ORION Securities and WSE came into force in order to satisfy new requirements of Liquidity Support 
Programme which participant the Company is. 
IRL market capitalization as of 31
st
 December 2021 reached PLN  345,2 million. 
  

0.00
5.00
10.00
15.00
20.00
25.00
0
500 000
1 000 000
1 500 000
2 000 000
2 500 000
3 000 000
3 500 000
4 000 000
4 500 000
5 000 000
Turnover, PLN Price, PLN






[image: ]ﬁ INTERRAO . ..,
LIETUVA








AB INTER RAO Lietuva, Company code 126119913, A.Tumėno str. 4, Vilnius, Lithuania 
COMPANY’S AND CONSOLIDATED ANNUAL REPORT 
FOR THE 12 MONTH PERIOD ENDED 31 December 2021 
(all amounts are in EUR thousand unless otherwise stated)  
 
 
 
66 
 
 
Dividends 
According to the shareholders’ agreement, RAO Nordic OY and UAB Scaent Baltic shall cause their respective nominees in 
the Supervisory Council and Management Board to support the distribution of no less than 70% of the relevant year net 
profit as dividends to shareholders.  
RAO Nordic OY and UAB Scaent Baltic shall vote their ordinary shares at the General Meeting to ensure such distribution 
of the net profit, unless the Management Board, in acting in the best interests of the Company by approving the annual 
investment program, decides that the Company should make investments with the relevant year’s net profit. 
Dividend per share declared by the Company for the financial years ended 31 December 2020, 2019, 2018, 2017 and 2016 
was equal to EUR 0.55, EUR 0.7, EUR 0.58, EUR 0.36, EUR 0.51 respectively.  
Dividends for 2020, 2019, 2018, 2017 and 2016 amounted to EUR 11 million, EUR 14 milllion, EUR 11.6 million, EUR 7.1 
million, EUR 10.2 million respectively. 
 

 

 

2020 

2019 

2018 

2017 

2016 

Net profit, mEUR 

 

11 

14 

11.61 

7.18 

10.18 

Dividends declared, mEUR 

 

11 

14 

11.6 

7.1 

10.2 

Dividend pay-out ratio 

 

102% 

99% 

100% 

99% 

100% 

 
On 20
th
 July 2012 RAO Nordic OY and UAB Scaent Baltic adopted resolution on the increase of the share capital from the 
Company’s own funds from LTL 1,000,000 to LTL 20,000,000. As a consequence, the net profit for distribution for the 
financial year ending 31
st
 December 2012, was reduced by the amount of the share capital increase. After Lithuania joined 
the euro zone in 2015, AB INTER RAO Lietuva shareholders fixed a nominal value of one share 0.29 EUR, share capital 
equal to 5.8 million EUR. 
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IV.  Corporate Governance 
 
The  corporate  bodies  of  the  Company  are  as  follows:  General  Shareholders  Meeting,  a  collegial  supervisory  body  – 
Supervisory Council, a collegial management body – Board, and single-person management body – Chief Executive Officer. 
Members of Supervisory council 

 

 
Victor Kolotievskiy 
Chairman of the Supervisory Council at INTER RAO Lietuva 
(term: 2020.04.27 – 2024.04.27) 
 
Head of European Operations of the Trading Unit of PJSC Inter 
RAO  Legal  form/ 
Public joint  stock company
  Registration code/ 
1022302933630
  Address/ 
Bolshaya  Pirogovskaya  ulitsa,  27 
building 2, Moscow, Russia, 119435
   
 

Education: 
National Research University “Moscow Power Engineering Institute” qualification – Engineer-Manager 
The Moscow University of Finance and Law, qualification – Lawyer 
 
Career over the last five years: 
2017 – present: Member of the Supervisory Council at INTER RAO Lietuva 
2012 – present: Head of European Operations of the Trading Unit of PJSC Inter RAO 
 

 

 
Evgeniya Popova 
Member of the Supervisory Council  
(term: 2020.04.27 – 2024.04.27) 
 
Head  of  Operational  Analysis  and  Trading  Activity  Forecasting 
Department  at  PJSC  Inter  RAO,   Legal  form/ 
Public  joint  stock 
company
 Registration code/ 
1022302933630
  Address/ 
Bolshaya 
Pirogovskaya ulitsa, 27 building 2, Moscow, Russia, 119435
  
 

Education: 
Moscow State Institute of International Relations qualification – Finance and Credit, and MBA at 
Kingston University and Academy of National Economy under the Government of the Russian 
Federation 
 
Career over the last five years: 
2016 – present: Member of the Supervisory Council at INTER RAO Lietuva 
2011 – present:  Head of Operational Analysis and Trading Activity Forecasting Department at PJSC 
Inter RAO 
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Vasily Kulikov 
Member of the Supervisory Council  
(term: term: 2020.04.27 – 2024.04.27) 
 
Head of Risk management and internal control department PJSC 
Inter RAO Legal form/ 
Public joint stock company
 Registration 
code/ 
1022302933630
  Address/ 
Bolshaya Pirogovskaya ulitsa, 
27 building 2, Moscow, Russia, 119435
   
 
 

Education: 
Bachelor degree in Management at Non –State Educational Institution Modern University for the 
Humanities 
 
Career over the last five years: 
2016 – present: Member of the Supervisory Council at INTER RAO Lietuva 
2014 – present:  Head of Risk management and internal control department PJSC Inter RAO 
 

 

 
 

 

 
Valerian Goncharov 
Member of the Supervisory Council  
(term: 2020.04.27 – 2024.04.27) 
 
Head of Direction at International Law Department of PJSC Inter 
RAO/ Legal form/ 
Public joint stock company
 Registration code/ 
1022302933630
  Address/ 
Bolshaya  Pirogovskaya  ulitsa,  27 
building 2, Moscow, Russia, 119435
    
 

Education: 
Moscow State Institute of International Relations (MGIMO University), Master degree in International 
Law 
 
Career over the last five years: 
2019 – present: Member of the Supervisory Council at INTER RAO Lietuva 
2017 – present: Head of Direction at International Law Department of PJSC «Inter RAO» 
2014 – 2017: Chief Expert at International Law Department of PJSC «Inter RAO» 
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Jonas Garbaravičius 
Member of the Supervisory Council at INTER RAO Lietuva  
(term: 2020.04.27 – 2024.04.27) 
 
Owner of JG Investment Management, UAB Legal form/ Private 
limited liability company Registration code/ 
303049386 
Address/ 
A. Tumeno str. 4-38, Vilnius, Lithuania 
 

Education: 
Vytautas Magnus University 
 
Career over the last five years: 
2018 – present: Counsellor of CEO at UAB Scaent Baltic, Legal form/ Private limited liability company 
Registration code/ 
300661378 
Address/ 
Jogailos str. 9, Vilnius, Lithuania
  
2017 – present: Member at YPO 
2013 – present: Owner of JG Investment Management, UAB 
2013 – present: Co Founder / Supporting Shareholder at Children Hospital Support Foundation (Vaikų 
Ligoninės Paramos Fondas) 
2013 – present: Co Founder / Supporting Shareholder at Public Organization “Šiaurės Jeruzalė” (Nothern 
Jerusalem), project LitvakWorld.com 
2012 – present: Board member at Vilnius City Opera, Legal form/ Public institution Registration 
code/302817107 Address/
Jogailos str. 9, Vilnius, Lithuania 
2012 – present: Member of the Supervisory Council at INTER RAO Lietuva 
2008 – present: Counsellor of CEO at INTER RAO Lietuva 
2011 – 2017: Member of the Management Board at Inter Green Renewables and Trading 
 

 

 
Rytis Davidovičius 
Member of the Supervisory Council  
(term: term: 2020.04.27 – 2024.04.27) 
 
CEO  at  BRAITIN, Legal  form/  Private  limited  liability  company 
Registration code/ 
303422006
 Address/ 
A. Tumeno str. 4, Vilnius, 
Lithuania
  
 
 

Education: 
Bachelor degree, History and Political science at Vytautas Magnus University 
Master degree, Sports Management at Real Madrid Graduate School, Universidad Europea 
Executive Education, Strategy at INSEAD, Columbia Business School 
Licence of consultant, Bank of Lithuania 
 
 
Career over the last five years: 
2019 – present: CEO and Member of the board at BRAITIN 
2017 – 2019: Director of Business Development, Lewben Group  
2016 – present: Member of the Supervisory Council at INTER RAO Lietuva 
2016 – 2017: Director of Asia Pacific, Lewben Group; 
2013  –  present:  President,  Lithuanian  Rugby  Federation,  Legal  form/Association  Registration 
code/190773236   Address/ Zemaites str. 6, Vilnius, Lithuania 
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Members of the Board 

 
 
 
 

Alexandra Panina 
Chairman of the Management Board at INTER RAO Lietuva 
(term: 2021.03.31 –2025.03.31) 
Member of the Management Board, Acting Head of the Trading 
Unit of PJSC Inter RAO Legal form/ 
Public joint stock company
 
Registration code/ 
1022302933630
 Address/ 
Bolshaya 
Pirogovskaya ulitsa, 27 building 2, Moscow, Russia, 119435
   
 

 
Education: 
Law faculty of Volgograd state University 
State Academy of Innovation 
 
Career over the last five years: 
2018 – present: Chairman of the Management Board at INTER RAO Lietuva 
2018 – present: Member of the Management Board, Interim Head of the Trading Division, PJSC Inter 
RAO 
2018 – 2018: Deputy Head of Exports Division, Division Management Block, PJSC Inter RAO 
2011 – 2018: Vice President of Marketing and Sales, LLC INTER RAO — Management of Electric 
Power Plants 
 

 
 

Tatiana Zaltsman 
Member of the Board at INTER RAO Lietuva  
(term: 2021.03.31 –2025.03.31) 
Head of Economic Planning Department PJSC Inter RAO, Legal 
form/ 
Public joint stock company
 Registration code/ 
1022302933630
 Address/ 
Bolshaya Pirogovskaya ulitsa, 27 
building 2, Moscow, Russia, 119435
   
 

 
 
Education: 
Krasnoyarsk State trade and Economic University, qualification – Economist 
Krasnoyarsk State Pedagogical University, qualification – English philologist 
The Academy of National Economy under the Government of the Russian Federation – MBA 
Career over the last five years: 
2018 – present: Member of the Management Board at INTER RAO Lietuva 
2018 – present: Member of Revision Commission PJSC Inter RAO 
2013 – present: Head of Economic Planning Department PJSC Inter RAO 
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Evgeny Sarymsakov 
Member of the Board  
(term: 2021.03.31 – 2025.03.31) 
 
Head of International Law Department of Legal Affairs Unit 
of PJSC Inter RAO, Legal form/ 
Public joint stock company
 
Registration code/ 
1022302933630
 Address/ 
Bolshaya 
Pirogovskaya ulitsa, 27 building 2, Moscow, Russia, 119435
   
 

Education: 
Master’s Degree at Moscow State Institute of International Relations, qualification – International 
Law 
 
Career over the last five years: 
2018 – present: Member of the Management Board at INTER RAO Lietuva 
2017 – 2018: Member of the Supervisory Council at INTER RAO Lietuva 
2012 – present: Head of International Law Department of Legal Affairs Unit of PJSC Inter RAO 

 

 
 

Giedrius Balčiūnas 
Member of the Management Board at INTER RAO Lietuva 
(term: 2021.03.31 –2025.03.31) 
Director General (CEO) at INTER RAO Lietuva, Legal form/ 
Public limited liability company Registration code/ 
126119913
 
Address/ 
A. Tumeno str. 4, Vilnius, Lithuania
  
 

 
Career over the last five years: 
2012 – present: Member of the Management Board at INTER RAO Lietuva 
2010 – present: Member of the Management Board at INTER RAO Eesti OÜ, Legal form/ Private limited 
company Registration code/ 
11879805
 Address/ 
Peterburi tee str. 47- 206, Tallinn city, Harju county, 
11415, Estonia 
2006 – 2018: Member of the Management Board at Alproka 
2003 – present: Director General (CEO) at INTER RAO Lietuva 
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Vidas Čebatariūnas 
Member of the Management Board at INTER RAO Lietuva 
(term: 2021.03.31 –2025.03.31) 
Director of Commerce of AB INTER RAO Lietuva, Legal form/ 
Public limited liability company Registration code/ 
126119913
 
Address/ 
A. Tumeno str. 4, Vilnius, Lithuania
   
 

Education: 
Master of Economic Analysis and Planning awarded by Vilnius University 
 
Career over the last five years: 
2012 – present: Member of the Management Board at IRL Polska, Legal form/ Private limited liability 
company Registration code/
458648, REGON number 14635508, NIP number 5252539965
 Address/ 
Twarda street 18, Warsaw, Poland 
 
2012 – present: Chairman of the Management Board at SIA INTER RAO Latvia, Legal form/ Limited 
liability company Registration code/ 
40103268639 A
ddress/ 
Gustava Zemgala gatve 76, Riga, LV-1039, 
Latvia
 
2010 – present: Member of the Management Board at INTER RAO Eesti OÜ, Legal form/ Private limited 
company Registration code/ 
11879805
 address/ 
Peterburi tee str. 47- 206, Tallinn city, Harju county, 
11415, Estonia 
2007 – present: Member of the Management Board at INTER RAO Lietuva 
2005 – present: Director of Commerce at INTER RAO Lietuva 
 

 
CEO 
The chief executive officer of the company is Giedrius Balčiūnas. Term in the position: 2003.05.21 – unlimited 
Chief accountant 
Chief accountant of the Company is Edita Vagonienė. Term in the position: 2012.10.01 – unlimited 
Audit committee 
The Company has formed an audit committee. On 31
st
 of August 2020 the new members of committee were elected. The 
term of the Audit committee members will end in April 2024. 
The members of the audit committee are the following: Mr Rytis Davidovičius , Mr Victor Kolotievskiy and Mr Vasily Kulikov.  
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Holdings in the Company by members of governing bodies, administration, and audit committee 
Table  below  presents  information  about  number  of  shares  held  in  the  Company  by  members  of  governing  bodies, 
administration: 

  

Name, surname 

Directly held shares 

Indirectly held 
shares 

Total 

  

  

No. of 
shares 

% of total 
equity 

No. of 
shares 

% of 
total 
equity 

No. of 
shares 

% of 
total 
equity 

Supervisory 
council 

Victor Kolotievskiy 

  

0.00% 

  

0.00% 

0 

0.00% 

Evgeniya Popova 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Jonas Garbaravičius* 

5,000 

0.025% 

5,822,856 

29.11% 

5,827,856 

29,14% 

Rytis Davidovičius 

  

0.00% 

  

0.00% 

0 

0.00% 

Vasily Kulikov  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Valerian Goncharov 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Management 
board 

Alexandra Panina 

  

0.00% 

  

0.00% 

0 

0.00% 

Evgeny Sarymsakov 

  

0.00% 

  

0.00% 

0 

0.00% 

Tatiana Zaltsman 

  

0.00% 

  

0.00% 

0 

0.00% 

Giedrius Balčiūnas 

  

 

 

 

 

 

Vidas Cebatariūnas 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Administration 

Giedrius Balčiūnas, 
CEO 

  

 

 

 

 

 

Edita Vagonienė, chief 
accountant 

  

0.00% 

  

0.00% 

0 

0.00% 

* - more specific information about shares held by Jonas Garbaravičius can be found on the section “Information about Share Capital and 
Shareholders” of this report. 
Remuneration of the members of the governing bodies, CEO and Chief accountant of the Company 
During 2021 in total EUR 1.220 million was paid as salaries for the members of governing bodies and administration. 
Except for salaries, there have been no other sums transferred by the Company to the members of governing bodies and 
administration. More detailed information regarding remuneration is presented in the table below. 

  

Salaries, EUR 

All members of the Supervisory Council collectively 

419,056 

Per member of the Supervisory Council on average 

69,842 

All members of the Board collectively 

796,377 

Per member of the Board on average 

159,275 

All members of administration (CEO and chief accountant) 

349,334 

Per member of administration 

174,667 

Important agreements 
The Company has not entered into any material contracts which would come into validity, change, or expire after the 
change in the control of the Company. 
The Company has not entered into any agreements with the members of the governing bodies, committees or employees 
regarding compensation in case members or employees resign, are fired without reasonable cause or their employment 
ceases due to change in control of the Company. 
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Harmful transactions 
During the reporting period there have been no any transactions performed on behalf of the Company which were harmful 
(not complying with the goals of the Company, usual market practices, conflicting with the interests of shareholders etc.), 
had or could have in the future any negative influence for the activities or financial results of the Company. 
According to the knowledge of the Company, during the reporting period there have been no any transactions made by 
the management, controlling shareholders or any other parties related to the Company which resulted in the private – 
corporate conflicts of interest. 
Auditors 
The Consolidated Financial Statements presented in the annual report were audited by UAB Ernst & Young Baltic (license 
No. 001335), with its seat at Aukštaičių 7, LT-11341 Vilnius, Lithuania. Ms Inga Gudinaitė (auditor license No. 000366) is 
the signatory of the independent auditors’ report on the Separate and Consolidated Financial Statements, a member of 
the Lithuanian Chamber of Auditors. 
Social Responsibility 
The Group constantly supports various organizations and initiatives as a part of its business mission. For the financial years 
ended 31
st
 December 2021, 2020, 2019, 2018, 2017 and 2016 the Group spent EUR 1.18 million, EUR 1.18 million, EUR 
1.42 million, EUR 1.17 million, EUR 1.18 million and EUR 1.15 million, respectively, on charity and other support. These 
costs represent Group’s corporate values and culture to support and contribute to the overall social welfare. Support, 
provided by the Group, is concentrated on three areas: communities, education and culture, sports. While contributing to 
the  social communities  the  Group  donates  to  orphanages,  hospitals,  churches  and  various other  charity  and support 
organizations.  When  sponsoring  culture  and  education  spheres,  the  Group  supports  universities,  schools,  theatres, 
orchestras and various other organizations and events. Sports sponsorship started at the very beginning of the company’s 
activities, the main attention is paid to basketball, soccer, car races, tennis and various other sports organizations and 
events. 
Environment matters 
The Group uses the most innovative means and the most modern technological processes that meet ecological standards. 
In addition, the Group owns wind park located in Vydmantai, which produces eco-friendly electricity. 
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V.  Personnel and Remuneration  
 
On 29th April, 2021 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders approved Company’s Remuneration Policy.  Annual report of 
the previous reporting period (including the part of the remuneration) was approved by the shareholders' meeting. 
Remuneration principles applied in 2021 comply with the ones identified in Company’s Remuneration Policy. 
The table below  presents the Company’s data on the headcount of employees divided into categories, in the periods 
indicated. 

 

As of 31
st
 December 

 

2021 

2020 

Management 

8 

8 

Sales Managers, including Traders 

5 

5 

PR & Marketing Staff  

1 

1 

Project managers 

2 

1 

Technical staff 

1 

1 

Office Staff 

7 

7 

Total  

24 

23 

 
The table below presents the Company’s data on the employee related expenses divided into employee categories, for the 
period indicated. 

 

As of 31
st
 December 2021 

 

Headcount 

Expenses, EUR million 

Management 

8 

2.735 

Sales Managers, including Traders 

5 

0.559 

PR & Marketing Staff  

1 

0.069 

Project managers 

2 

0.093 

Technical staff 

1 

0.019 

Office Staff 

7 

0.615 

Total  

24 

4.090 

 
On 31
st
 December 2021 24 employees were employed in the Company. Company’s personnel consisted of 8 managers and 
16 specialists. Average annual employment expenses per employee in 2021 amounted to EUR 342 thousand for managers 
and EUR 85 thousand for specialists. 
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The table below presents the Group’s data on the headcount of employees divided into categories, in the periods indicated. 

 

As of 31
st
 December 

 

2021 

2020 

Management 

8 

8 

Sales Managers, including Traders 

11 

11 

PR & Marketing Staff  

1 

1 

Project managers 

3 

2 

Technical staff 

3 

3 

Office Staff 

13 

13 

Total  

39 

38 

 
The table below presents the Group’s data on the employee related expenses divided into employee categories, for the 
period indicated. 

 

As of 31
st
 December 2021 

 

Headcount 

Expenses, EUR million 

Management 

8 

2.735 

Sales Managers, including Traders 

11 

0.852 

PR & Marketing Staff  

1 

0.069 

Project managers 

3 

0.111 

Technical staff 

3 

0.046 

Office Staff 

13 

0.757 

Total  

39 

4.570 

 
Once grouped by broad categories, on 31
st
 December 2021 Group’s personnel consisted of 8 managers and 31 specialists. 
Average employment expenses per employee in 2021 amounted to EUR 342 thousand for managers and EUR 59 thousand 
for specialists. 
As of 31
st
 December 2021, 31 of the Group’s employees were employed in Lithuania, 4 were employed in Latvia, 2 were 
employed in Estonia and 2 were employed in Poland.  
The Group recognizes the importance of its staff in operating a stable and efficient business, and in providing the highest 
level of customer service and, accordingly, the Group strives to recruit, train, reward and retain only the best personnel. 
The Group usually introduces a remuneration system comprised of a standard gross salary, paid  monthly,  as well  as 
bonuses, based on the discretionary decision of the Management. 
There are no trade unions or workers councils registered in the Group Companies. There are no collective bargaining 
agreements concluded in the Group companies. 
As of 31
st
 December 2021, the Group’s employees, except for Mr Jonas Garbaravičius, Mr Edvardas Važgėla, do not have 
any direct or indirect shareholdings in the Company, do not hold any stock options or other rights to the Shares and do 
not participate in any other way in the capital of the Company. There are no arrangements relating to such participation. 
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Senior Management 
In the opinion of the Company’s management, except for members of the Company’s corporate bodies, the following 
persons are the most important for the Group (herein after the “Senior Management”):  
 

Name 

Position/Function 

Paulius Vazniokas 

Economic Director 

Aistė Vaitaitytė 

Deputy CEO 

Edvardas Važgėla 

Electricity Trading Development Director 

Nerijus Veikša 

Legal Department Director 

Saulius Garbaravičius 

Chief Corporate Communication Officer 

 
The business address of the members of the Senior Management is the Company’s principal place of business at A. Tumėno 
4, Vilnius, Lithuania.
 
 
Paulius Vazniokas has been the Economic Director of the Company since 2007. He currently holds several positions in 
the Group Companies. Since 2007, Mr Vazniokas has also sat on the management board of UAB Scaent Baltic. He also 
holds various positions  in  companies  from  UAB  Scaent  Baltic’s group. Before  joining  the  Group,  Mr  Vazniokas  gained 
experience as: Head of Commercial Real Estate Department in Kaunas branch of Ober Haus UAB (2000-2002), Real Estate 
Project Manager and Director at AB Panevėžio keliai group (2002-2004), as well as a CFO and Head of Administration at 
UAB Realtus (2004-2007). 
Mr Vazniokas holds Bachelor's degree in Business Administration from Vytautas Magnus University, which he obtained in 
2000. In 2002 he obtained Master's degree in Finance and Banking from Vytautas Magnus University. Mr Vazniokas also 
obtained Ph. D. degree in Economics from Vytautas Magnus University in 2011. Since 2007, he has lectured at Vytautas 
Magnus University. Mr Vazniokas also studied law at Vilnius University (2002-2006). 
Aistė Vaitaitytė has been the Deputy CEO of the Company since 1 June 2005. She has been associated with the Group 
since  2003  and,  before  becoming  the  Deputy  CEO,  Ms  Vaitaityte  held  position  of  Head  of  Information  Analysis  and 
Transmission Division. 
Ms Vaitaitytė holds Master's degree in Law and Management from Mykolas Romeris University, which she obtained in 2003. 
In 2000 Ms Vaitaitytė obtained Bachelor's degree in Social sciences from Lithuanian University of Educational Sciences. 
Edvardas Važgėla has been the Electricity Trading Development Director of the Company since 2012. Before joining the 
Group, Mr Važgėla had, for over 20 years, been associated with Lietuvos energija AB, working as: Leading Engineer (1991-
1993), Energy Marketing Services Manager (1993-1996), Energy Trading Centre Director (1996-2001), Electricity Market 
Department Director (2001-2009) and Wholesale Electricity Trading Department Director (2010-2011). Moreover, in years 
1977-1991 Mr Važgėla worked for Lithuanian National Energy System, first as an Engineer Inspector and later as an 
Electrical Inspection Chief. 
Mr Važgėla graduated from the Kaunas Polytechnic Institute in  1977 with specialization in electricity engineering. His 
education also includes various courses in the fields of electricity and energy. 
Nerijus Veikša has been the Legal Department Director of the Company since 2007. His past professional experience 
includes posts of: Director at National Association of Business Administrators (2002-2003), Assistant General Director at 
Kauno termofikacinė elektrinė (2003-2006), lawyer at UAB Creditum (2007), General Director at UAB Scaent Baltic Energy 
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(2007-2009), Member of the supervisory board at OMX Baltic Benchmark Fund and Member of the management board at 
UAB SC Baltic Media (2009-2012), Member of the management board at UAB Scaent Baltic (2013-2015).  
Mr Veikša holds Master's degree in International Commercial Law from the Law Faculty of Vytautas Magnus University, 
which he obtained in 2002. In 1999, he also obtained Bachelor's degree in Business Administration from Vytautas Magnus 
University.  
Saulius Garbaravičius has been Chief Corporate Communication Officer since 2013. Since 2013 Mr Garbaravičius is a 
Member/Chairman of the Board at Orion Asset Management, UAB, since the year 2016 is CEO at Rigel Capital Partners Ltd 
and since 2016 is CEO at Onvestor Advisory Limited His past professional experience includes posts of: CEO at Orion 
Managing Partners B.V.. (2016-2018), Partner at CEE Resources&Investments LLP (2013-2014), Member of the Board at 
Oxygen Venture Capital (2013-2019), Member of the Board at UAB “Scaent Baltic” (2007-2013), Chairman of the Board at 
UAB “SC Baltic Media” (2008-2013), CEO at UAB “Franchise Media” (2008-2011), CEO at UAB “Intelligent Media” (2009-
2010). 
Mr Garbaravičius holds Bachelor’s degree in Philosophy from Vytautas Magnus University. 
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VI.  Statement on Corporate Governance 
 
6.1. Statement on compliance with the BEST PRACTICE FOR WSE LISTED COMPANIES 
* * * 
 
A statement on the company's compliance with the corporate governance principles contained 
in Best   Practice for GPW Listed Companies 2021 
 
According to the current status of compliance with the Best Practice, the Company does not apply 11 detailed principles: 1.4.2., 
2.1., 2.2., 2.3., 2.11.6., 3.6., 4.1., 4.3., 4.8., 5.6., 5.7. 
 
1.  DISCLOSURE POLICY, INVESTOR COMMUNICATIONS 
 
In the interest of all market participants and their own interest, listed companies ensure quality investor 
communications and pursue a transparent and fair disclosure policy. 
1.1.  Companies maintain efficient communications with capital market participants and provide fair information 
about  matters  that  concern  them.  For  that  purpose,  companies  use  diverse  tools  and  forms  of 
communication, including in particular the corporate website where they publish all information relevant for 
investors. 
The principle is applied. 
1.2.  Companies make available their financial results compiled in periodic reports as soon as possible after the 
end of each reporting period; should that not be feasible for substantial reasons, companies publish at least 
preliminary financial estimates as soon as possible. 
The principle is applied. 
1.3.  Companies integrate ESG factors in their business strategy, including in particular: 
 
1.3.1.  environmental factors, including measures and risks relating to climate change and sustainable 
development; 
The principle is applied. 
1.3.2.  social and employee factors, including among others actions taken and planned to ensure equal 
treatment of women and men, decent working conditions, respect for employees' rights, dialogue 
with local communities, customer relations. 
The principle is applied. 
1.4.  To ensure quality communications with stakeholders, as a part of the business strategy, companies publish 
on  their 
website information concerning the framework of  the  strategy, measurable goals, including in  particular 
long-term 
goals,  planned  activities  and  their  status,  defined  by  measures,  both  financial  and  non-financial.  ESG 
information 
concerning the strategy should among others: 
The principle is applied. 
1.4.1.  explain how the decision-making processes of the company and its group members integrate 
climate change, including the resulting risks; 
The principle is applied. 
1.4.2.  present  the  equal pay index  for  employees, defined as the percentage difference  between the 
average monthly pay (including bonuses, awards and other benefits) of women and men in the last 
year,  and  present  information  about  actions  taken  to  eliminate  any  pay  gaps,  including  a 
presentation of related risks and the time horizon of the equality target. 
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The principle is not applied. 
Comments of the Company: As of now, such index and information is not being published by the Company. 
However, in  practice the Company  consistently follows the principles of  equal opportunity and equal  pay 
amongst its employees and top management. The principle that men and women must be paid equally for 
the same work is an integral part of the Company's corporate culture and business strategy. 
1.5.  Companies disclose at least on an annual basis the amounts expensed by the company and its group in 
support  of 
culture, sports, charities, the media, social organizations, trade unions, etc. If the company or its group pay 
such 
expenses in the reporting year, the disclosure presents a list of such expenses. 
The principle is applied. 
1.6.  Companies  participating  in  the  WIG20,  mWIG40  or  sWIG80  index  hold  on  a  quarterly  basis  and  other 
companies  hold at least  on an  annual basis  a  meeting with  investors  to  which  they  invite  in  particular 
shareholders, analysts, industry experts and the media. At such meetings, the management board of the 
company  presents  and  comments  on  the  strategy  and  its  implementation,  the  financial  results  of  the 
company and its group, and the key events impacting the business of the company and its group, their 
results and outlook. At such meetings, the management board of the company publicly provides answers 
and explanations to questions raised.  
The principle is applied. 
1.7.  If an investor requests any information about a company, the company replies immediately and in any 
case no later than within 14 days.  
The principle is applied. 
 
2.
 
MANAGEMENT BOARD, SUPERVISORY BOARD 
 
To ensure top standards of the responsibilities and effective performance of the management board and the 
supervisory  board  of  a  company,  only  persons  with  the  adequate  competences,  skills  and  experience  are 
appointed to the management board and the supervisory board. 
 
Management  Board  members  act  in  the  interest  of  the  company  and  are  responsible  for  its  activity.  The 
management  board  is  responsible  among  others  for  the  company's  leadership, engagement  in  setting  and 
implementing its strategic objectives, and ensuring the company's efficiency and safety. 
 
Supervisory board members acting in their function and to the extent of their responsibilities on the supervisory 
board follow their independent opinion and judgement, including in decision making, and act in the interest of 
the company. 
 
The supervisory board functions in the spirit of debate and analyses the position of the company in the context 
of the sector and the market on the basis of information provided by the management board of the company 
and via the company's internal systems and functions and obtained from external sources, using the output of 
its committees. The supervisory board in particular issues opinions on the company's strategy, verifies the work 
of the management board in pursuit of defined strategic objectives, and monitors the company's performance. 
2.1.   Companies should have in place a diversity policy applicable to the management board and the supervisory 
board, approved by the supervisory board and the general meeting, respectively. The diversity policy defines 
diversity  goals  and  criteria,  among  others  including  gender,  education,  expertise,  age,  professional 
experience, and specifies the target dates and the monitoring systems for such goals. With regard to gender 
diversity of corporate bodies, the participation of the minority group in each body should be at least 30%. 
The principle is not applied. 
Comments of the Company: Even though there is no such policy in the Company established, the Company puts its 
best efforts to comply with general principals. Also a diversity, among others, in terms of gender is ensured as currently, 
there  are  two  women  in  governing  bodies  of  the  Company,  Mrs.  Alexandra  Panina,  is  the  chairwoman  of  the 
Management Board, while Mrs. Tatiana Zaltsman was elected to the Management Board on 8 June, 2020. 
2.2.  Decisions to elect members of the management board or the supervisory board of companies should ensure 
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that the composition of those bodies is diverse by appointing persons ensuring diversity, among others in 
order to achieve the target minimum participation of the minority group of at least 30% according to the 
goals of the established diversity policy referred to in principle 2.1. 
The principle is not applied. 
Comments of the Company: While such diversity is not yet achieved amongst the members of the Supervisory 
Council, the target minimum participation level is already achieved in the Management Board - already over 30% of its 
members, including the chairwoman, are women. Whilst the company does not fully comply with the principle yet, it 
strives  to  establish  a  diverse,  by  gender,  core  of  management,  with  women  currently  representing  40%  of  the 
management board, including chairwoman Mrs Alexandra Panina. 
2.3.       At least two members of the supervisory board meet the criteria of being independent referred to in the Act 
of 11 May 2017 on Auditors, Audit Firms and Public Supervision, and have no actual and material relations 
with any shareholder who holds at least 5% of the total vote in the company. 
The principle is not applied. 
Comments of the Company: As of the date of this report no member of the Supervisory Council meets criteria of 
being fully independent. However, the Company is putting its best efforts to comply with this principle. 
2.4.        The supervisory board and the management board vote in an open ballot unless otherwise required by law.  
The principle is applied.
 
2.5.  Members of the supervisory board and members of the management board who vote against a resolution 
may have their dissenting vote recorded in the minutes. 
The principle is applied. 
2.6.  Functions on the management board of a company are the main area of the professional activity of 
management board members. Management board members should not engage in additional professional 
activities if the time devoted to such activities prevents their proper performance in the company.
 
 
The principle is applied. 
2.7.  A company's management board members may sit on corporate bodies of companies other than members 
of its group subject to the approval of the supervisory board. 
The principle is applied. 
2.8.  Supervisory board members should be able to devote the time necessary to perform their duties.  
The principle is applied. 
2.9.  The chair of the supervisory board should not combine this function with that of chair of the audit 
committee of the supervisory board. 
The principle is applied. 
2.10.  Companies allocate administrative and financial resources necessary to ensure efficient functioning of the 
supervisory board in a manner adequate to their size and financial standing. 
The principle is applied. 
2.11.  In addition to its responsibilities laid down in the legislation, the supervisory board prepares and presents an 
annual report to the annual general meeting once per year. Such report includes at least the following: 
 
2.11.1.  information about the members of the supervisory board and its committees, including indication 
of those supervisory board members who fulfil the criteria of being independent referred to in the 
Act of 11 May 2017 on Auditors, Audit Firms and Public Supervision and those supervisory board 
members who have no actual and material relations with any shareholder who holds at least 5% of 
the total vote in the company, and information about the members of the supervisory board in the 
context of diversity; 
  The principle is applied. 
2.11.2.  summary of the activity of the supervisory board and its committees;  
  The principle is applied.
 
2.11.3.  assessment of the company's standing on a consolidated basis, including assessment of the internal 
control, risk management and compliance systems and the internal audit function, and information 
about measures taken by the supervisory board to perform such assessment; such assessment 
should cover all significant controls, in particular reporting and operational controls; 
  The principle is applied. 
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2.11.4.  assessment  of  the  company's  compliance  with  the  corporate  governance  principles  and  the  manner  of 
compliance with the disclosure obligations concerning compliance with the corporate governance principles 
defined in the Exchange Rules and the regulations on current and periodic reports published by issuers of 
securities, and information about measures taken by the supervisory board to perform such assessment; 
  The principle is applied. 
2.11.5.  assessment of the rationality of expenses referred to in principle 1.5;  
  The principle is applied.
 
2.11.6.  information regarding the degree of implementation of the diversity policy applicable to the management 
board and the supervisory board, including the achievement of goals referred to in principle 2.1. 
  The principle is not applied. 
  Comments of the Company: Even though there is no such diversity policy in the Company established, 
the Company puts its best efforts to comply with general principals. Since there is no such formalized policy, 
the Supervisory Council does not report on its implementation. However, the company does not rule out 
implementing this practice in the future. 
 
3.  INTERNAL SYSTEMS AND FUNCTIONS 
 
Efficient internal systems and functions are an indispensable tool of exercising supervision over a company. 
 
The systems cover the company and all areas of activity of its group which have a significant impact on the 
position of the company. 
 
3.1.  Listed  companies  maintain  efficient  internal  control,  risk  management  and  compliance  systems  and  an  efficient 
internal audit function adequate to the size of the company and the type and scale of its activity; The management 
board is responsible for their functioning.  
The principle is applied.
 
3.2.  Companies' organisation includes units responsible for the tasks of individual systems and functions unless it is not 
reasonable due to the size of the company or the type of its activity. 
The principle is applied. 
3.3.  Companies participating in the WIG20, mWIG40 or sWIG80 index appoint an internal auditor to head the internal 
audit function in compliance with generally accepted international standards for the professional practice of internal 
auditing. In other companies which do not appoint an internal auditor who meets such requirements, the audit 
committee (or the supervisory board if it performs the functions of the audit committee) assesses on an annual 
basis whether such person should be appointed.
 
The principle is applied. 
3.4.  The remuneration of persons responsible for risk and compliance management and of the head of internal audit should 
depend on the performance of delegated tasks rather than short-term results of the company. 
The principle is applied. 
3.5.  Persons responsible for risk and compliance management report directly to the president or other member of the 
management board. 
The principle is applied. 
3.6.  The head of internal audit reports organisationally to the president of the management board and functionally to the 
chair of the audit committee or the chair of the supervisory board if the supervisory board performs the functions of 
the audit committee. 
The principle is not applied. 
Comments of the Company: Due to the fact that the Company is not participating in the WIG20, mWIG40 or 
sWIG80 indexes, and because of a relatively low number of employees, a separate internal auditor is not appointed. 
However, at the same time the Company's internal audit and risk management systems are regularly reviewed and 
evaluated by the audit committee of the Supervisory Council. 
3.7.  Principles 3.4 to 3.6 apply also to members of the company's group which are material to its activity if they appoint 
persons to perform such tasks. 
The principle is applied. 
3.8.  The person responsible for internal audit or the management board if such function is not performed separately in the 






[image: ]ﬁ INTERRAO . ..,
LIETUVA








AB INTER RAO Lietuva, Company code 126119913, A.Tumėno str. 4, Vilnius, Lithuania 
COMPANY’S AND CONSOLIDATED ANNUAL REPORT 
FOR THE 12 MONTH PERIOD ENDED 31 December 2021 
(all amounts are in EUR thousand unless otherwise stated)  
 
 
 
83 
 
 
company reports to the supervisory board at least once per year with their assessment of the efficiency of the systems 
and functions referred to in principle 3.1 and tables a relevant report. 
The principle is applied. 
3.9.  The supervisory board monitors the efficiency of the systems and functions referred to in principle 3.1 among others 
on  the  basis  of  reports  provided  periodically  by  the  persons  responsible  for  the  functions  and  the  company's 
management board, and makes annual assessment of the  efficiency of such systems and functions according to 
principle 2.11.3. Where the company has an audit committee, the audit committee monitors the efficiency of the 
systems and functions referred to in principle 3.1, which however does not release the supervisory board from the 
annual assessment of the efficiency of such systems and functions. 
The principle is applied. 
3.10.  Companies participating in the WIG20, mWIG40 or sWIG80 index have the internal audit function reviewed at least 
once every five years by an independent auditor appointed with the participation of the audit committee. 
The principle not applicable. 
Comments of the Company: The Company is not participating in the WIG20, mWIG40 or sWIG80 indexes. 
 
4.  GENERAL MEETING, SHAREHOLDER RELATIONS 
 
The management board and the supervisory board of listed companies should encourage the engagement of 
shareholders in matters of the company, in particular through active participation in the general meeting, either 
in person or through a proxy. 
 
The  general  meeting  should proceed by respecting  the  rights of all shareholders and ensuring  that  passed 
resolutions do not infringe on legitimate interests of different groups of shareholders. 
 
Shareholders who participate in a general meeting exercise their rights in accordance with the rules of good 
conduct. Participants of a general meeting should come prepared to the general meeting. 
 
4.1.  Companies should enable their shareholders to participate in a general meeting by means of electronic communication 
(e-meeting) if justified by the expectations of shareholders notified to the company, provided that the company is in 
a position to provide the technical infrastructure necessary for such general meeting to proceed.  
The principle is not applied. 
Comments of the Company: The Company does not enable participation in the General Meeting by using electronic 
communication means due to so far limited availability of electronic systems, which would allow proper identification 
of online participants from different countries and security of information exchanged between them and the Company. 
Such option is allowed, but not mandatory under the Lithuanian Corporate Law applicable to the Company. However, 
the Company does not exclude that such means will be adopted in the future. 
4.2.  Companies set the place and date and the form of a general meeting so as to enable the participation of the highest 
possible number of shareholders. For that purpose, companies strive to ensure that the cancellation of a general 
meeting, change of its date or break in its proceedings take place only if justified and do not prevent or limit the 
exercising of the shareholders' rights to participate in the general meeting. 
The principle is applied. 
4.3.  Companies provide a public real-life broadcast of the general meeting.  
The principle is not applied.
 
Comments of the Company: At the moment the Company does not provide a public real-life broadcast of the general 
meeting of shareholders. However, the Company does not rule out that such means will be adopted in the future. 
4.4.  Presence of representatives of the media is allowed at general meetings.  
The principle is applied.
 
4.5.  If the management board becomes aware a general meeting being convened pursuant to Article 399 § 2 - 4 of the 
Commercial Companies Code, the management board immediately takes steps which it is required to take in order 
to organise and conduct the general meeting. The foregoing applies also where a general meeting is convened under 
authority granted by the registration court according to Article 400 § 3 of the Commercial Companies Code. 
The principle is applied. 
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4.6.  To help shareholders participating in a general meeting to vote on resolutions with adequate understanding, draft 
resolutions of the general meeting concerning matters and decisions other than points of order should contain a 
justification, unless it follows from documentation tabled to the general meeting. If a matter is put on the agenda of 
the general meeting at the request of a shareholder or shareholders, the management board requests presentation 
of the justification of the proposed resolution, unless previously presented by such shareholder or shareholders. 
The principle is applied. 
4.7.  The supervisory board issues opinions on draft resolutions put by the management board on the agenda of the general 
meeting. 
The principle is applied. 
4.8.  Draft resolutions of the general meeting on matters put on the agenda of the general meeting should be tabled by 
shareholders no later than three days before the general meeting. 
The principle is not applied. 
Comments of the Company: This principle is applied partially due to the rules established in the Lithuanian Corporate 
Law applicable to the Company. Namely, it is conceptually applied since when convocation of the general meeting is 
announced, the draft decisions are announced simultaneously and that must be done not later than 21 days before 
the  general  meeting  date.  Also,  if  the  agenda  is  being  supplemented  with  new  items,  such  new  items  must  be 
announced together with proposed related draft decisions not later than 10 days before the general meeting date. 
However, on the other hand, the Lithuanian Corporate Law also allows shareholders with at least  5% of votes to 
propose additional draft decisions also at a later stage, including during the general meeting itself. 
4.9.  If the general meeting is to appoint members of the supervisory board or members of the supervisory board for a new 
term of office: 
 
4.9.1.  candidates for members of the supervisory board should be nominated with a notice necessary for shareholders 
present at the general meeting to make an informed decision and in any case no later than three days before 
the general meeting; the names of candidates and all related documents should be immediately published on 
the company's website; 
The principle is applied. 
4.9.2.  candidates for members of the supervisory board make a declaration concerning fulfilment of the requirements 
for members of the audit committee referred to in the Act of 11 May 2017 on Auditors, Audit Firms and Public 
Supervision and having actual and material relations with any shareholder who holds at least 5% of the total 
vote in the company. 
The principle is applied. 
4.10.  Any exercise of the rights of shareholders or the way in which they exercise their rights must not hinder the proper 
functioning of the governing bodies of the company. 
The principle is applied. 
4.11.  Members of the management board and members of the supervisory board participate in a general meeting, at the 
location of the meeting or via means of bilateral real-time electronic communication, as necessary to speak on matters 
discussed by the general meeting and answer  questions  asked  at  the  general meeting. The management board 
presents  to  participants  of  an  annual  general  meeting  the  financial  results  of  the  company  and  other  relevant 
information, including non-financial information, contained in the financial statements to be approved by the general 
meeting.  The  management  board  presents  key  events  of  the  last  financial  year,  compares  presented  data  with 
previous years, and presents the degree of implementation of the plans for the last year. 
The principle is applied. 
4.12.  Resolutions of general meeting concerning an issue of shares with subscription rights should specify the issue price 
or the mechanism of setting the price or authorize the competent body to set the price prior to the subscription 
right record date within a timeframe necessary for investors to make decisions. 
 
The principle is applied. 
4.13.  Resolutions concerning a new issue of shares with the exclusion of subscription rights which grant pre-emptive rights 
for new issue shares to selected shareholders or other entities may pass subject at least to the following three criteria: 
 
a)  the company has a rational, economically justified need to urgently raise capital or the share issue is related to 
rational, economically justified transactions,  among others such as a merger with or the  take-over of  another 
company, or the shares are to be taken up under an incentive scheme established by the company; 
b)  the persons granted the pre-emptive right are to be selected according to objective general criteria; 
c)  the purchase price of the shares is in a rational relation with the current share price of the company or is to be 
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determined in book-building on the market. 
The principle is applied. 
4.14.  Companies should strive to distribute their profits by paying out dividends. Companies may retain all their earnings 
subject to any of the following criteria: 
 
a)  the earnings are minimal and consequently the dividend would be immaterial in relation to the value of the shares; 
b)  the company reports uncovered losses from previous years and the earnings are used to reduce such losses; 
c)  the company can demonstrate that investment of the earnings will generate tangible benefits for the shareholders; 
d)  the company generates insufficient cash flows to pay out dividends; 
e)  a dividend payment would substantially increase the risk to covenants under the company's binding credit facilities 
or terms of bond issue; 
f)  retention of the company's earnings follows recommendations of the authority which supervises the company by 
virtue of its business activity. 
The principle is applied. 
 
5.  CONFLICT OF INTEREST, RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 
For the purpose of this section, 'related party' is defined within the meaning of the International Accounting 
Standards approved in Regulation No (EU) 1606/2002 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 19 July 
2002 on the application of international accounting standards. 
 
Companies and their groups should have in place transparent procedures for managing conflicts of interest and 
for related party transactions where a conflict of interest may occur. The procedures should provide for ways 
to identify and disclose such cases and the course of action in the event that they occur. 
 
Members of the management board and members of the supervisory board should refrain from professional or 
other activities which might cause a conflict of interest or adversely affect their reputation as members of the 
corporate body, and where a conflict of interest arises, they should immediately disclose it. 
5.1.  Members  of the  management board and members  of  the supervisory board notify  the management board or the 
supervisory board, respectively, of any conflict of interest which has arisen or may arise, and refrain from discussions 
on the issue which may give rise to such a conflict of interest in their case. 
The principle is applied. 
5.2.  Where a member of the management board or a member of the supervisory board concludes that a decision of the 
management board or the supervisory board, respectively, is in conflict with the interest of the company, he or she 
should request that the minutes of the management board or supervisory board meeting show his or her dissenting 
opinion. 
The principle is applied. 
5.3.  No  shareholder should  have  preference over  other  shareholders  in  related  party  transactions.  The  foregoing also 
concerns transactions concluded by the company's shareholders with members of the company's group. 
The principle is applied. 
5.4.  Companies may buy back their own shares only in a procedure which respects the rights of all shareholders.  
The principle is applied.
 
5.5.  If a transaction concluded by a company with its related party requires the consent of the supervisory board, before 
giving its consent the supervisory board assesses whether to ask a prior opinion of a third party which can provide 
valuation of the transaction and review its economic impact. 
The principle is applied. 
5.6.  If a related party transaction requires the consent of the general meeting, the supervisory board issues an opinion 
on the rationale of such transaction. In that case, the supervisory board assesses whether to ask a prior opinion of a 
third party referred to in principle 5.5. 
The principle is not applied. 
Comments of the Company: This principle is applied partially due to the rules established in the Lithuanian Corporate 
Law applicable to the Company. Namely, it is conceptually applied since under the aforesaid law transactions with 
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related parties are indeed analyzed by the Supervisory Council. However, formally principle 5.6. is not applied because 
under Lithuanian laws such transactions are not only analyzed but also approved by the Supervisory Council, not by 
the general meeting. 
5.7.  If a decision concerning the company's significant transaction with a related party is made by the general meeting, 
the company should give all shareholders access to information necessary to assess the impact of the transaction on 
the interest of the company before the decision is made, including an opinion of the supervisory board referred to in 
principle 5.6. 
The principle is not applied. 
Comments of the Company: This principle is applied partially due to the rules established in the Lithuanian Corporate 
Law applicable to the Company. Namely, it is conceptually applied since under the aforesaid law transactions with 
related parties are indeed analyzed by the Supervisory Council. However, formally principle 5.7. is not applied because 
under Lithuanian laws such transactions are not only analyzed but also approved by the Supervisory Council, not by 
the general meeting. 
 
6. REMUNERATION 
 
Companies and their groups protect the stability of their management teams, among others by transparent, 
fair, consistent and non-discriminatory terms of remuneration, including equal pay for women and men. 
 
Companies' remuneration policy for members of corporate bodies and key managers should in particular 
determine the form, structure, and method of determining and payment of the remuneration. 
6.1.  The  remuneration  of  members  of  the  management  board  and  members  of  the  supervisory  board  and  key 
managers  should  be  sufficient  to  attract,  retain  and  motivate  persons  with  skills  necessary  for  proper 
management and supervision of the company. The level of remuneration should be adequate to the tasks and 
responsibilities delegated to individuals and their resulting accountability. 
The principle is applied. 
6.2.  Incentive schemes should be constructed in a way necessary among others to tie the level of remuneration of 
members  of  the  company's  management  board  and  key  managers  to  the  actual  long-term  standing  of  the 
company measured by its financial and non-financial results as well as long-term shareholder value creation, 
sustainable development and the company's stability. 
The principle is applied. 
6.3.  If companies' incentive schemes include a stock option programme for managers, the implementation of the 
stock option programme should depend on the beneficiaries' achievement, over a period of at least three years, 
of predefined, realistic financial and non-financial targets and sustainable development goals adequate to the 
company, and the share price or option exercise price for the beneficiaries cannot differ from the value of the 
shares at the time when such programme was approved. 
The principle is applied. 
6.4.  As the supervisory board performs its responsibilities on a continuous basis, the remuneration of supervisory 
board members cannot depend on the number of meetings held. The remuneration of members of committees, 
in particular the audit committee, should take into account additional workload on the committee. 
The principle is applied. 
6.5.  The level of remuneration of supervisory board members should not depend on the company's short-term results.  
The principle is applied. 
 
* * * 
 
6.2.  Description of the procedures of the General Meeting and its main powers and the rights 
of the shareholders and procedures of their execution 
6.2.1.
  Procedures
 
of the General Meeting
 
The General Meeting is the supreme corporate body of the Company. Procedures and powers of the General Meeting of 
Shareholders are regulated in the Articles of Association and specified in the Lithuanian Company Law.  
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The Company must hold at least one Annual General Meeting within four months of the end of the financial year. The 
Annual General Meeting, among other things, is entitled to resolve important corporate matters, such as any amendments 
to the Articles of Association, any increase and reduction of the share capital of the Company, election and removal of 
members of the Supervisory Council , selection and removal of the audit firm, approval of the annual financial statements 
and interim financial statements, adoption of a decision on the distribution of profit, dissolution, merger or transformation 
of the Company, and certain other matters. 
The right of initiative to convene the General Meeting is vested in the Supervisory Council , the Management Board and 
any shareholders holding at least 1/10 of all votes. 
The agenda of the General Meeting shall be prepared by the Management Board or CEO (if the General Meeting is convened 
by him/her). The General Meeting shall have no right to adopt decisions on issues not announced in the agenda, except 
when all shareholders with voting rights participate in the General Meeting and no one of them has voted in writing. 
The  agenda  of  the  General  Meeting  may  be  supplemented  based  on  suggestions  of  the  Supervisory  Council  ,  the 
Management Board and any shareholder holding at least 1/20 of all votes, as long as the suggestion is received not later 
than 14 calendar days prior to the General Meeting. Such suggestion shall be submitted in writing or by means of electronic 
communication,  together  with  draft  decisions,  or  when  no  decisions  must  be  adopted,  explanations  on  each  of  the 
suggested agenda items shall be submitted. 
Shareholders have the right to ask questions regarding items on the agenda of the General Meeting in advance. Under 
Lithuanian law, the Company is obliged to answer these questions before the General Meeting, provided that the questions 
were received by the Company not later than 3 business days prior to the General Meeting. If several questions of identical 
content are submitted, the Company may respond with a single answer. 
If the General Meeting is not held due to absence of a quorum (shareholders that have more than half of all votes and 
participate at the General Meeting constitute a quorum), a repeat General Meeting shall be convened not earlier than in 
14 calendar days, and not later than 21 calendar days following the failed General Meeting. The shareholders shall be 
informed of the convening of the repeat General Meeting in the same manner as the failed General Meeting, but not later 
than 14 calendar days prior to the repeat General Meeting. 
6.2.2.  Voting at the General Meeting 
Each ordinary share of the Company confers one vote at the General Meeting. Participation and voting in the General 
Meeting or the repeat General Meeting shall be reserved only for those who are shareholders on the record date, 
i.e.
 those 
who are shareholders at the end of the fifth business day prior to the General Meeting or prior to the repeat General 
Meeting.  
Those authorised by the shareholders and holding a power of attorney issued by means of electronic communication to 
an individual or a company to participate and vote on his/her behalf at the General Meeting may attend and vote at the 
General Meeting. Persons with whom an agreement on assignment of voting rights has been concluded may attend and 
vote at the General Meeting if a shareholder informs the CEO of the Company of any transfer of voting rights by providing 
copies  of  the  respective  agreement  and  (or)  authorization. Under the  Articles  of  Association such document must  be 
provided to the Company within 7 calendar days of the signing of the respective document. 
Anyone attending the General Meeting and entitled to vote must present a document which is a proof of his/her identity. 
Anyone who is not a shareholder must additionally present a document proving his/her right to vote at the General Meeting. 
In  addition,  shareholders  may  vote  in  advance  of  the  General  Meeting  by  filling  in  written  general  voting  ballots. 
Shareholders that have voted in advance shall be deemed as participating in the General Meeting and their votes will be 
counted when establishing the quorum and voting results. If the shareholder so requests, the Company, no later than 10 
days before the General Meeting, must dispatch a general ballot paper by registered mail or present this against signature, 
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free of charge. The general ballot paper must also be available on the Company’s website (www.interrao.lt) no later than 
21 days before the General Meeting. 
The General Meeting shall be deemed to have taken place and will be able to adopt decisions if the shareholders holding 
more than half of all votes of the Company participate in the General Meeting. If the required quorum is not present, the 
General Meeting shall be deemed to have failed to take place and a repeat General Meeting shall be convened. A repeat 
General Meeting shall be held based on the agenda of the failed General Meeting and shall not be subject to quorum 
requirements. General voting ballots of a failed General Meeting will be valid in a repeat General Meeting. 
All shareholders participating in the General Meeting have the right to vote and ask questions during the General Meeting. 
The right to participate and to speak at the General Meeting shall also be held by the members of the Supervisory Council 
, Management Board, CEO, the General Meeting inspector and the auditor that prepared the conclusion and the report.  
The Company must record the voting results for each decision adopted at the General Meeting. The shareholders at the 
General Meeting shall elect the General Meeting inspector who determines the total number of votes carried by the shares 
issued by the Company on the day of the General Meeting, the number of valid and invalid general ballot papers filled-in 
and submitted in advance, the number of valid and invalid proxies submitted, the number of submitted agreements on the 
disposal of voting rights, the number of voting shares represented at the General Meeting (in person, through proxies, 
through persons under agreements on the disposal of voting rights, under the general ballot papers filled-in in advance, 
under other documents entitling to vote), whether the General Meeting has a quorum, and the results of voting at the 
General Meeting. 
Not later than within 7 days following the General Meeting, the Company must post the voting results of the General 
Meeting on its website. Shareholders or their representatives that have participated in the General Meeting may become 
familiar with the meeting minutes, and within 3 calendar days after becoming familiar (but not later than within 10 calendar 
days of the General Meeting), may submit their comments and opinions in writing. 
6.2.3  Electing members of the Supervisory Council 
The members of the Supervisory Council are elected by the General Meeting. Under the Lithuanian law candidates for a 
supervisory Council may be proposed by the Management Board and a shareholder(s) holding shares representing at least 
5% of votes. When electing Supervisory Council members, each shareholder has a number of votes equal to the number 
of votes carried by the shares of the Company he/she owns, multiplied by the number of members of the Supervisory 
Council  being  elected.  A  shareholder  can distribute  votes  at  his/her  own  discretion,  granting  them  to  one  or  several 
candidates. The candidate who receives the highest number of votes prevails. The chairman of the Supervisory Council is 
elected by the members of the Supervisory Council. If the number of candidates who received an equal number of votes 
exceeds the number of vacancies on the Supervisory Council, a repeat vote shall be held in which each shareholder may 
vote only for one of the candidates who received the equal number of votes. 
The General Meeting may remove the entire Supervisory Council or its individual members before the expiry of their term 
of office. Such decision requires a simple majority of votes. If an individual member is removed, resigns or discontinues 
the performance of his/her duties for other reasons, and the shareholders whose shares carry at least 1/10 of all votes 
object to the election of individual members of the Supervisory Council , then the entire Supervisory Council shall lose its 
powers and shall be subject to election. Where individual members of the Supervisory Council are elected, they shall be 
elected only until the expiry of the term of office of the current Supervisory Council. 
Under the shareholders’ agreement entered by the principal shareholder of the Company (the Shareholders’ Agreement), 
at all times during the validity of the Shareholders’ Agreement, the principal shareholders will vote their shares in order to 
elect five candidates nominated by the principal shareholders. In addition, the principal shareholders will vote their shares 
to appoint two independent members proposed by the principal shareholder, since under Lithuanian law, candidates for a 
Supervisory Council may be proposed by the Management Board and any shareholder(s) holding shares representing at 
least 5% of votes.   
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6.2.4.  Approval of annual accounts 
Annual financial statements and an annual report are prepared by the CEO, assessed by the Management Board and 
commented on by the Supervisory Council . The Annual General Meeting receives annual financial statements and the 
annual report, together with comments and proposals of the Supervisory Council , and adopts a decision to approve the 
audited annual financial statements. The same procedure, 
mutatis mutandis,
 applies to the approval of interim accounts 
of the Company if the General Meeting makes a decision to distribute dividends to the shareholders of the Company for a 
period shorter than the financial year. 
The annual financial statements, auditor’s report, annual report and other information required under Lithuanian law must 
be made available to shareholders for review from the date of the notice on convening the Annual General Meeting. 
6.2.5.  Distribution of profit 
Pursuant  to  the  Law  on  Companies  of  the  Republic  of  Lithuania,  the  Company  may  distribute  its  profit  or  assets  to 
shareholders only (i) by paying dividend; (ii) in case of liquidation of the Company; or (iii) in case of reduction of the share 
capital of the Company. 
Decision to distribute profits of the Company, as well as to establish, use, decrease and/or cancel the reserves, is adopted 
in the General Meeting by the qualified ¾ majority of votes of shareholders participating in the General Meeting.  
The General Meeting may adopt a decision to declare annual and interim dividends by the qualified ¾ majority of votes 
of shareholders participating at the General Meeting. The Company is allowed to pay dividends (i) only to the extent that 
the Company’s equity exceeds the aggregate nominal value of all of the Company’s shares plus the amount of any reserves 
(mandatory reserve, the revaluation reserve and the reserve for acquisition of own shares) that the Company is required 
to, or is allowed to, maintain pursuant to the Articles of Association or the provisions of applicable laws; (ii) only if the 
Company has no outstanding non-performed obligations with due terms before the adoption of the decision to pay out 
dividends, and (iii) only if the Company during the respective financial year or interim financial period has made profit. 
Further, payment of interim dividends may be initiated by the proposal of shareholders, holding at least 1/3 of all votes of 
the Company. In addition to the above mentioned conditions, interim dividends are allowed to be paid only if (i) financial 
statements for the respective period shorter than the financial year are audited and approved by the General Meeting; (ii) 
profit was generated during the respective period that is shorter than the financial year; (iii) the amount of the paid-out 
interim dividends do not exceed the following: a) profit generated during the respective period that is shorter than the 
financial year, plus undistributed profit (accumulated during all earlier years) present at the end of the previous financial 
year, minus part of the profit generated during the respective period that is shorter than the financial year that must be 
allocated to reserves under the Articles of Association or the Law on Companies (
i.e.
 if the mandatory reserve is below 
1/10 of the registered share capital, deductions must be made to it of not less than 1/20 of the net profit of the respective 
financial year); (iv) the Company has no outstanding obligations which became due before adoption of the decision to pay 
out interim dividends and after the interim dividends are paid, the Company will remain able to meet its obligations for 
the current financial year. 
Dividends are paid to persons who, at the end of the rights record date (i.e. the tenth business day following the day the 
decision to distribute dividends was adopted by the General Meeting), were shareholders of the Company or were otherwise 
entitled to receive dividends. Each shareholder is entitled to dividends 
pro rata
 to the number of shares held by such 
shareholder. The Company must pay dividends within one month of the date of resolution adopted by the General Meeting.  
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6.2.6.  Issuance of shares 
The Company may issue new shares pursuant to a resolution of the General Meeting adopted by qualified ¾ majority of 
votes of shareholders participating at the General Meeting; no special quorum is required. A qualified ¾ majority of votes 
of shareholders participating at the General Meeting is also required to issue convertible bonds. The decision of the General 
Meeting to issue new shares shall be deemed void in case of failure to submit the amended Articles of Association to the 
Register of Legal Entities of the Republic of Lithuania within six months of the day on which the General Meeting adopted 
the decision. If this deadline is not met, the contributions for the subscribed shares must immediately be returned, without 
any deductions at the written request of the subscriber. 
The Company’s share capital may be increased from the Company’s own funds by issuing new shares. In such case the 
shareholders are entitled to receive new additional shares for no consideration in proportion to the nominal value of the 
shares owned by them on the rights record day (
i.e.
 the tenth business day following the day of the decision of the General 
Meeting to increase the Company’s share capital).  
A qualified ¾ majority of votes of shareholders participating at the General Meeting is also required to establish the class, 
number, nominal value, minimal issue price of shares in the Company, as well as to convert the Company’s shares of one 
class into another class and related procedures. 
6.2.7.  Amendment
 
of the Articles of Association
 
The General Meeting can resolve to amend the Articles of Association by a qualified ¾ majority of votes of shareholders 
participating  at  the  General  Meeting.  The  amended  Articles  of  Association  shall  come  into  force  on  the  day  of  the 
registration  of  the  Articles  of  Association  with  the  Register  of  Legal  Entities  of  the  Republic  of  Lithuania.  Once  the 
amendments to the Articles of Association are entered in the companies register, the Company publishes a relevant current 
report. 
6.2.8.  The rights of the shareholders and procedures of their execution 
In addition to the rights described above, the shareholders of the Company also enjoy other rights established by the 
Lithuanian Company Law or other legal acts of the Republic of Lithuania. 
6.2.9.  Right to transfer the shares 
According to Lithuanian law, the Company is prohibited from introducing any additional restrictions of the shareholders 
right to dispose of fully paid shares to another person. There are no restrictions on transfer of the shares, other than those 
described in applicable laws or agreed between the shareholders of the Company. 
6.2.10.  Pre-emptive right 
Each shareholder holding the shares at the end of the rights record date (
i.e.
 the tenth business day following the day of 
the decision of the General Meeting to increase the Company’s share capital) has a pre-emptive right with respect to all 
new share issuances or convertible bonds, in proportion to the number of shares held by such shareholder. 
Pre-emptive rights may be withdrawn by a decision of the General Meeting taken by a qualified ¾ majority of votes of 
shareholders participating at the General Meeting. The right of pre-emption to acquire new shares being issued by the 
Company or the convertible bonds may only be withdrawn for all shareholders of the Company. A written proposal to 
withdraw  the  pre-emptive  right  must  be  given  by  the  Management  Board,  indicating  reasons  and  causes  for  such 
withdrawal, as well as persons who would be offered to acquire the newly issued securities. The General Meeting, taking 
a decision on withdrawal of the pre-emptive right, must justify the necessity to withdraw such right and specify the person 
or persons who are given the right to subscribe to newly issued securities or convertible bonds, save for cases when the 
pre-emptive right is withdrawn because of the intention to make a public offering of securities of the Company under the 
procedure set by the Lithuanian Law on Securities. 
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6.2.11.  Right to receive Information 
At the written request of any shareholder, the Company shall, no later than within 7 days from the day of receipt of such 
request, submit to the shareholder to become familiar with and (or) present copies of the following documents: the Articles 
of Association of the Company, annual and interim financial statements, annual and interim reports of the Company, audit 
statements and reports, minutes of the General Meeting and other documents containing decisions of the General Meeting, 
lists of the shareholders, other documents of the Company which must be public by law of the Republic of Lithuania as 
long as they do not contain any commercial (industrial) secret or confidential information of the Company. Upon submission 
to the Company of a written undertaking in the form established by the Company not to disclose the commercial (industrial) 
secret and confidential information, a shareholder or group of shareholders holding or possessing more than half of all the 
shares shall have the right to become familiar with all documents of the Company. The Company has the right to refuse 
to provide to the shareholder present copies of the documents if it is unable to determine the identity of the shareholder. 
Refusal  to  provide  to  the  shareholder  with  present  documents  shall  be  executed  by  the  Company  in  writing  at  the 
shareholder’s request. Disputes regarding the right of the shareholder to information shall be settled in court. 
The Company’s documents and other information or copies thereof shall be presented to the shareholders at the registered 
office  of  the  Company.  The  Company’s  documents,  their  copies  and  other  information  shall  be  presented  to  the 
shareholders, free of charge. 
6.2.12.  Inquiry
 
right
 
One or more shareholders, individually or jointly representing at least 1/10 of the share capital of the Company, may assert 
their inquiry right. This means that they may appeal to the court in writing to appoint one or more experts to conduct an 
inquiry of the activity and affairs of the Company, 
i.e.
 whether the Company or the Company’s corporate bodies or their 
members acted in the proper manner. 
In the event of improper performance of the activity, the following sanctions may be imposed by the court after evaluating 
the  findings  reported  by  the  appointed  experts:  (i)  revocation  of  the  resolutions  taken  by  the  corporate  bodies;  (ii) 
temporary suspension of the powers of the members of the corporate bodies or exclusion of a person from the corporate 
body; (iii) appointment of provisional members of corporate bodies; (iv) authorisation of non-implementation of certain 
provisions  of  incorporation  documents;  (v)  obligation  to  make  amendments  to  certain  provisions  of  incorporation 
documents; (vi) transferral to another person of the member’s right of the corporate body to vote; (vii) obligation of the 
Company to take or not take certain actions; and (viii) liquidation of the Company and appointment of a liquidator. 
6.3.  Personal composition and procedures of the Company’s Management and Supervisory Council and its 
committees 
Rules of conduct of the Supervisory Council , its committees and the Management Board are regulated in the Articles of 
Association of the Company and the Regulations of work of the Supervisory Council , its committees and the Supervisory 
Council , respectively.  
6.3.1.  Management Board 
The Company’s Management Board consists of five board members, including the chairman of the Management Board. 
Under Lithuanian law, the Management Board may act if at least 2/3 of the number of members established in the Articles 
of Association are appointed and participate in the Management Board activities. Under the Articles of Association, the 
members are appointed for a term of four years. Each member may be reappointed. The Supervisory Council elects the 
Board members by a majority of votes of the members who attended the Supervisory Council’s meeting and those who 
voted in advance. The chairman of the Management Board is elected by the Management Board. The Supervisory Council 
may recall the entire Management Board or its individual members before the expiry of the term of their office if at least 
2/3 of the Supervisory Council members  present  at the meeting vote for such  a  decision. The Management Board is 
responsible for the strategic direction of the Company under the supervision of the Supervisory Council . Under the Articles 
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of Association, all resolutions of the Management Board must, depending on the type of decision, be adopted either by a 
simple majority of the votes cast, or unanimously. 
The following decisions must be adopted unanimously (defined as all members of the Management Board vote for the 
adoption of the decision): (i) to approve and amend the by-laws of the Management Board; (ii) election and removal of 
the CEO, establishment of his/her salary and other employment conditions, to provide him/her incentives and impose 
penalties; approval of the by-laws of the CEO; (iii) approval of the business strategy of the Company; (iv) approval of the 
management structure and positions of the Company; (v) becoming an incorporator or member of other legal entities and 
acquisition of shares or part of capital in other legal entities; (vi) establishing branches and representative offices of the 
Company, approval of their regulations and nomination of their managers; (vii) investing, transferring of or leasing the 
tangible long-term assets, the book value of which exceeds 1/20 of the authorised share capital of the Company (calculated 
individually for each type of transaction); (viii) pledging or mortgaging the tangible long-term assets, the book value of 
which exceeds 1/20 of the authorised share capital of the Company (calculated for the total amount of transactions); (ix) 
granting surety or guarantee for the discharge of obligations of third persons, the amount of which exceeds 1/20 of the 
authorised share capital of the Company; (x) acquiring tangible long-term assets, the price of which exceeds 1/20 of the 
authorised  share  capital  of  the  Company;  (xi)  approval,  amendment  or  termination  of  the  transactions  between  the 
Company and persons related to shareholders (except for transactions regarding the sale or purchase of electricity and/or 
transactions that are included in the annual investment program or budget approved by the Management Board); (xii) 
approval or amendment of the annual budget of the Company; (xiii) adopting decisions on issuance of debentures; (xiv) 
approval of transactions which are outside the scope of an annual investment program approved by the Management 
Board and investments exceeding EUR 1.5 million; (xv) any decisions related to the exercising of the shareholder’s rights 
or obligations in any controlled legal entity of the Company, including (without limitation) voting in the general meetings 
of shareholders, nomination of the candidates to the governing bodies etc.; (xvi) making transactions or actions for sale 
or other transfer of the shares, capital or any other form of the membership interest (including any rights carried thereby) 
held by the Company in any legal entity; (xvii) decision of any other issue attributed to the competence of the Management 
Board by the laws, by the decisions of the General Meeting and by the Articles of Association; (xviii) approval of the annual 
investment  program  of  the  Company;  and  (xix)  approval  of  transactions  whereby  loans,  credits  or  similar  financial 
arrangements to be obtained by the Company or whereby loans, credits or similar financial arrangements to be extended 
by the Company. 
The term of office of the Management Board shall commence after the closing of the Meeting of the Supervisory Council 
at which it was elected. The Management Board shall perform its functions for a term of four years or until election and 
commencement of functioning of a new Management Board, but no longer than until the annual General Meeting to be 
held in the year at the end of the term of office of the Management Board. As at the date of the Report, the Management 
Board is composed of five members.  
6.3.2.  Supervisory Council 
The Supervisory Council consists of seven members, including the chairman. Under Lithuanian law, the Supervisory Council 
may act if at least half of the number of members established in the Articles of Association are appointed and participate 
in Supervisory Council activities. The members of the Supervisory Council are elected by the General Meeting. The General 
Meeting may also remove the entire Supervisory Council or its individual members before the expiry of their term of office. 
The  Supervisory  Council  is  responsible  for  supervising  the  activities  of  the  Management  Board  and  the  CEO.  The 
Supervisory Council may adopt decisions, and its meetings are considered to have been validly held only if more than half 
of its members are present, or represented during such a meeting. The members of the Supervisory Council who have 
voted in advance shall also be considered to have attended the meeting. Each member of the Supervisory Council is 
entitled to one vote. 
Under the Articles of Association, the members of the Supervisory Council are elected for a term of four years by the 
General Meeting. The Supervisory Council commences its activities after the closing of the General Meeting which elected 






[image: ]‘*ﬁ INTERRAO . ..,
LIETUVA








AB INTER RAO Lietuva, Company code 126119913, A.Tumėno str. 4, Vilnius, Lithuania 
COMPANY’S AND CONSOLIDATED ANNUAL REPORT 
FOR THE 12 MONTH PERIOD ENDED 31 December 2021 
(all amounts are in EUR thousand unless otherwise stated)  
 
 
 
93 
 
 
the Supervisory Council and shall perform its functions for a period of four years or until a new Supervisory Council is 
elected, but not for longer than the date of the annual General Meeting to be held during the final year of the term of 
office of the Supervisory Council . 
The  Supervisory Council shall  have  all  powers  and rights  provided for  by  the  laws  and  these  Articles  of Association, 
including: (i) to approval and amendment of by-laws of Supervisory Council ; (ii) election of members of the Management 
Board and removal from the office; (iii) supervision of activities of the Management Board and CEO; (iv) submission of 
comments and proposals to the General Meeting on the Company’s operating strategy, annual financial statements, draft 
of profit (loss) appropriation and the annual report of the Company, as well as the activities of the Management Board 
and CEO; (v) submission of comments and proposals to the General Meeting on draft decision of allocation of dividends 
for any period shorter than the financial year, and for that purpose composed interim financial statements and annual 
report; (vi) submission of proposals to the Management Board and CEO to revoke any decisions which are in conflict with 
the laws, other legal acts, the Articles of Association or decisions of the General Meeting; (vii) request the Management 
Board  and  the  CEO  to  submit  documents  related  to  the  activity  of  Company;  (viii)  right  to  make  proposals  for  the 
reorganization terms; (ix) right to initiate the conveyance of the General Meeting; (x) right to supplement the agenda of 
the General Meeting; and (xi) a member of Supervisory Council has the right attend and speak at the General Meeting. 
A decision to remove a member of the Management Board from office may be taken if at least 2/3 of the Supervisory 
Council members present at the meeting, including any who have voted in advance, vote for it. 
As at the date of this report, the Supervisory Council is composed of six members. The Company expects that additional 
member of  the  Supervisory Council will  be  elected during the Annual General  Meeting. It is expected that  additional 
member of the Supervisory Council shall meet criteria of being independent.   
6.3.3.  Committees 
In order to properly implement its supervisory function, the Supervisory Council has the right to form its committees. The 
audit committee is formed from among the members of the Supervisory Council. The audit committee shall consist of three 
members  of  the  Supervisory  Council.  As  of  31
st
  August  2020  Mr  Victor  Kolotievskiy,  Mr  Vasily Kulikov  and  Mr.  Rytis 
Davidovičius were elected as members of audit committee of the Company . 
The Audit committee’s term of office shall be the same as the Supervisory Council . Any decisions made by the audit 
committee shall be only of an advisory nature to the Supervisory Council . The main tasks of the Audit committee shall 
include, among others, the monitoring of the Company’s financial information integrity, the external auditor’s independence 
and  objectivity,  as  well  as  the  effectiveness  of  the  external  audit  process,  the  review  of  internal  control  and  risk 
management systems. 
6.3.4.  Description of the basic features of the Company’s internal control and risk management 
systems related to the process of preparing financial statements 
The Company’s system of internal control and risk management in the process of drawing up financial statements  is 
implemented through: 
- the audit of the annual financial statements of the Company and the Group companies; 
- verification whether a single accounting policy is applied by the Company’s Group companies as regards the recognition, 
measurement and disclosures in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by EU (IFRS); 
- following accounting standards and monitoring compliance with them. 
The Company maintains its financial statements in accordance with the IFRS as adopted by the European Union and set 
by International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”), and interpretations issued by the International Financial Reporting 
Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”), and as applicable in the respective years.  
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The Company has certain procedures to authorise the financial statements under which the periodical annual reports are 
submitted to the Management Board for an approval and after the approval disclosed in public. Subsequently, the financial 
statements  are  forwarded  to  the  Supervisory  Council  for  their  opinion.  The  Annual  General Meeting receives  annual 
financial statements and the annual report, together with comments and proposals of the Supervisory Council , and adopts 
a decision to approve the audited annual financial statements. Before the publication, the financial statements are treated 
as confidential information of the Company and provided solely to persons involved in the preparation, verification and 
approval process which are bind under the confidentiality undertakings. 
6.3.5.  Publicly announced information 
During the period from the start of 2021 to 31
st
 December 2021 Company publicly announced and broadcasted through 
Warsaw Stock Exchange information system and on own webpage the following information: 

Title 

Category of 
announcement 

Language 

Date 

 

 

 

 

Publication date of the results for the 4th quarter of 2020 
and the Annual Information for 2020 of AB INTER RAO 
Lietuva 

Investor news 

EN, LT 

17-Feb-2021 

Announcement of the results for the 4th quarter of 2018 
and the Annual Information for 2020 of AB INTER RAO 
Lietuva 

Annual information 

EN, LT 

19-Feb-2021 

Announcement  of  the  transactions  concluded  by 
managers in AB INTER RAO Lietuva securities 

Notification  on 
transactions  concluded 
by managers  

EN, LT 

02-Mar-2021 

Announcement  of  the  transactions  concluded  by 
managers in AB INTER RAO Lietuva securities 

Notification  on 
transactions  concluded 
by managers  

EN, LT 

03-Mar-2021 

Announcement  of  the  transactions  concluded  by 
managers in AB INTER RAO Lietuva securities 

Notification  on 
transactions  concluded 
by managers  

EN, LT 

09-Mar-2021 

Announcement  of  the  transactions  concluded  by 
managers in AB INTER RAO Lietuva securities 

Notification  on 
transactions  concluded 
by managers  

EN, LT 

16-Mar-2021 

Announcement  of  the  transactions  concluded  by 
managers in AB INTER RAO Lietuva securities 

Notification  on 
transactions  concluded 
by managers  

EN, LT 

19-Mar-2021 

Announcement  of  the  transactions  concluded  by 
managers in AB INTER RAO Lietuva securities 

Notification  on 
transactions  concluded 
by managers  

EN, LT 

24-Mar-2021 
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Announcement  of  the  transactions  concluded  by 
managers in AB INTER RAO Lietuva securities 

Notification  on 
transactions  concluded 
by managers  

EN, LT 

25-Mar-2021 

AB INTER RAO Lietuva decisions of the Management 
Board 

Notification  on  material 
event 

EN, LT 

29-Mar-2021 

AB INTER RAO Lietuva decisions of the Supervisory 
Council 

Notification  on  material 
event 

EN, LT 

30-Mar-2021 

Announcement  of  the  transactions  concluded  by 
managers in AB INTER RAO Lietuva securities 

Notification  on 
transactions  concluded 
by managers  

EN, LT 

30-Mar-2021 

Announcement  of  the  transactions  concluded  by 
managers in AB INTER RAO Lietuva securities 

Notification  on 
transactions  concluded 
by managers  

EN, LT 

31-Mar-2021 

AB INTER RAO Lietuva decisions of the Supervisory 
Council to re-elect the Board 

Notification  on  material 
event 

EN, LT 

31-Mar-2021 

Announcement  of  resignation  of  the  member  of 
Supervisory Council 

Notification  on  material 
event 

EN, LT 

6-Apr-2021 

Notice on convocation of the Annual General Meeting 
of Shareholders 

Notification  on  material 
event 

EN, LT 

08-Apr-2021 

AB  „INTER  RAO  Lietuva  “announces  about  the 
Management Board decision to approve the extension 
of the overdraft agreement with OP Corporate Bank plc 
Lithuania Branch 

Notification  on  material 
event 

EN, LT 

13-Apr-2021 

Announcement  about  credit  facility  agreement  with 
Deutsche Bank AG 

Notification  on  material 
event 

EN, LT 

20-Apr-2021 

The decisions adopted by the Annual General Meeting 
of Shareholders of AB INTER RAO Lietuva 

Notification  on  material 
event 

EN, LT 

29-Apr-2021 

Notice on the procedure for the payment of dividends 

Notification  on  material 
event 

EN, LT 

07-May-2021 

Publication date of the results for the 1st quarter of 2021 
of AB INTER RAO Lietuva 

Investor news 

EN, LT 

12-May-2021 

Announcement of the results for the 1st quarter of the 
year 2021 of AB INTER RAO Lietuva 

Interim information 

EN, LT 

14-May-2021 

Announcement  of  the  transactions  concluded  by 
managers in AB INTER RAO Lietuva securities 

Notification  on 
transactions  concluded 
by managers  

EN, LT 

20-May-2021 

Announcement of the loss of block of voting rights in AB 
INTER RAO Lietuva 

Notification  on  material 
event 

EN, LT 

21-May-2021 
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Announcement  of  the  transactions  concluded  by 
managers in AB INTER RAO Lietuva securities 

Notification  on 
transactions  concluded 
by managers  

EN, LT 

24-May-2021 

Announcement  of  the  transactions  concluded  by 
managers in AB INTER RAO Lietuva securities 

Notification  on 
transactions  concluded 
by managers  

EN, LT 

27-May-2021 

Announcement  of  the  transactions  concluded  by 
managers in AB INTER RAO Lietuva securities 

Notification  on 
transactions  concluded 
by managers  

EN, LT 

2-Jun-2021 

Announcement  of  the  transactions  concluded  by 
managers in AB INTER RAO Lietuva securities 

Notification  on 
transactions  concluded 
by managers  

EN, LT 

3-Jun-2021 

Announcement  of  the  transactions  concluded  by 
managers in AB INTER RAO Lietuva securities 

Notification  on 
transactions  concluded 
by managers  

EN, LT 

8-Jun-2021 

Announcement  of  the  transactions  concluded  by 
managers in AB INTER RAO Lietuva securities 

Notification  on 
transactions  concluded 
by managers  

EN, LT 

9-Jun-2021 

Announcement  of  the  transactions  concluded  by 
managers in AB INTER RAO Lietuva securities 

Notification  on 
transactions  concluded 
by managers  

EN, LT 

14-Jun-2021 

Announcement  of  the  transactions  concluded  by 
managers in AB INTER RAO Lietuva securities 

Notification  on 
transactions  concluded 
by managers  

EN, LT 

16-Jun-2021 

Statement on corporate governance 

Investor news 

EN, LT 

30-Jul-2021 

Publication date of the Unaudited Consolidated Interim 
financial  statements  and  the  Unaudited Consolidated 
Interim  Report  of  AB  INTER  RAO  Lietuva  for  the  6-
month period ended 30 June 2019 

Investor news 

EN, LT 

25-Jul-2021 

Announcement of the Unaudited Consolidated Interim 
Financial Statements and the Unaudited Consolidated 
Interim  Report  of  AB  INTER  RAO  Lietuva  for  the  6 
Month Period Ended 30 June 2019 

Interim information 

EN, LT 

27-Aug-2021 

Announcement  of  the  transactions  concluded  by 
managers in AB INTER RAO Lietuva securities 

Notification  on 
transactions  concluded 
by managers  

EN, LT 

16-Sep-2021 

Announcement  of  the  transactions  concluded  by 
managers in AB INTER RAO Lietuva securities 

Notification  on 
transactions  concluded 
by managers  

EN, LT 

17-Sep-2021 
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Publication  date  of  the  results  for  the  3rd  quarter  of 
2021 

Investor news 

EN, LT 

10-Nov-2021 

Announcement of the results for the 3rd quarter of the 
year 2021 of AB INTER RAO Lietuva 

Interim information 

EN, LT 

12-Nov-2021 

Contents  of  above  mentioned  announcements  can  be  obtained  on  Company’s  webpage 
https://interrao.lt/en/reports/current-reports/2021/. 
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7.  Confirmation of Responsible Persons 
 
Following the Article No. 22 of the Law on Securities of the Republic of Lithuania and Rules on Preparation and Submission 
of Periodic and Additional Information of the Lithuanian Securities Commission, I, Giedrius Balčiūnas, General Director of 
AB INTER RAO Lietuva hereby confirm that, to the best of my knowledge, AB INTER RAO Lietuva Financial Statements as 
of and for the year ended 31 December 2021 as set out on above are prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union and give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial 
position and profit or loss and cash flows of the Company and the Group. The Company’s and consolidated Annual Report 
includes a fair review of the development and performance of the business and the position of the Company and the Group 
in relation to the description of the main risks and contingencies faced thereby. 
 
 
 
Giedrius Balčiūnas 
General Director   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 













		Inga Gudinaitė
	2022-02-08T19:36:18+0200
	Vilnius, Lithuania
	signature




